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Financial Highlights
HBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ1283181LEE Variance
2017 2016 =5
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Highlights in 2017

In March, CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. (Figa&#&
EHBMR AT entered into equity transfer agreements
with the Target Company to acquire 51% equity
interest in Epoch Packaging and 100% equity interest
in Chengdu Gaosen, respectively, acquiring an
additional capacity of approximately 2 billion for the
production of two-piece cans.

Harvest Epoch Packaging (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.

March

In May, Kunshan Barrel Company (& I &4 2 7))
passed the preliminary review on its qualifications as
BASF's new supplier.

Group photo of BASF's preliminary review team

May

April,

June

CPMC Holdings and Anshan Yong’'an Group are
entering into a cooperation agreement

Chengdu CPMC Can-making Co., Ltd.

In April, CPMC Holdings and Anshan Yong'an Group
(#21L5k Z£2E)) entered into a cooperation agreement
to jointly promote the establishment and operation
of an associate in Northeast China to carry out
two-piece can business.

CPMC Holdings Limited

In June, the two-piece can production line of
Chengdu Gaosen (now known as Chengdu
Can-making) completed installation and
commissioning and entered the stage of trial
production.



Highlights in 2017

In August, Fujian Canmaking commenced mass In October, Longjiang Feihe Milk Powder Can

production after receiving certification from Budweiser Central Factory (BE)IRESFI# HERR HR) was put into CONTENTS
and its other core customers. production.

CORPORATE

INFORMATION

Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. Longjiang Feihe Milk Powder Can Central Factory

August — — October

HIGHLIGHTS
IN 2017
September
In September, =l o
Chongaing Blue Moon ot it
Plastic Packaging e
Central Factory (EEE
R B aEm )

and Wuhan Mengniu
Plastic Packaging

Central Factory (EZ
S4B R )

CHAIRMAN'S
were put into production LETTER
respectively.

Chongqing Blue Moon Plastic ~ Wuhan Mengniu Plastic Packaging Central Factory
Packaging Central Factory
In May, Wuhan Branch was In October, the cans produced In November, CPMC Holdings's aerosol
awarded the “Wuhan May 1st by CPMC Holdings for Feihe Milk can featuring deep-drawn, high stretch
Labour Prize”. Powder was awarded the Bronze ratio and high pressure resistance won the
Prize for Three-piece Food Cans (= China Aerosol Innovation Award for 2017 GENERAL
F R &R ) by The Canmaker. (2017 EIR B RIRI £8). MANF;\E%EORﬂi
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Chairman’s Letter

Vision

Strive to become
the leading
manufacturer of
packaging products
of integrated

consumer goods in
China

CPMC Holdings Limited



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”)
of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the audited annual results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “CPMC?”) for the year ended 31 December
2017 (the “Year”).

Year 2017 witnessed a reviving momentum in the
world economy. In China, the government adhered
to the keynote of pursing progress while maintaining
stability, focusing on the supply-side reform to
advance structural optimisation and upgrade and
the shift of economic drivers for quality improvement.
Export served as a significant contributor to economy,
and consumption as a key economic growth driver
played an increasing role. China saw generally
stable economic growth in 2017, with a 6.9% GDP
growth suggesting an economic recovery. During the
year, the per capita disposable income of residents
increased by 7.3%, outpacing the per capita GDP
growth, and the total retail sales of consumer goods
grew by 10.2%.

As a result of the rollout of programmes to “cut
overcapacity, reduce excess inventory, deleverage,
lower costs and strengthen areas of weakness” and
the strict implementation of environmental supervision
in 2017, inferior production capacity in certain sectors
were phased out, leading to higher upstream industry
concentration and the hiking prices of commodities.
All these contributed to the better performance of
midstream and downstream businesses, and posed
a new challenge to their profitability as well. In the
domestic integrated consumer goods packaging
industry, certain underperforming enterprises were
eliminated, resulting in revenue growths of leading
players which took initiatives to offset the adverse
impact from the hiking raw material prices, yet
with divergent business results. After successfully
introducing the employee stock ownership plan,
the Group closely aligned its interests with key
employees, which contributed to an improved internal
management mechanism to enable more flexible
and rapid market responses. The solid customer
base, sound strategic presence and leading
production management capabilities allowed us
to further sharpen our competitive edge. We also
made effective use of synergies, grasping industry
opportunities to push ahead consolidation for healthy
and rational development of the industry. At the same
time, we opportunistically made equity investment in

Chairman’s Letter

Qingyuan JDB, partnering with the strategic customer
to pursue mutual growth. Amid the fast-changing
environment, the Group stayed close to market
dynamics with an unchanged commitment to meet
customer needs. By virtue of quality products and
services, we achieved strong growths in product sales
volume and total sales revenue, and outperformed
the industry average profitability in 2017.

Looking ahead, the world economic climate should
continue to improve, and China will shift from
high-speed economic growth to a quality-prioritised
model. To sharpen our competitive edge, we will
continue to promote industrial chain collaboration and
industry consolidation, broaden our product portfolio
and optimise the production capacity distribution,
while pursuing opportunities in product segments and
overseas markets to enhance business performance
of the Group.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express
our sincere gratitude to the management and all
the staff of the Group for their valuable service and
contribution during the past year. | would also like
to express our heartfelt gratitude to our customers,
suppliers, business partners and shareholders for
their continuous support to the Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman of the Board
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| am pleased to present to shareholders that for the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s sales revenue
was approximately RMB5,978 million, representing an
increase of approximately 14.5% over last year; and the
net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
was approximately RMB311 million, representing an
increase of approximately 5.6% over RMB294 million in
2016. The basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2017 amounted to RMBO0.26.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.061 (equivalent to HK 7.5 cents) (2016:
RMB0.10 (equivalent to HK 11.3 cents)) per ordinary
share for the year ended 31 December 2017, subject
to the approval to be obtained at the annual general
meeting to be held on 28 May 2018. The proposed final
dividend will be distributed on or after 14 June 2018 to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear
on the shareholders’ register on 5 June 2018.

During 2017, a crucial year for China to advance
the 13th Five-Year Plan, CPMC marked a milestone
in carrying on its five-year strategic plan. Driven by
an economic pick-up, the deepening supply-side
reform and increasingly stringent implementation of
environmental policies, China witnessed a recovering
sentiment in downstream consumer goods industries,
coupled with the hiking raw material prices to pose
opportunities as well as challenges for downstream
enterprises. The Group drew upon its insight in market
evolution to opportunistically push forward industry
consolidation and pursue innovative business models.
Thanks to a diverse portfolio of premium products and
full-spectrum quality services, we achieved a strong
growth in sales revenue despite the intensified industry
competition. Our continuous efforts in boosting quality
and efficiency and optimising customer mix helped to
partially offset the impact from the surging raw material
costs, and enabled us to sustain a rational gross profit
margin above our peers.

In 2017, our tinplate packaging business maintained
a rapid growth, with sales revenue increasing by
approximately 19.4% over last year. In this high-margin
segment with a proven track record, the Company
focused on purposefully expanding geographical
footprints and increasing supply ratio among strategic
customers, to reflect the characteristics of different
product markets and the differentiated competitive
landscapes. By introducing new models, upgrading
the existing production lines and optimising its strategic
presence, the Group kept abreast of opportunities
in sub-markets for timely expansion, and took efforts
in upgrading its flagship product lines covering milk
powder cans, aerosol cans, twist caps and steel barrels.
During the year, we reinforced our top market share in
milk powder cans and twist caps while achieving more
than 20% year-on-year growth in sales revenue from
aerosol can and steel barrel segments, demonstrating
our stronger competitive advantage. We also looked to
market growth opportunities, aiming to make an early
plan to lay a foundation for future growth.

General Manager’s Report

In 2017, the Group’s aluminum packaging business
grew steadily, and registered a year-on-year growth of
approximately 7.2% in sales revenue. In the aluminum
two-piece can segment, we strengthened cooperation with
a range of strategic customers to consolidate our customer
base and secure orders from quality customers. In light of
the business philosophy of establishing market presence
before setting up plants, the Group adjusted its regional
production capacity distribution in line with the growing
demand of core downstream customers. Despite the
negative impact of plant relocation on production capacity,
our two-piece cans recorded a steady growth in sales
volume during the year. Also, the Group kept a close eye
on market opportunities and accomplished two acquisitions
and one joint venture project, and has effectively integrated
the additional production capacity to promote the
supply-demand balance in the industry. These moves
helped to further broaden our product portfolio of two-piece
cans, allowing us to better meet the fast-growing diversified
needs of customers and laying a solid ground for our future
business growth. In the aluminum one-piece can segment,
the revenue posted a strong growth of approximately 38.3%
year-on-year together with improved profitability, driven by
continuous improvements in our manufacturing capacity
and production technologies alongside the progresses in
new product and customer development.

In the plastic packaging segment, we continued
the focus on customers in the household chemical
products market while further developing non-household
chemical products market for food, condiments and
health products, leading to a year-on-year growth
of approximately 18.0% in sales revenue. While
integrating our existing businesses, we stepped up the
plant-within-plant implementation paces to enhance
customer stickiness and fuel business growth in line with
the changing customer needs. Meanwhile, we continued
to upgrade production automation, and carry out
benchmarking, staff downsizing and efficiency-boosting
programmes to improve the overall profitability.

Looking ahead, we will see strong growths in the
consumer goods market and the packaging sector
with the increasing industry concentration, driven by
China’s steady economic growth, stronger emphasis on
quality-oriented development, and further improvements
in resident income and consumption. The Group is full of
confidence in the future. We will keep customer needs
in mind, seize opportunities in market consolidation and
growth, and effectively ensure steady release and efficient
utilisation of additional production capacity, while looking to
overseas opportunities for expansion. Through continuous
efforts to promote benchmarking management and
boost quality and efficiency with environmental protection
governance to fulfil our social responsibilities, we aim to
provide customers with quality and reliable products and
services, and improve our business results and profitability
in a drive to deliver greater value for shareholders.

Zhang Ye
Executive Director and General Manager

Annual Report 2017

CONTENTS

CORPORATE
INFORMATION

HIGHLIGHTS
IN 2017

CHAIRMAN'S
LETTER

GENERAL
MANAGER’S
REPORT










MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

12

Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Introduction

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, extensively covering the packaging markets
of tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable beverages, beer, dairy products, household
chemical products and other consumer goods. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive packaging
solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive customer
services. As a leading metal packaging provider in China, the Group is committed to developing into the leader
of the comprehensive consumer goods packaging industry in China. The products of the Group mainly include
tinplate packaging, aluminum packaging and plastic packaging. The Group carries out operations through
31 operating subsidiaries, an associate, a joint venture and their branches which are strategically allocated in
different regions of China in order to serve its customers more efficiently. The Group has ranked first in multiple
market segments, earning the appreciation and trust of many well-known brands domestically and abroad. The
Group has established a solid customer base, including domestically and internationally well-known high-end
consumer goods manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Tinplate Packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the primary raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which include
milk powder cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels, three-piece beverage cans, round and square
shaped cans, printed and coated tinplate and other metal packaging. The Group is in a leading position in a
number of sub-segmented markets, and in particular, our market share in milk powder cans and twist caps
ranked first in China.

In 2017, tinplate prices came out of the historical low with a sustained rapid increase. During the same period,
the sales volume of most of the Group’s tinplate packaging products continued to increase. The sales revenue
of all products increased, most of which recorded a growth of more than 10%. For the year ended 31 December
2017, the sales revenue of tinplate packaging business of the Group amounted to approximately RMB3,269
million (2016: approximately RMB2,738 million), representing an increase of approximately 19.4% as compared
to 2016, and accounted for approximately 54.7% of total sales (2016: approximately 52.4%). The gross profit
margin of the tinplate packaging business in 2017 amounted to approximately 16.5% (2016: approximately
19.9%).

Milk Powder Cans

Milk powder cans are mainly used for the packaging of infant formula milk powder, health food and other
products. The Group is the largest manufacturer of milk powder cans in China. In 2017, the sales revenue from
the milk powder cans business was approximately RMB570 million (2016: approximately RMB495 million),
representing an increase of approximately 15.2% over the same period last year. Capturing the opportunities
from the forthcoming registration system for domestic milk powder formulas and the accelerating downstream
market consolidation, the Group optimised its geographical footprints, and innovatively introduced the
plant-within-plant mechanism to ensure premium product supply and quality after-sales services. Production
innovation was advanced unremittingly to enhance customer stickiness and garner the appreciation from
branded customers. Renowned customers of the Group’s milk powder cans include Yili, Feihe Dairy, Junlebao,
Wyeth and Mead Johnson.

Aerosol Cans

Aerosol cans products are primarily used in the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car
maintenance products, air fresheners, personal care products and pesticides) and other chemical products.
The Group carried forward business model innovation and introduced differentiated products to cater for
customer demand, while taking initiatives to expand the addressable markets and deepen the cooperation
for mutual success with its customers. Sales volume of aerosol cans recorded a rapid growth, realising sales
revenue of approximately RMB382 million in 2017 (2016: approximately RMB299 million), representing an
increase of approximately 27.8% over the same period last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s aerosol
cans include Gunuo Tianjin, Shenzhen Rainbow, Johnson Shanghai, Zhongshan Lanju and Hebei Kangda.

Metal Caps

Metal caps include twist caps and crown caps. In 2017, the Group’s sales revenue from metal caps business
was approximately RMB455 million (2016: approximately RMB430 million), representing an increase of
approximately 5.8% over the same period last year. Actively responding to market changes, the Group grasped
market opportunities to boost sales revenue of twist caps through the rollout of quality products, innovative
product promotion and sound price management. Meanwhile, the profitability of crown cap products was
improved through rigorous market and product analysis, refined sales structure, and the strict control over
production costs and sales scale. Renowned customers of the Group’s metal caps include Haiday, Jiajiahong,
Chubang, Lao Gan Ma, China Resources Snow Beer, Anheuser-Busch InBev and Tsingtao Brewery.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Steel Barrels

The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres and above, which are mainly used for carrying
bulk edible oil, juice, fruit jam, industrial essence and fragrance, lubricants, etc. In 2017, the Group continued to
promote the development of international brand customers. We attached great importance to the maintenance
of major customers, and effectively expanded production capacity to increase our share in the high-end market
segment. Meanwhile, under a supply-sales linkage mechanism, we pressed ahead with rigorous assessment
to improve price management. The sales revenue was approximately RMB677 million (2016: approximately
RMB515 million), representing an increase of approximately 31.5% over the same period last year. Renowned
customers of the Group’s steel barrels include Sinopec, PetroChina, Nippon, Exxon Mobil, Akzo Nobel and
BASF.

Three-Piece Beverage Cans (Three-Piece Cans)

Three-piece beverage cans (“three-piece cans”) are used widely for the packaging of protein drinks, energy
drinks, mixed congee, fruit and vegetable juice, coffee, etc. To seize regional market opportunities, the
Company actively followed up with key customers, rationally adjusted production capacity distribution, and
focused on product quality to secure and improve customer relationship. Despite the fierce market competition
and the steady or slightly shrunken market as a whole, the Group sold approximately 717 million three-piece
cans in 2017 (2016: approximately 681 million cans), realising sales revenue of approximately RMB461 million
(2016: approximately RMB444 million), representing an increase of approximately 3.8% over the same period
last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s three-piece beverage cans include Red Bull, Yangyuan, Yinlu,
Lulu and Dali Group.

Round and Square Shaped Cans

The Group’s round and square shaped cans products are mainly used in the packaging of various chemical
oil paint, paint and small package of oils and fats products, etc. In 2017, the Group strengthened sales
management with a focus on the maintenance of major customers, and aligned itself with the trends of the
tightening environmental protection requirements as well as the emergence of large-scale downstream
conglomerates, giving full play to its environmental and technological strengths to improve sales structure
and boost sales performance. As a result, the Group’s sales revenue from round and square shaped cans
business was approximately RMB220 million (2016: approximately RMB178 million), representing an increase
of approximately 23.6% over last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s round and square shaped cans
include Whistler Group, Akzo Nobel, Carpoly, Foster and Yihai Kerry.

Printed and Coated Tinplates

The Group’s printed and coated tinplates are mainly used in various gift candy boxes, food, chemicals, caps,
batteries and other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The products are also used to satisfy
the Group’s internal demand arising from the manufacture of cans (i.e. three-piece cans and aerosol cans) and
metal caps (i.e. twist caps and crown caps). In 2017, the Group continued to strengthen strategic cooperation
with ORG Packaging Co. Ltd. (“ORG Packaging”), deepen cooperation with major customers, and optimise
price management. The sales revenue from the printed and coated tinplates business was approximately
RMB350 million (2016: approximately RMB268 million), representing an increase of approximately 30.6% over
the same period last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s printed and coated tinplates include ORG
Packaging, Supor, Lao Gan Ma, T.G. Battery and Panasonic.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminum Packaging

The Group uses aluminum as the main raw material for its aluminum packaging products, which mainly include
two-piece beverage cans (“two-piece cans”) and one-piece cans. Aluminum packaging products business is
characterised by a high degree of automatic production, full product recyclability, etc., and has been one of the
core business developments of the Group in recent years.

In 2017, the Group continued to optimise its production capacity distribution, with a production line relocated
(from Hangzhou to Putian, Fujian Province) and put into operation smoothly. The Group opportunistically
expanded production capacity of two-piece cans through mergers and acquisitions to prepare for the future
order growth of two-piece cans while improving production efficiency of one-piece cans, leading to a steady
growth in sales revenue of aluminum packaging products. In 2017, the Group’s sales revenue from aluminum
packaging was approximately RMB2,184 million (2016: approximately RMB2,038 million), representing an
increase of approximately 7.2% as compared to 2016, and accounted for approximately 36.5% of the total
sales (2016: approximately 39.0%). Gross profit margin of the aluminum packaging business in 2017 was
approximately 16.2% (2016: approximately 16.9%).

Two-piece Beverage Cans (Two-piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beers, carbonated drinks and tea beverages,
etc. Over the recent years, raw material prices ranged higher, and competition in the industry remained
intensified despite a gradual improvement in overcapacity. Responding to market changes, the Group relocated
a two-piece cans production line from Hangzhou to Putian, Fujian Province, acquired the entire equity in
Chengdu Gaosen (now renamed as Chengdu CPMC Canmaking), jointly-controlled Harvest Epoch together
with ORG Packaging, and jointly-established Zhongan Cans with Anshan Yongan. In the second half of 2017,
the production line in Fujian commenced operation smoothly; the can manufacturing capacity of Chengdu
CPMC Canmaking came on stream gradually; and steady progress was made in the plant infrastructure and
production line installation work at Harvest Epoch and Zhongan Cans. In 2017, the Group’s sales revenue from
two-piece cans was approximately RMB2,025 million (2016: approximately RMB1,923 million), representing an
increase of approximately 5.3% over last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s two-piece cans include
JDB, China Resources Snow Beer, Coca-cola (China), Tsingtao Brewery and Anheuser-Busch InBev.

One-Piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers,
carbonated drinks and medical products. The Group’s continuous manufacturing capacity expansion, steady
utilisation of production capacity and efficiency enhancement, together with its efforts in developing new
products and new customers, led to effectively improved sales volume and revenue as well as better profitability
of one-piece cans. In 2017, the Group’s sales revenue from one-piece cans was approximately RMB159 million
(2016: approximately RMB115 million), representing an increase of approximately 38.3% over the same period
last year. Renowned customers of the Group’s one-piece cans include Anheuser-Busch InBev, SMB Global,
German Wurth Group, Daizo Group, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Plastic Packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, household chemical
and food and beverage products. In 2017, while deepening strategic cooperation with its existing customers, the
Group steadily promoted the development of new customers and new products as well as market cultivation to
further secure its dominant position in household chemical products market. Meanwhile, we kept a close eye on
opportunities in the non-household chemical products market and further improved standards, management and
the automation level, seeking to enhance our industry influence and market share through broader cooperation
with leading customers in sub-markets. Through implementing the plant-within-plant mechanism, the Company
successively put into operation its new plants in Wuhan and Chongqing during the second half of 2017. The sales
revenue from the plastic packaging business was approximately RMB525 million in 2017 (2016: approximately
RMB445 million), representing an increase of approximately 18.0% over the same period last year, and accounted
for approximately 8.8% of the total sales (2016: approximately 8.5%). Due to the initial investment in new plants
and the accounting adjustments, gross profit margin of the plastic packaging business in 2017 was approximately
12.7% (2016: approximately 14.7%). Renowned customers of the Group’s plastic packaging include P&G, Reckitt
Benckiser, Blue Moon, Pigeon, Haiday and Heinz.

Financial review

For the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately RMB5,978 million
(2016: approximately RMB5,221 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB757 million or 14.5%.
The increase in revenue was primarily due to the increase in the sales volume of our products. Gross profit
margin reached approximately 16.1% in the year of 2017 (2016: approximately 18.3%), representing a slight
decrease as compared with the same period in the previous year. The decrease was primarily due to the impact
of the rise in the prices of raw materials.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net profit amounted to approximately RMB312 million (2016:
approximately RMB298 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB14 million or 4.7% as compared
to the same period in the previous year, primarily due to the increased sales volume and cost control which
resulted in profit growth.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s profit before income tax was approximately RMB410 million
(2016: approximately RMB398 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB12 million or 3.0% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB44 million (2016: approximately RMB56 million), representing a slight
decrease as compared to the same period in the previous year, which was mainly due to the slight decrease in
the financing scale of the operational business.

Income tax expenses were approximately RMB98 million (2016: approximately RMB100 million), which were
almost the same as those for same period in the previous year. The effective income tax rate of the Group in
2017 was approximately 24.0% (2016: approximately 25.2%).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 30 October 2017, CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. ("CPMC Investment"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a Capital Increase Agreement with Wisdom Kingdom Limited, Wong Lo Kat Limited
("Wong Lo Kat") and Qingyuan JDB Herbal Plant Technology Co., Ltd.* (BEINZEEREMRIEERAR)
(the "Target Company"), pursuant to which, among others, CPMC Investment shall make a capital contribution
of RMB2 billion to the Target Company in exchange for 30.58% equity interest therein, whilst Wong Lo Kat
will inject the JDB Trademarks to the Target Company in exchange for 45.87% equity interest therein. It is
intended that the parties will altogether combine the JDB brands, concentrates, supply and sales platform into
an integrated operation platform. The official investment in Qingyuan JDB Herbal by CPMC can increase the
Group's profitability and consolidate the Group's leading position in the packaging industry. The Group and JDB
Group Companies will use their respective resource advantages to enhance the market leading power of JDB
herbal tea and promote the healthy and sustainable development of herbal tea industry.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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As at the date of this report, CPMC Investment has injected RMB857,911,000 to the Target Company and the
30.58% equity interest in Target Company has been registered under the name of CPMC Investment.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the capital increase is more than 25% but less
than 100%, the transaction constitutes a major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules and is subject to the reporting, announcement and shareholders' approval requirements thereunder.

Details of the capital increase have been set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2017
and the circular dated 30 November 2017. Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the reporting period.

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2018, amid China’s shift from high-speed economic growth to a quality-prioritised model,
consumption as a key economic growth driver will play an increasing role, bringing sound opportunities to
growths across the industry. Meanwhile, as the supply-side reform goes further, the strict implementation of
environmental, quality and safety regulations and standards is expected to expedite the phase-out of inferior
production capacity, resulting in more intensive industry consolidation, high raw material prices, heightened
competition barriers and product costs, as well as a challenge to the downstream packaging industry. The
management stock ownership plan introduced by the Group helped to closely align the interests of key
employees with the enterprise. According higher priority to longer-term growth, the Group is positioned to
draw upon its industry dominance to carry forward its strong performance in food safety and environmental
friendliness, and ride on industry opportunities as a leader in industry collaboration and consolidation. With
a focus on advantageous products to forge flagship product lines, we will exercise strict benchmarking
management to boost quality and efficiency, and pursue new opportunities in the markets at home and abroad.
We are committed to catering for customer needs with a more diversified premium product portfolio and a
broader spectrum of customer services, thus improving shareholder return with better profitability performance.

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2017, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 5,292 4,831
Cash and cash equivalents 711 998
Total borrowings 3,248 2,428
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 4,976 4,711
Current ratio 1.5 1.5
Gearing ratio* 51.0% 30.4%

*

The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in
which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB5,292 million (31 December 2016:
approximately RMB4,831 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB4,976 million, which has increased by approximately 5.6% as compared to approximately RMB4,711 million
as at 31 December 2016.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2017 were approximately 1.5 and approximately
51.0%, respectively (31 December 2016: approximately 1.5 and 30.4% respectively). The current ratio as
at 31 December 2017 was approximately 1.5, which was almost the same as that for the same period. The
increase in gearing ratio from approximately 30.4% as at 31 December 2016 to approximately 51.0% as at 31
December 2017 was mainly due to the increase in the bank loans of the Company. Interest-bearing bank loans
were approximately RMB3,248 million as at 31 December 2017. The Group did not have any assets that were
pledged for the outstanding bank loans as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB1,688 million,

which was as follows:

RMB Percentage of

million capital expenditure

Acquisition of subsidiaries and related investment 401 23.8%
Investments in an associate and a joint venture 824 48.8%
Two-piece cans project 175 10.4%
Infrastructure projects in Guangzhou 83 4.9%
Plastics project 66 3.9%
Milk powder cans and steel barrels project 88 5.2%
Other projects 51 3.0%
1,688 100.0%

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases falling due as follows:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
Within one year 4,624 9,051
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 185 7,430
4,809 16,481

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had the following capital commitments:
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:

property, plant and equipment 361,417 384,562
capital contribution payable to a joint venture 1,200,935 -

As at 31 December 2017, save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant commitments and

contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits
which are denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash
balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuations have no significant

impact on the Company’s results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 6,488 full-time employees (2016: 6,323), of which approximately 1,746
were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows

the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2017:

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

No. of Percentage of total

Function employees no. of employees
Management and Administration 860 13.25%
Sales and Marketing 256 3.95%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 734 11.31%
Production and Quality Control 4,638 71.49%
Total 6,488 100.00%

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB572 million, as compared to
RMB576 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their
performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The
benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In
addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan,
which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they
reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included mandatory provident fund, life
insurance and medical insurance.

Major risks and uncertainties

In order to stabilise business operation, the Company’s management shows great concern on the risk factors
which the Company may face in its operation. Based on critical risk indicators and through assessment and
analysis, the following major possible risks are identified:

1. Operational risks from macroeconomic control:

Macroeconomic control has considerable impact on downstream companies and will indirectly affect the
sales and profits of packaging companies.

2. Operational risks from fluctuations in raw material prices and exchange rates:

Raw material costs represent a relative high proportion in our production costs, hence, fluctuations in raw
material prices will have considerable impact on the generation of profits.

3. Risks from market competition:
With relatively low concentration in our sector, companies with considerable scale and capacity have
viewed further expansion of their production and marketing scale and maximisation of market share as
their main objectives. This will give rise to keen market competition.

4. Risks from food safety:

Failure to meet the national or industrial safety standards in food production will cause food safety issues
to customers. This will give rise to the risks of return of goods or financial losses.

5. Quality risks:

Failure to satisfy the statutory standards or customers’ needs in relation to product quality or performance
will give rise to lot quality problem, of which defective lots or inventories will result in losses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders

Board of Directors

Company Secretary J

Risk
Management
Committee

'-‘1I '.\1I

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee

External

Auditor

The Board is fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes
that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and
retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its
position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods. During the Year, the
Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing
of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 November 2009, save for those disclosed in this annual report, the Company has complied
with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
all the Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2017.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
are in the best interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) and for maximising the
Shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the
financial and management performance of the Group as a whole. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors as follow:

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman)
— Mr. Zhang Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

— Ms. Yu Youzhi (appointed on 15 August 2017)
— Mr. Li Jian (resigned on 15 August 2017)

— Mr. Chen Qianzheng

— Mr. Zhou Yuan

— Mr. Shen Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

— Mr. Fu Tingmei

— Mr. Pun Tit Shan

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out on pages 54 to 57 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board.
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2017 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.

Although each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei served as an independent non-executive Director for
more than nine years, the Board considers that each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei is a person of
integrity and independent in judgement and character. They are independent of management and free from
any business or other relationships or circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement. The Board considers that each of Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and Mr. Fu Tingmei meets the
independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of the view that their independence is
not affected by their long service with the Company.
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Functions of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximising the Shareholders’ return. The Board has the following major duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

e Dbe responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
e to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

e formulation of business strategies and business plans;

e planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
e  evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
° be responsible for the annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”), is
responsible for the business and day-today operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The General Manager is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), a risk
management committee (the “Risk Management Committee”) and the senior management. On 23 October
2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange. On 22 December 2016, the Board approved
the formation of the Risk Management Committee. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of
the daily operations, business strategies and day-to-day management to the General Manager and senior
management. The final decision(s) are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the
terms of reference of the four committees.

Chairman and General Manager

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and General Manager should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. In effect, the Chairman, Mr. Zhang Xin, had
been responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board during the Year.
Furthermore, the role of the Chairman is to encourage and facilitate active contribution of Directors in Board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the
executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Zhang Xin had ensured the Directors to have receive
adequate information, which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner during the Year. The General Manager,
Mr. Zhang Ye, is primarily responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to
ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group
during the Year.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Further, under the
Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Articles, remove
a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, 10 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings in person or by
telephone in accordance with the Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting attendance during the Year is
as follows:
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Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year*
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 10/10
Mr. Zhang Ye 10/10
Non-executive Directors
Ms. Yu Youzhi (Notes 1) 4/4 DIRECTORS AND
Mr. Li Jian (Notes 2) 6/6 SENIOR
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 10/10 L
Mr. Zhou Yuan 9/10
Mr. Shen Tao 9/10
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 10/10
Mr. Fu Tingmei 10/10
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 10/10
: ' - . REPORT OF THE
* During the Year, there were 2 out of the 10 Board meetings related to continuing connected transactions and connected DIRECTORS

transaction, in which Directors who were deemed to have material interest had abstained from attending and voting at
those Board meetings.

Notes:

1. Ms. Yu Youzhi was appointed as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017 and attended 4 out of 4 Board meetings
held during her tenure in the Year.

2. Mr Li Jian was resigned as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017 and attended 6 out of 6 Board meetings held
during his tenure in the Year.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before the
meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters
in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing
papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions.

General meetings with the Shareholders

The 2017 annual general meeting (the “2017 AGM”) was held on 23 May 2017 and two extraordinary general
meetings were held on 20 December 2017 respectively. A summary of the general meeting attendance during
the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 3/3
Mr. Zhang Ye 3/3

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Youzhi (Notes 1) 0/2
Mr. Li Jian (Notes 2) 0/1
Mr. Chen Qianzheng 0/3
Mr. Zhou Yuan 3/3
Mr. Shen Tao 0/3

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei 3/3
Mr. Pun Tit Shan 3/3
Notes:

1. Ms. Yu Youzhi was appointed as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017 and 2 general meetings were held during
his tenure in the Year but she was not able to attend due to other commitments.

2. Mr. LiJian resigned as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017 and 1 general meeting was held during his tenure in
the Year but he was not able to attend due to other commitments.

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his close associates have any material interest
in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a
meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in
which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2017/2018. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board. Among the three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Yim Ming Chung had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 6 March 2016. He has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision D.3.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

DISCUSSION All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
AND ANALYSIS prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
acknowledge the needs to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions
to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
CORPORATE updates programmes
gg;’g:;“"c's Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Mr. Zhang Ye v v
Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Yu Youzhi (Appointed on 15 August 2017) v v
Mr. Li Jian (Resigned on 15 August 2017) v v
Mr. Chen Qianzheng v v
Mr. Zhou Yuan v v
ENVIRONMENTAL, Mr. Shen Tao 4 v
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
Mr. Fu Tingmei v v
Mr. Pun Tit Shan v v
Audit Committee
On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference stating its authority and duties. A majority of the
DIRECTORS AND . . . . .
SENIOR members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2017. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:
Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Zhou Yuan”® 3/3
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS *

Independent non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

The Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary had been

circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the meetings. No member of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.
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The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibilities include the following:

e review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
e monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

e consider the independence of the external auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee had performed the following work:

e reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and internal control systems and financial reporting matters;

e reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual reports, the
letter to the management from the auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31
December 2017;

° reviewed continuing connected transactions; and

° met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope of their audit work for the year ended 31
December 2017.

The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the
year ending 31 December 2018.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; and (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

° made recommendation to the Board for the re-election at the 2017 AGM,;
° nominated new non-executive Directors of the Group; and
e assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments
will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2017. The composition and
the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman)" 2/2
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 2/2
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 2/2

A

Executive Director
Independent non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

On 23 October 2009, the Company approved the formation of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

e review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company;

° made recommendation to the Board on the emolument of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management of the Group; and

e review and discuss the share option matters of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2017. The composition and
the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* 2/2
Mr. Chen Qianzheng” 2/2
Mr. Pun Tit Shan* 2/2

*

Independent non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 22 December 2016 and the Board has adopted the terms
of reference for the Risk Management Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee are mainly to (i) review the Group’s enterprise risk
management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management;
(ii) review the Group’s major risks and key emerging risks and the controls in place to mitigate such risks; and
(iii) review the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management function.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Risk Management Committee had performed the following work:

e review and discuss the overall risk management framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures
for risk assessment and risk management;

e review and discuss the major risks of the Group such as credit risk and market risk; and

e review the effectiveness of the overall risk management function.
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The Risk Management Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2017. The composition
and the details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Management Committee during the Year are as
follows:

Members of Risk Management Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Pun Tit Shan (Committee Chairman) (Note 1) 11

Mr. Li Jian (Note 2) 1/1

Mr. Shen Tao (Note 3) 1/1

Mr. Zhang Ye (Note 4) N/A

Notes:

1. Independent non-executive Director.

2. Non-executive Director. On 15 August 2017, Mr. Li Jian resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Risk
Management Committee.

3. Non-executive Director.

4. On 15 August 2017, Mr. Zhang Ye, executive Director, was appointed as a member of the Risk Management Committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the Shareholders, review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures, a well-established organisational
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable for its daily
operations and is required to implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board from time to
time.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The internal audit department and the risk management department of the Company supported the Board,
the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee in reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems and performed its functions during the Year following annual plans and submitting
their reports of their findings to the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee at
the meetings. The Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee provides independent review on
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and gives their recommendation
to the Board. The Board is responsible for reviewing the internal audit report and approving policies and
procedures designed by the management.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and implemented an inside
information procedure. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include the
maintaining of a good control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of authority, reporting
lines and responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a good control environment for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures during the financial year ended 31 December 2017 by way of
discussions with the management of the Group, members of the Audit Committee, members of the Risk
Management Committee and the external independent auditor. The Board considered major investigation
findings of the external consultant on risk management and internal control matters and management’s
response to these findings.

The Board believes that the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training schemes and budget and was satisfied with their adequacy.

The Board also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and external audit process, and
satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit Committee, that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and is effective at providing assurance to the Board on the relevant risks faced by the Company, and that the
external audit process is effective.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditor’s Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December 2017
is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,750
Non-audit services* 1,050
Total 2,800
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Such services included interim report review.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognises the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the Shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(iii) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to
time. There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website; and

(v) Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Monday, 28 May 2018 (the
“2018 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the Shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditor. At the 2018 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee will be available to answer questions from the Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should send a notice to the shareholders at lease 21 clear days or 14
clear days before the annual general meetings or all other general meetings respectively.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued Share carrying the
right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the written requisition.

Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the
Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

CPMC Holdings Limited
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles. An
up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2018 AGM. The Shareholders will be
allowed to have one vote for every Share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.
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As a leader in China’s comprehensive consumer products packaging industry, the Group has always
remained true to its original aspiration and borne in mind its mission to provide green and safe packaging
as well as high-quality services to the society while being dedicated to serving our customers, shareholders
and employees. Regarding technological innovation as its core competitiveness, the Group accelerates the
research and development (R&D) of new products in line with the market trend, and provides differentiated
products and services to customers. The constant improvement in our product quality control system and food
safety management system enables our products to satisfy the US and EU standards in terms of quality, thus
winning recognition and trust from our customers. Attaching great importance to talent development, we care
for our employees and protect their rights and interests with an aim to create harmonious labour relations. In
addition, the Group focuses its attention on environmental protection technology in relation to material saving,
energy conservation and cost reduction, while further investing in environmental treatment in order to fulfill our
corporate social responsibilities.

In 2017, the Group continued to strengthen the super product lines in order to build brand influence and
increase brand premium. The Group explored the factory-within-a-factory model and better utilised idle
equipment to cut cost, while facilitating the steady growth of business by increasing customer stickiness and
satisfaction based on the needs of our customers. The “three cuts and one decrease” initiative has achieved
certain progress, resulting in an expected 4.2% drop in the three types of costs and a decrease of 2.1
percentage points in rate during the whole year. In terms of internal control, operational improvement has been
stepped up through the adoption of benchmarking management. The technological standard of a number of
production lines maintained a leading position in the industry thanks to our constant technological innovation.
Faced with challenging market environment, the Group has made unanimous effort to ensure the steady sales
growth of its major products, recording sales revenue of RMB6 billion (2016: RMB5.24 billion) and total profit of
RMB413 million (2016: RMB398 million), representing a year-on-year growth of 14.4% and 3.8% respectively.

. Employees

(1) Career Growth and Development of Employees

The Group has always focused on talent development, and as always, we strictly abide by the
Administrative License Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Approval and Administration Measures of Enterprise Implementing
Flexible Working Hour System and Comprehensively Calculating Working Hour System, Measures
for the Implementation of Administrative License for Labour Dispatch and other national and local
laws and regulations to establish harmonious labour relations. For employment of staff, the Group
has established a complete recruitment, promotion and dismissal mechanism and standardised
employee recruitment, promotion and dismissal procedures in accordance with the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Labourer
Rights and Interests, the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation on Labour
Security Supervision and other laws and regulations, so as to promote staff recruitment, promotion
and dismissal work in a more scientific, reasonable and effective manner. For employment of staff
in functional and technical departments, the Group requests for pre-screening of all job application
forms, verification of identification card, certificate of degree, diploma and other documents upon
the success of application as well as background check. For employment of front-line production
workers, the identification card is required to be produced for verification prior to the interview; and for
employment of security posts and other sensitive jobs, information of the candidates shall be reviewed
by public security bureau so as to prevent child labour and forced labour. In terms of promotion, the
Group determines the promotion arrangements also based on the principle of fairness, under which
the performance of each employee is reviewed by heads of his/her respective department on a
regular basis. In terms of dismissal, the Group will proceed with dismissal procedures in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations and the terms of the relevant employment contract. The Group
continues to pay attention to the rights and interests of our employees, implementing measures to care
for our employees, as well as promoting the sense of belonging and coherence within the Company.
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Particulars of employees for 2017

Number Percentage
By gender Male 4738 73%
Female 1,751 27%
By type Senior management 652 10%
Middle management 1,606 25%
General employees 4,231 65%
By age Aged below 30 1,760 27%
Aged 30-50 4,413 68%
Aged above 50 316 5%

Employee turnover for 2017
Turnover
By gender Male 21%
Female 7%
By age Aged below 30 10%
Aged 30-50 17%
Aged above 50 1%

* As employees of the Group were all employed in the PRC during 2017, the Company did not classify their
particulars and the turnover by region.

The long-term development of a corporation cannot be accomplished without the efforts of its
employees. The Group continued to optimise the career path of its employees, and stimulate
the creativity and vitality of employees to create a diversified team. For example, for professional
development of employees, we have employed the “dual channel” approach, i.e. the “administrative
channel” and the “professional and technical channel”, and have established a corresponding
post appraisal and recruitment mechanism to allow employees to compete for certain management
positions and to conduct appraisal and recruitment of professional technical positions on a regular
basis, so as to encourage employees to give full play to their strengths. In order to address the needs
of employees, we have conducted a total of 5,348 internal training sessions for 4,583 attendees
through various means including on-site, telephone and video conferences, accumulating a total class
time of 14,205 hours.

Employee training for 2017

Percentage No. of training

of trained hours per

employees employee

By type Senior management 10% 119
Middle management 6% 131

General employees 84% 23

The training sessions covered different topics such as office automation software, sharing of financial
knowledge and legal practices, Chinese medical health & wellness and video making, and helped to
create a good working and living environment for employees as well as provide them with a platform
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for discovering personal value. At the same time, we focused on the promotion of moral values in

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION assisting young employees to succeed in their career by running campaigns such as “906 Personal
AND ANALYSIS Development Courses” and “906 Career Camp”, in which a series of activities including front-line

production skill contests, sharing of office applications and themed lectures were held to boost
positive energy among young employees. Pursuant to the principle of setting up high standards and
stringent requirements and identifying the weaknesses to improve upon them, the Group conducted
morning sessions for in-depth study of its production operations and worked on the key points and
major issues in the production process. The plastic business endeavored to improve the technical
skills of its employees by holding its third training session on vision system inspection, formulating
talent development plan for technical staff and launching 10 new courses, while optimising equipment
S utilisation to improve efficiency. The steel barrel business held its third training session on production
GOVERNANCE REPORT planning to enhance employees’ professional skills, and assisted its employees to create overall
awareness towards the Group by facilitating communication amongst departments. To promote
excellence in the work performance of its employees, the Group integrated “craftsmanship” into its
corporate culture and emphasised the importance of a good command of skills through a whole range
of department-wide or team-wide activities, including around 27 sessions of skills and knowledge
contests, thus increasing the desire for self-improvement among employees and enhancing their
professional skills so as to make more contribution to a better business performance of the Company.
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Paint mixing and spraying skills contest held by Tianjin Steel Barrels Company
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The workers union of CPMC arranged a series of activities to promote craftsmanship
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(2) Employee protection, motivation and care

1.

Implementing the staff protection system to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of
employees

The Group strictly abided by and implemented relevant national laws and regulations and
continuously improved employees’ compensation and benefits packages, including the
establishment of a compensation system for “internal fairness, external competitiveness, legal
compliance, and shared interests” to ensure the legitimate rights and interests of employees
and the Group. The Group also promoted a diversified work environment and strived to eliminate
gender, nationality, marital status, religious beliefs and disability discrimination in the workplace.
As for employees’ remuneration, the Group adhered to the principle of making distribution
according to employees’ posts and based on their competence and performance under the
principles of fairness and sustainable development, paid all types of statutory social insurance in
full, allowed its employees to enjoy statutory holidays and other benefits, and made adjustments
to employees’ wages according to government requirements and actual corporate conditions.
In 2017, the Group promptly updated its internal holiday management system (such as the
breast-feeding period and nursing leave) in accordance with the Labour Law and relevant local
regulations and according to its internal actual conditions. The Group also clarified the types of
holidays and their corresponding conditions, holiday approval procedures and holiday treatment,
aiming to ensure the equal and legal rights to holidays between male and female employees.

Optimising safe production management system and strengthening responsibilities for safe
production

The Group conscientiously abided by the statutory standards of safety and quality stipulated
by the state, the industry and local governments, and has been committed to improving
safe production management system, reinforcing education and training and strengthening
responsibilities for safe production. For example, we regularly distributed labour protective
equipment, coupled with regular supervision and assessment of the use of such equipment
by safety supervisors. We strengthened our safety education and training via different formats
including photos, videos and on-site demonstrations for more vivid presentation of the
importance of safety. We regularly organised employee occupational health examinations and
annual physical check-ups, while improving the working environment of front-line staff according
to the requirements of the occupational health system as a protection for the health of the staff.
We improved equipment safety performance through regular troubleshooting of hidden issues.
During team building, the two safety management tools, namely operational safety analysis and
behavior observation, were introduced to strengthen employees’ capacity to prevent and handle
safety issues. In 2017, the Group achieved remarkable performance in occupational health
management, reporting zero work-related fatality and merely 20 work-related injuries.

Caring for employees and protecting their rights and interests

In terms of caring for employees, the Group improved employee’s living environment in time to
promote the concept of healthy living and happy working. The party branch, the administration
office and the workers union worked together to look after employees in distress, expatriate
employees and retired employees, and to raise funds for employees faced with unexpected
crises. By making frequent contact with the municipal workers union, we provided medical aid
and female worker insurance to cover 582 employees officially registered in Hangzhou and 189
female employees respectively, and arranged annual health examinations for employees aged
over 40. We secured charter bus tickets for 20 employees during the Chinese New Year holiday,
offered legal services in relation to family relationship, marriage and finance to 35 employees,
and expressed our care for employees on the occasions of birthday, wedding, childbirth,
hospitalisation and bereavement. Making employees feel truly cared about has been playing an
important role in maintaining harmonious labour relationship; and our “Service Loyalty Awards”
was named one of the top 10 popular employee benefits within the COFCO group.
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MANAGEMENT 4. Arranging various fun activities to create a happy working environment

DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS In 2017, the Group organised more than 50 fun activities to promote corporate culture and
positive energy among employees to encourage them to enjoy their work, aim high, seek
excellence and make contribution, thus enriching their life and stimulating their vitality. Besides
the COFCO “Employee Caring Day” held on May 21, we created a lively workplace by arranging
a variety of activities including “International Women’s Day Talent Show and Lecture”, “Funfair for
Young Family Members”, “Rice Dumpling-Making Competition to Celebrate Dragon Boat Festival”,
“Gathering of Senior Staff to Celebrate Double Ninth Festival”, “Masked” Karaoke Contest, “Good
Health and Good Results to Celebrate the 19th CPC National Congress” themed fun games,

“Talent Show for Female Employees” by CPMC Hangzhou, “Canmaking Craftsman” competition

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE REPORT by Hangzhou Canmaking, autumn hiking to enjoy the beauty of chrysanthemums by CPMC Wuxi,
“Red May” challenge game by CPMC Zhenjiang, “International Women’s Day” activity by CPMC
Shanghai, race walking by CPMC Harbin, DIY cooking activity by CPMC Suzhou and speed
dating event for customers by CPMC Nanning, creating opportunities for employees to show their
talent and fostering corporate vitality.
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19th CPC National Congress” themed fun games
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B\EFEEOCRTTO%ETHE Autumn hiking to enjoy the beauty of Tug-of-war 2017 in Kunshan region

chrysanthemums by CPMC Wuxi
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(3) Employee communication

Continuing to carry out and reinforce the party’s public education activities in 2017, the Group
delved into the junior levels of employees and carried forward the “culture of loyalty and
decency”, while attaching more attention to its communication with employees to actively listen
to their feedbacks and address their needs. For example, we continued to upgrade our corporate
intranet, released updates on our operations in a timely manner and created a diversified
communication platform, while setting up a whistleblowing channel to collect opinions and
reports from employees and enhance communication of information. To sincerely listen to our
employees and help them solve their difficulties, we hosted various forums including face-to-face
communication with the general manager, new employee forums, old employee forums, meal
planning committee forums, party member forums and technician forums. Through “heart-to-heart
and face-to-face” exchanges, we have bridged the gap between the management and the junior
levels of employees, extensively listened to the voices of our employees to solve their difficulties,
and made targeted improvements. Before issuing systems and rules relevant to the interests of
employees, we would hold employee representative assemblies to openly solicit and collect the
comments and suggestions of employees in order to better serve them.

CPMC hosted an experience sharing and new employee forum during the Mid-Autumn Festival
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Il. Independent Innovation, Energy Conservation and Environmental
Protection

(1) Independent innovation

1.

Construction of an Innovation Culture

The Group attaches great importance to the construction of a technological innovation culture.
By carrying out various R&D activities, the Group incorporated the spirit of “work hard and forge
ahead with technological innovation as the core competitiveness of CPMC” into every aspect of
its technology development. As such, the Group has achieved good results in the selection of
R&D innovation projects, technology patent application, appraisal of technical papers, testing
of new technology, new materials and new processes, technical improvement and equipment
upgrading.

In 2017, the Group revised the technical section of its intranet portal and regularly updated
the professional sub-sections such as Technology Frontier, Food Safety, Project Management,
Inspection and Testing, Intellectual Property and Shelf Life to constitute a technology innovation
exchange platform for internal technicians. The Technology News of CPMC, an internal
publication promoting technological innovation, digs deeply into advanced technology in the
industry in five aspects, i.e. patent search, industry trends, innovative products, packaging
safety and industry statistics, with a view to promoting technology innovation ideas and inspiring
technicians to broaden their minds and take part in more technical discussions. In 2017, we
prepared and launched six issues of such publication.

In addition, the Group held its annual technology innovation conference to summarise the brilliant
innovations of the past year and to envision the next milestone in technology development.
At the conference, the Group shared and promoted the fruitful achievements in technology
innovation and vowed to improve technology management in an all-round manner to better
promote technological progress and add new impetus to its development. By offering rewards
for technology innovation projects, dissecting scientific papers and giving honorary awards for
outstanding papers, the Group inspired technical personnel to forge ahead with technology
innovation for better harvests.

Innovative project management

In 2017, the Group further optimised and standardised the management process of its R&D
projects under the R&D innovation system formulated pursuant to the COFCO R&D Innovation
Management System and Measures for the Management of CPMC Technology Innovations.
In 2017, the Group organised and implemented 24 R&D innovation projects, including the
development and application of high wear-resistant coating technology, domestic production of
alloy bottom mold for aluminum bottles, application of one-can-one-code (two-dimensional code)
system in aerosol cans, development and application of UV varnish technology, development
of reducing rolling rib can, and development of new 33mm cap products. The R&D innovation
projects covered material and energy saving, new product development, food safety and other
areas, and were under full life-cycle management. Most of the projects have been going well and
yielded good economic and social benefits.
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Key R&D innovation projects in the year included the high-safety twist cap development
project which is to develop the technology for making oil- and movement-resistant sealant and
high-safety twist caps, so as to meet the upgraded national food safety standards and the
latest requirements of high-end customers in EU and the US. Completing the development of
new movement-resistant oil glue and high-safety material for twist caps to fill the technology
gap in China will empower the Group with industry-leading technology and improve its core
competitiveness in the twist cap business. It is of great significance for the sustainable
development of its twist cap product line. The Group has filed one invention patent for the
project and obtained one utility model patent with regard to the project. The underlying products
are in compliance with the latest EU food safety regulations and become the first choice for
manufacturing high quality products.

As for the development and application of high wear-resistant coating technology, the Group
has successfully developed and applied high wear-resistant coating technology to solve the
wear problem of aluminum bottles during long-distance transport. By implementing the project,
the Group greatly improved the processing resistance and wear resistance of aluminum bottle
coating as well as the applicability of the aluminum bottle products for global sales. As such,
the Group stood out from its competitors in terms of product performance and quality, and
significantly reduced the product return rate. The project has obtained one utility model patent
and won the 2017 Hangzhou Industrial System Outstanding Innovation Award, as well as
received the gold medal of “Five-Small” Innovation Achievements, and the technology has been
applied to more than 60 million cans with good effect.

As to the Chengdu project for optimisation of domestic can washer system, the Group
independently transformed the system to solve the existing serious problems of back flowing and
can dropping, in the context that the original domestic can washers no longer meet the Group’s
demands for high production efficiency, low energy consumption of raw and auxiliary materials,
and stable and high product quality. The project has substantial environmental benefits and is
worth promoting for solving the problem of acid gas pollution.

As to the DRD two-piece aerosol can development project, the Group independent designed and
developed the two-piece tinplate aerosol can with a stamping and drawing ratio of more than
1:3 and a pressure resistance limit of over 2.2MPa, satisfying the ultra-high pressure resistance
standard. The product won the 2017 China Aerosol Can Innovation Award.

The Group vigorously promoted the protection of intellectual property rights. It was granted 247
patents in 2017, and has formed a verification mechanism for publishing intellectual property
rights such as patent papers. In addition, the Group participated in industry activities including
industry award contests organised by organisations including China Packaging Federation and
China Metal Container Association, and won the bronze prize for three-piece food cans at the
Canmaker Summit, and the 2017 China Aerosol Can Innovation Award.
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MANAGEMENT (2) Energy conservation and environmental protection

DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS 1. Environmental management

In strict compliance with PRC laws and regulations on environmental management, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Administrative Measures for
the Soil Environment of Polluted Land Parcels and the National Catalog of Hazardous Wastes, the
Group strives to provide green packaging for the society to build a sound ecological environment
and promote social sustainable development.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Group contributed to the society through technological innovation in key aspects of energy

conservation and emission reduction, application of new energy-saving technologies, ongoing
implementation of energy-saving projects and effective use of resources such as energy and
water. In 2017, the Group implemented 44 energy conservation and environmental protection
projects, including R&D innovation projects covering material saving technology, energy saving
technology, UV printing technology and automation technology. Total power consumption of the
Group for the year was approximately 110.16 million kWh, representing a reduction of 1.7 million
kWh; total gas consumption was approximately 17.28 million m®, representing a reduction of 1.14
million m?3; total water consumption was approximately 710,000 tons, representing a reduction

ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND of 115,000 tons. The Group also reduced carbon dioxide emissions by 27,000 tons in total,

gggg:_’l‘_lANCE saving a cost of RMB4.7 million. By employing material-saving technology, the Group saved

more than 170 tons of aluminum materials for two-piece can products using thinner materials;
reduced the consumption of more than 40 tons of coating materials for two-piece can products
and used 15,200 tons of large corrugated iron to improve the efficiency in use of materials; and
consumed approximately 23,000 tons of the packaging materials used for finished products, with
a consumption rate of approximately 4.7% for per unit produced.

Quota indicator, rating and assessment mechanisms for each two-piece can unit product were
formulated. With the implementation of the water-saving technology project for can washing

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR machine, the consumption of fresh water is reduced by 11.5 tons. The Nanning branch
MANAGEMENT completed the water-saving renovation project for can washing machine, which can help to
PROFILE reduce the discharge of sewage by 28,800 m® each year, while the Hangzhou branch’s pressure

optimisation project for air compression terminals is designed to save 36,400 kWh each year.

2. Environmental protection practices

In 2017, the Group and all its branches exercised control over the source, process and treatment
REPORT OF THE of waste gas, waste water and solid waste while implementing benchmark management within
DIRECTORS the branches (product lines) to reduce the production of hazardous waste.

(1) The main non-hazardous wastes are scrap aluminium, scrap iron, etc., which are disposed
of by means of recycling and reuse. In 2017, a total of 12,399 tons of waste aluminium and
28,466 tons of scrap iron were recycled and disposed of;

(2) The main hazardous wastes are waste gas, waste water, liquid waste, etc.
Waste gas treatment: Catalytic combustion, regenerative combustion and activated carbon

adsorption and desorption treatment facilities are used to achieve the target of emission
reduction;
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Water waste treatment: A sewage treatment station has been established to treat the waste water, MANAGENENT
when specific standards are met, the sewage is subsequently discharged through pipes and DISCUSSION
subject to on-line inspection; AND ANALYSIS

Liquid waste treatment: Third parties on the qualified list maintained by the environmental
protection authorities are selected for disposal, with the five hazardous waste disposing forms
being completed and issued for government supervision.

In 2017, in terms of emission reduction, the Group focused on and achieved initial success
in minimising VOCs emissions arising from the production process with emissions of COs,
COD, ammonia nitrogen, waste water and other pollutants in line with or even lower than the CORPORATE
corresponding emissions for 2016 while ensuring that its exhaust gas emissions meet national GOVERNANCE REPORT
standards.

(1) The Group analysed the trend of material technology development and environmental
protection, and vigorously pushed ahead with the application of new technologies and new
materials such as UV curing, water-based material, high solid content material and coated
products to reduce VOCs emissions from the source and lay a good foundation for future
emission reduction.

@ Water-based coating has been widely applied in steel drum/chemical can product R p—

lines, achieving a reduction of VOCs emissions of approximately 35 tons for the year. SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE
REPORT

@ Coated iron has been widely used in chemical can and twist cap product lines,
achieving a reduction of VOCs emissions of approximately 75 tons for the year.

® High solid content material has been applied in aerosol can/beverage can product
lines, achieving a reduction of VOCs emissions of approximately 5 tons for the year.

(2) Meanwhile, the subsidiaries of the Group were able to meet the VOCs emission standards
and raise their VOCs removal rate to fulfil the total VOCs emission volume control. In 2017,

; . DIRECTORS AND
a mandatory project for back-end exhaust gas treatment was launched with a total annual SENIOR
investment of more than RMB51 million in treatment equipment, attaining a VOCs removal MANAGEMENT
rate of over 90%, and reducing VOCs emissions by over 1,600 tons for the year. Branches PROFILE
such as CPMC Tianjin, CPMC Panyu, CPMC Wuxi, CPMC Hangzhou Canmaking and CPMC
Guangzhou Canmaking commenced trial operations of exhaust gas treatment facilities (RTO
facilities), the reduction of VOCs emissions of which reached 90% or above.
lll. Social Welfare
The Group’s rapid development is inseparable from the support and love of the society. We also try REPORT OF THE
our best to give back to the society through public welfare practices, in an attempt to contribute to the DIRECTORS

harmonious development of the society. In 2017, the Group actively performed its social responsibilities
in areas such as community building, poverty alleviation and volunteer services. For example, the Group
arranged a voluntary blood donation event for its employees in response to the call of the “Warm Blood
for July 17 campaign in the development zone. During the year, the Group also formed a team of 31
party members to carry out party activities under the environmental theme of “Protecting the Mother River
and Celebrating the Convening of the 19th CPC National Congress”. The activities included cleaning
up garbage in the green belt along the river, ideological and political learning and a contest on basic
knowledge. The participating party members swept away the garbage along the 3.5 km dike and the
green belt in the Xiasha section of the Qiantang River and cleaned up the garbage at the Weiken Cultural
Square in Xiasha District, helping to provide a better living environment and promote civilized culture for
the community.
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IV. Supply Chain Management

The Group not only elevates its corporate social responsibilities, but also values and promotes the
enhancement of corporate social responsibilities of our suppliers. Currently, the Group’s primary suppliers
include Baosteel, Shougang, Nanshan Aluminum, China Aluminum, Sinopec and CSPC. We selectively
partner with suppliers that meet product quality and safety standards and honor their corporate social
responsibilities, and work hand in hand with them for mutual fulfilment of social responsibilities, in a drive to
achieve diversified and coordinated development and create social value.

(1) Working together to establish a “product quality safety net”

We strictly control the quality and safety of our products by classifying our suppliers into different
levels. We have established an entire set of rigorous supplier quality management system based
on the selection and approval of new materials and new suppliers, their day-to-day management,
continuous improvement and exits, which formulates a full set of standards system and norms.
We have strengthened the inspection and verification of raw materials, carried out on-site audits,
evaluations and assessments, organised exchanges of technical quality, convened supplier quality
and safety conferences and rewarded excellent suppliers. We continued to improve the quality
and safety awareness of suppliers as well as their management level, promoting their continuous
improvements and achieving a steady increase in raw materials qualification rate.

Together with our suppliers, we have advanced the food safety risks control of our products and
constantly improve our food safety capabilities. We have signed technical agreements with our
suppliers which contained food safety provisions to effectively communicate food safety commitments
and statements along the supply chain. By adding suppliers online monitoring devices to strengthen
production process control, we have increased laboratory input and improved our testing abilities.
We regularly commissioned authoritative agencies to perform third-party testing, so as to encourage
our suppliers to continuously enhance their food safety control and traceability management, and
to ensure zero product and food safety responsibilities incidents and zero major quality incidents.
In addition, we worked with our key suppliers to develop new materials with higher food safety
standards, enabling CPMC to take the lead in using materials with higher food safety standards and
further improve the overall food safety level of the industry.

(2) Working hard to build a “green supply chain” and promote “emission reduction” along the
industry chain

In terms of production process, we worked with our upstream suppliers to reduce raw material
consumption by reducing the thickness of materials, expanding the use of coil and corrugated
materials.

In terms of emission reduction, we collaborated with our upstream suppliers to reduce VOCs
emissions by expanding the use of coated iron and other environment-friendly coatings such as UV
and water-based coating.

In terms of recycling of materials, we increased the recycling rate of packaging materials, reduced
the consumption of packaging materials by replacing wood pallets with plastic ones and replacing
corrugated lining paper with plastic lining paper. Currently, the recovery rate of plastic pallets is more
than 95%, while that of wooden pallets is more than 80%.

In terms of waste recycling, we cooperated with our upstream suppliers to promote the reuse of metal
scraps through equipment and technology upgrade. In 2017, we signed a scrap aluminum recycling
agreement with Nanshan Aluminum, one of our suppliers, and recycled a certain part of scrap
aluminum.
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(3) Working sincerely to build a “transparent supply chain”

Internally, we perfected our internal control process and actively built a transparent procurement
model centering on strategic procurement under collective decision making, tendering and online
procurement. We also strengthened our control over the professional ethics of procurement personnel
through regular internal and external audits.

Externally, we advocated “integrity transactions” and gave preference to manufacturers with good
social responsibility performance when selecting suppliers. We signed a “Sunshine Agreement” with
each of our suppliers, transporters and scrap purchasers to guide our suppliers and partners to abide
by social responsibility standards and adhere to a sustainable development model.

Product Liability

In strict compliance with the requirements of various regulations including the Regulations on the
Administration of Printing Industry and the Measures for the Administration of Commodity Barcodes, the
Group obtained the printing business license and the commodity barcode printing qualification certificate,
and engaged in printing business activities strictly within its permitted scope of business. The Group
established and maintained its internal management system in accordance with the Provisions on the
Administration of Undertaking of Presswork Printing, the Measures for the Administration of Commodity
Barcodes, the Trademark Law and other relevant laws and regulations. For instance, the Group formulated
the Sales Contract Control Procedures, pursuant to which the relevant qualifications of an entrusted party,
such as its registered trademarks and product barcodes, shall be collected and reviewed prior to the
acceptance of commissioned printing orders/contracts; the Group also established the Pre-press Control
Procedures, which requires a second verification and check of the entrusted party’s registered trademarks,
product barcodes and other qualifications before printing of the presswork, so that the same is printed only
after relevant compliance is confirmed.

Adhering to its customer-oriented philosophy and centering on the quality and food safety principles of
“commitment by every employee, assurance in every step, reliability of every product and satisfaction of
every customer”, the Group practices its corporate culture of “full dedication to best customer service”
and follows the code of conduct of “success in one go, no excuse, feedback welcome and immediate
response”. In 2017, through continuously improving the customer complaint handling mechanism and
organizing special activities to ensure compliance with the new national standards for food safety, we
continued to conduct customer satisfaction survey, MSA benchmarking and Quality Month campaigns,
and carried out various quality improvement activities including benchmarking management, project
quality improvement, rectification and prevention of typical cases, One Lesson for One Solution. We also
provided value-added services such as new product development, mold making and technical support
to our customers through technology innovation and development of new products and technologies
to continuously enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty. The Group attaches great importance to the
protection of customer privacy. During its daily operation and management, the Group strictly implements
the requirements of relevant laws, regulations and rules, and requires each department to use customer
data according to business requirements and to strictly maintain the confidentiality of customer data.
Employees who have violated the relevant provisions by intentionally or erroneously disclosing customer
data shall be subject to administrative or financial punishment according to the specific circumstances and
consequences.

In terms of advertising, labelling and maintenance of intellectual property rights, the Group strictly complies

with relevant laws and regulations, ensures the authenticity and accuracy of advertising labels of relevant
products and safeguards the intellectual property rights of the Group to prevent any infringement of rights.
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MANAGEMENT (1) Improving the customer complaint handling mechanism
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS In 2017, the Group strengthened the integration of the quality and safety systems, coordinated the
revision of documents regarding the quality management system for various product lines such as
two-piece cans and steel drums, and further optimised the system standards including the Customer

Complaints Management Measures and Customer Service Management Procedures.

In order to respond quickly to customer needs, the Group assigned customer service executives
to customer service counters at various grass-root units and established the Quality and Safety
Management Department at the headquarters to comprehensively and systematically recognise the
S needs of customers, handle complaints, analyse data, take corrective and preventive measures and
GOVERNANCE REPORT make continuous improvement. For key customers, special service teams are formed with personnel
from the sales, technology, production, quality control and other departments to provide one-on-one
special services in respect of product technology and quality improvement. Regarding critical issues
identified from customer complaints, bottlenecks quality issues and key process issues, the Group
conducted 44 production quality benchmarking projects in 2017 through monitoring and capacity
analysis of KPIs such as CDK, tackled 11 quality issues, conducted 40 typical cases corrections,
enhanced the capacity of 14 key processes, implemented over 380 solidification improvement
measures, optimised nearly 80 processes, resulting in continuous improvement in product quality with
less quality defects and customer complaints.

ENVIRONMENTA ) . -
SOCIAL AND = The business loss rate caused by customer complaints for the year was limited to less than 0.1%.

GOVERNANCE

REPORT

(2) Customer satisfaction survey

Focusing on the measurement of customer satisfaction, the Group established and continuously
optimised its customer satisfaction evaluation plan. Targeting at different customer groups, we
designed different questionnaires to comprehensively collect and analyse user feedback and
comments from multiple dimensions such as quality, delivery, transportation and services through
various channels including satisfaction surveys, customer visits, business loss analyses and product
DIRECTORS AND delivery performance evaluation. The Group conducts surveys and analyses on customer satisfaction
SENIOR every year to compile a survey report of customer satisfaction which serves as the basis for planning
MANAGEMENT and improving the quality system.

PROFILE
In recent years, the level of customer satisfaction of the Group has maintained high ranking in the
industry. Taking Hangzhou Can-making Co., Ltd. as an example, the customer satisfaction rate has
remained above 90% in the recent three years. The Group’s brand awareness, corporate image,
product quality and market profile have a far-reaching influence over our customers, and has
gradually won recognition and high commendation from various domestic and overseas well-known
enterprises.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
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(3) Food safety control of packaging products MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
Faced with the new landscape, new standards and new challenges in domestic and overseas food AND ANALYSIS
safety in 2017, the Group proactively organised special campaigns to ensure compliance with the
new national standards for food safety of packaging food products and facilitated our suppliers and
their upstream companies, our branch offices and customers to abide by the new national food safety
standards for food contact materials. Through a variety of specialised training and exchanges, as
well as comprehensive, systematic and stringent investigations on compliance, the Group required
all upstream and downstream companies along the supply chain to provide food safety compliance

statements to highlight the social responsibilities undertaken by these enterprises.

o CORPORATE
The Group conducted food safety management from the source, striving to ensure the safety of raw GOVERNANCE REPORT

materials by carefully refining the approval procedures, standardising the raw materials inspection
procedures for food-safety-related suppliers and raw materials, strengthening random testing and
verification of raw materials, conducting supplier qualification reviews, on-site audits, supplier quality
and safety conferences, and introducing the red and yellow cards system for supplier management.
All suppliers of the Group were engaged based on the above system.

The Group implemented the food safety risk control agenda in each product line, monitored the
key control points in real time, conducted branch-level internal testing and headquarters-level
random testing of the key physical and chemical performance indicators of products and engaged

ENVIRONMENTAL,

authoritative third party agencies to verify the testing results, ensuring that the products continuously SOCIAL AND

meet the food hygiene standards. The Group did not fail any national and domestic random GOVE:::ggE

inspections of food safety, encounter any food safety incidents nor receive any customer complaints
regarding food safety issues.

The Group regularly organised product recall and traceability drills to verify the rationality and
effectiveness of the product recall control procedures. Through the construction of a quality
management information system, the Company continuously improved product traceability and
shortened the time required. In the event of a product recall resulting from unqualified products, the
Group will ascertain the scope of the products concerned through an immediate inspection, recall

: : L . DIRECTORS AND
the relevant batch of products, investigate the reasons for unqualification, formulate and implement SENIOR
rectification measures, and verify and follow up the effectiveness of rectification. During 2017, no MANAGEMENT
products of the Group sold or shipped were subject to a recall for safety or health reasons. PROFILE
In 2017, the Group was highly rated by customers for its quality products and services. We received
the annual “Outstanding Supplier”, “Best Supplier”, and “Best Quality Award” and other honors
from our key customers such as JDB Group, Yili Group, Budweiser, PetroChina Lubricant Company,

By-Health Co., Ltd. and Perfect (China) Co., Ltd., demonstrating an enhanced customer loyalty of the
Group.
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

Annual Report 2017 5 1




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MANAGEMENT VI. Anti-corruption

DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

As a subsidiary of COFCO, the Group strictly adheres to the PRC laws and regulations, as well as other
rules and regulations stipulated by the SASAC Commission of Discipline Inspection and the Discipline
Inspection Organisation of COFCO regarding anti-corruption, and closely follows the annual themes of
“strict governance of enterprises, stimulation of vitality, and improvement of quality and efficiency” to
continue to effectively construct the party conduct, prevent bribery, blackmail, fraud and money laundering
and fight against corruption. The Group has set up a discipline inspection commission to be responsible
for the discipline inspection and supervision of group members, and discipline inspection commissioners
were assigned for discipline inspection and supervision of subordinate enterprises. In the meantime, the
CORPORATE Group has established an audit and supervision division as a level-1 functional department to fulfill the
GOVERNANCE REPORT work requirements of the discipline inspection commission to implement specific discipline inspection and
supervision tasks of the Company. The Group has established whistleblowing channels including mailbox,
hotline and email to encourage employees and any third parties to report, in a confidential manner,
any violation of laws and regulations in connection with the Group’s business. The Group will carry out
investigations in accordance with relevant procedures.

In 2017, the Group further fulfilled its main responsibilities of enforcing strict party discipline and corporate
governance, strengthened supervision of employees and reinforced the concept of integrity, flexibly
applied the “Four Forms” of supervision and discipline, intensified the implementation of the spirit of the
ENVIRONMENTAL, eight provisions of the central government, and enhanced the cultivation of discipline inspection cadres. In

SOCIAL AND 2017, the Group was not involved in any corruption cases and litigations.
GOVERNANCE

REPORT

(1) Further fulfilling the main responsibilities of enforcing strict party discipline and corporate
governance

Through the convening of an enlarged meeting of the party committee central learning group for
in-depth communication and learning of the spirit of the 19th CPC National Congress, the Group
satisfied the requirements of the party group of COFCO to follow the spirit of the 19th CPC National
Congress, fully fulfilled the main responsibilities of enforcing strict party discipline and corporate

DIRECTORS AND governance, and unswervingly pushed forward the comprehensive enforcement of strict party
ﬁAEANh'I%EMENT discipline and took the lead in helping enterprises to implement strict corporate governance. On the
PROFILE one hand, we paid close attention to the “key minority” of party member managers and emphasised

their roles to effectively “learn, understand and act” to turn the powerful ideological weapon into
a scientific impetus to promote the improvement in quality and efficiency of enterprises and guide
grass-root party members and other workers to explore new opportunities, promote deepening
of the reform and facilitate the value preservation and appreciation of state-owned assets. On the
other hand, we targeted the grass-root party members and the general workforce to seize the “vast
majority”. By carrying out more than 70 learning missions, the Group called on all staff members
to unify their thinking and actions, and fully integrated the spirit of the 19th CPC National Congress
REPORT OF THE into the production and manufacturing process, research projects, product quality improvement,
DIRECTORS equipment efficiency enhancement and other actual production and management work.

(2) Strengthening the supervision of employees and reinforcing the concept of integrity

In 2017, the Group revised the “Three Major and One Important” Conference System of COFCO
Packaging and the Rules of Procedure and Operation of the Party Committees. By supervising
and examining the implementation of the “Three Major and One Important” system, the Group
integrated the strengthening of party leadership with the improvement of corporate governance,
resolutely enforced the deployment and requirements of the party committees of the Group to
promote the inclusion of the overall party construction work in the Articles of Association. The Group
also strengthened the supervision of key areas and key processes such as sales, procurement,
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investment and infrastructure to sort out the risk points in integrity; and conducted integrity training
and anti-corruption quizzes to ensure that party committee managers abide by party rules, regulations
and discipline to implement the party’s guidelines, policies, resolutions, as well as PRC laws and
regulations. Through the implementation of the “three must-talk” system, the Group exercised
supervision over itself and its affiliated enterprises in a timely manner. In 2017, the Group conducted 6
integrity conversation sessions, 7 reminder sessions, and 20 sessions with persons-in-charge and key
employees of the subsidiary units. Through the conversations, more stringent ideological requirements
were put forward to the managers, prompting them to work in full compliance with related regulations
in the future, consciously fulfill the relevant requirements, and exert stricter self-discipline.

Flexibly applying the “Four Forms” of supervision and discipline

The Group promoted the implementation of the party construction and discipline inspection
responsibility system stipulated by the CPMC Packaging Federation, identified and deployed
detailed tasks for discipline inspection and supervision, clearly stated the focus of party integrity
construction and anti-corruption work, arranged the signing of party construction and anti-corruption
responsibility statements by the grass-root party organisations, and strengthened the fulfilment of
“main responsibilities” and “supervision responsibilities”. The Group strictly followed the requirements
regarding discipline and safety inspection and handled all whistleblowing cases according to related
standards and regulations. No violation of discipline or regulations was found so far, nor was there any
need for accountability measures.

Intensifying the implementation of the spirit of the eight provisions of the Central Government

Firstly, the Group carried out compliance training for key personnel and put forward higher ideological
requirements for managers to urge them to conscientiously fulfil the relevant requirements and to
impose strict demands on themselves. Secondly, the Group carried out specific supervision and
inspection, with routine inspection for 6 subordinate enterprises completed in 2017. Post-holiday
reports were prepared in an earnest manner, and subordinate enterprises were required to report
the implementation of supervision promptly after holidays. Thirdly, the Group insisted on issuing
pre-holiday notifications, communications and reminders before major holidays such as New Year’s
Day and the Dragon Boat Festival. In addition, intensive prompts via the Intranet, email and WeChat
group were jointly made by the discipline inspection commission, the auditing and supervision
division, the party department and the finance department to re-emphasise that the use of public
funds for eating, drinking or gifts, the use of public vehicles for personal purposes are strictly
prohibited; and bonus or allowance shall not be given without justification. “No Gifts” notifications
were sent to suppliers, shippers, purchasers and construction contractors of infrastructure projects in
the name of the Company, and the “Sunshine Agreement” was reiterated to inform the above parties
of their rights and obligations and clarify the whistleblowing methods to ensure incorruptible holidays
from external channels.

Strengthening the cultivation of discipline inspection cadres

The Group constantly reinforced the communication of theoretical knowledge to enhance the
theoretical preparation of the cadres; and strengthened the training of discipline inspection and
supervision cadres to enhance their operational capabilities. The cadres were encouraged to
participate in professional training organised by COFCO; and at the same time, basic training such
as detailed responsibility explanations and basic procedures for investigation of complaint letters
and visits were conducted in subordinate enterprises to enhance the practical operation ability of
discipline inspection and supervision personnel. Related personnel also actively participated in
various cultural and sports activities centering on discipline inspection. For instance, the discipline
inspection personnel of the Group attended a speech under the theme of “An Incorruptible Tradition”
organised by the Administrative Committee of the Development Zone.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHANG Xin

ZHANG Ye

YU Youzhi

CPMC Holdings Limited

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Xin, aged 55, is an executive Director and the chairman of the
Board. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for the overall management,
major decision-making, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on
23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015, respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice
president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011.
Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC.
He is a senior engineer.

ZHANG Ye, aged 44, is an executive Director and the General Manager.
Mr. Zhang is primary responsible for the daily operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in April 1995, and had served
as sales manager, sales director, general manager of the subsidiaries
of the Company, assistant to the General Manager, deputy General
Manager, etc. He also served as the chief legal consultant of the Group
concurrently during the period from July 2011 to January 2016. He
was appointed as an executive Director and a general manager of the
Company on 22 December 2016 and 19 July 2016 respectively and
currently serves as directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He
has over 20 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang
obtained an associate degree in physics from Shanghai Fudan University
(E/B1EBKE) in 1995, and obtained a bachelor degree in business
management from the Continuing Education School of Shanghai Fudan
University (/818 B KZBAZE Z0t) in 1999.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

YU Youzhi, aged 54, is a non-executive Director. Ms. Yu was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 15 August 2017. Ms. Yu had served as
the deputy director of communist party committee office of China Foods
Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FFEIEhR M HO(EB)FRAR])
(currently known as COFCO Corporation) from April 2003 to April 2006,
and as the director of the communist party committee office of China
Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEEHR GH(ER)FRAR]) (currently known
as COFCO Corporation) from April 2006 to December 2008. She had also
served as the deputy minister as well as the director of the labour union
office of the communist party office (corporate culture department), and
the vice chairman of the labour union of COFCO Corporation from 2008
to 2016. Ms. Yu received a bachelor degree in philosophy from Wuhan
University in 1985.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHEN Qianzheng, aged 54 is a non-executive Director. Mr. Chen was MANAGENENT
appointed as a non-executive Director on 22 December 2016. Mr. Chen DISCUSSION
had served as a manager, assistant to general manager, deputy general AND ANALYSIS
manager and general manager successively at Wuhan COFCO Import
and Export Co., Ltd. (BUZF &% H O2A]), a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (FFEIEHRRE LD
(E£8)AR 2 7)) (currently known as COFCO Corporation), from Feb 1987
to May 2006. From May 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Chen worked at China
Foods (Group) Co., Ltd. (FEIERRMA(ER)ER AR (currently known
as COFCO Corporation) as a general manager of its meat department.
He was the deputy general manager and also serves as the general S
manager of the marking department, the general manager of the trading GOVERNANCE REPORT
department and the deputy general manager of cold chain logistics
department of COFCO Meat Investment Company Limited (FFi@ARE
EHBRAR]) successively from July 2008 to November 2016. Mr. Chen
received a bachelor degree from Huazhong Agricultural University (ZE
REZEKE) in July 1985, and was accredited as a Senior International
Business Engineer in May 2002.

CHEN Qianzheng

ZHOU Yuan, aged 31, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 25 February ROENTAL
2016. Mr. Zhou was a vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging, SOCIAL AND
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial GOVERNANCE
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director of FEOT
Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (“Huang Shan NOVEL”), a listed
company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016. Mr. Zhou
received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with Honours) in the field of
Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia in December
2010.

DIRECTORS
ZHOU Yuan AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

PROFILE

SHEN Tao, aged 47, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016. Mr. Shen has had
over 23 years of senior management experience in the packaging
industry including acting as the general manager of Shanghai Shenjing
Steel Processing Company Limited (J:iEE#EWMJDIﬁIZE Al), the
general manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company Limited (/&% 255
BBRZAF]), the assistant general manager of Shanghai Baosteel Property
Development Company Limited (/8 ZMEZERERAF]), and the

. .. e a0 REPORT OF THE
assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal Company Limited (2 DIRECTORS
£ BAMRAT]). Mr. Shen joined ORG Packaging in July 2008 and has
been a director of ORG Packaging since October 2010. He worked
as the vice general manager of ORG Packaging from October 2008 to
February 2014, and has been the general manager of ORG Packaging
since February 2014 and a director of HuangShan NOVEL since January
2016. Mr. Shen received a Master degree in Business Administration from
Peking University in January 2015. He also obtained the qualification of
senior business operator (B ARAL & RM) from the Occupational Skill Testing
and Instruction Centre of China* (FBlR B 2R A %IETE’:MJ/U) and
State Senior Business Operator Assessment Committee* (2 Bl e A48 & Al
FFEEE ) in March 2004.

SHEN Tao
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

CHENG Yuk Wo

FU Tingmei

CPMC Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 57, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng
is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario,
Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 20 years of experience in auditing, finance
and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of Erik
Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong since 1999.
Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of the
following companies which are listed on the Stock Exchange, included
CSI Properties Limited, HKC (Holdings) Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation,
Chong Hing Bank Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Goldbond
Group Holdings Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited,
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited, Top Spring
International Holdings Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited,
Somerley Capital Holdings Limited and Kidsland International Holdings
Limited. Mr. Cheng was an independent non-executive director of Imagi
International Holdings Limited from July 2010 to January 2016. Mr. Cheng
received a bachelor’'s degree in Accounting from the University of Kent,
England in 1983 and a master's degree in Accounting and Finance from
the University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Fu was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Fu has extensive
experiences in investment, finance, law and business management.
Between 1992 and 2003, he conducted many corporate finance
transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong
including serving as a director of Peregrine Capital Limited, and a deputy
managing director and subsequently promoted as a managing director
of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently engaged
in private investments business. He is currently also an independent
non-executive director of Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited,
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited and COFCO Meat Holdings Limited, both listed on the
Stock Exchange. In the last 3 years, Mr. Fu was also an independent
non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited which is
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of
London with a master's degree and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989
and 1993, respectively.



Directors and Senior Management Profile

PUN Tit Shan, aged 57, is an independent non-executive Director. MANAGEMENT
Mr. Pun was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2016. He holds DISCUSSION
a master of business administration degree (with honour) from the AND ANALYSIS
University of Manchester. Mr. Pun is currently acted as head of investment
of Concord Asset Management (HK) Ltd. and was the chief executive
officer of Asia Wealth Securities Limited and the chief investment
officer of Astrum Capital Management Limited. He has over 32 years of
experience in the finance field, such as strategic dealing and arbitraging
in the derivatives market, sales and marketing management in the
primary and secondary equity market and sales and assets managing of
high net-worth clients and investment advisory.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Currently, he is the vice-chairman of Institute of Financial Analyst and
Professional Commentator and the Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong
Ningxia Youth Association (& % B & 4 &) since 2015. Mr. Pun was
previously a board director of Hong Kong Futures Exchange Ltd.
(1995-1999); a board director of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Options
Clearing House Ltd. (1997-2000); a membership committee member
of Hong Kong Securities Institute (1998-2002); a panel member of
Derivatives Market Consultative Panel (2000-2003); a committee member
of Hong Kong Securities Institute Professional Education Committee RO

(2002-2004); and a member of Lions Club of Hong Kong Shouson Hill. SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE
REPORT

PUN Tit Shan

Mr. Pun is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
China New Economy Fund Limited (Stock Code: 80) and Convoy Global
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Convoy Financial Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 1019), the shares of all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (FORMER) T

AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

LI Jian, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 22
December 2016 and resigned on 15 August 2017. He had served as
the general manager and communist party secretary of China National
Feedstuff Group Corporation from 2002 to 2003, and as the assistant to
general manager, deputy general manager and member of communist
party of China Grains and Oils Group Corporation successively from
2003 to 2006. He had served as the general manager of Anhui BBCA
Biochemical Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2007. He had also served as the
deputy head of the research and development department of COFCO REPORT OF THE
Corporation from 2007 to 2008, acted as the dean of the COFCO Science DIRECTORS
Research Institute from 2008 to 2010, and served as the chairman
of COFCO Engineering Technology Co., Ltd. from 2010 to 2015. He
LI Jian has been the consultant of COFCO Engineering Technology Co., Ltd.
since 2015. He was a non-executive director of China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited (“China Agri”), a member of the COFCO which is
listed on the Stock Exchange, from 6 January 2017 to 30 August 2017.
Mr. Li received a bachelor degree in engineering from Chongging
University in November 1982, and obtained a master degree in executive
master of business administration from HEC: Ecole des Hautes Etudes
Commerciales in December 2007.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2017. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 10 to 19 of this annual report.

Further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business of the Group, a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set
out in the “Chairman’s Letter”, “General Manager's Report”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes
to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the Group’s financial position as of that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 160 to 273 of this annual report. The Directors recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMB0.061 (equivalent to HK7.5 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: RMBO0.10, equivalent to HK11.3 cents). An interim dividend of RMBO0.071 (equivalent to
HK8.2 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 18 September 2017 (2016: RMBO0.025, equivalent to HK2.9 cents).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 will be distributed on or after Thursday, 14
June 2018 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Tuesday, 5
June 2018 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore
Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management”( { B BN AR B 1AL (b ERIZ B R B IR HIE
ZHREBTEAERCEBBMEERNIBL)) (the “Notice”) which was issued by the State Administration of Taxation
(the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January 2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese
enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident enterprises with
de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises” (3EHERFMER®
%), if all of the following criteria are present or effected in the PRC: (1) senior management in charge of daily
operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments regarding financial management and
human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or
board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily
reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident
enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of
Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from 1
January 2013. Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for the
proposed year 2017 final dividend.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules of the laws of PRC, the
Company is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2017 final
dividend to its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees
Limited, corporate nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organisations, which are all considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute
the proposed year 2017 final dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not
withhold and pay the income tax in respect of the proposed year 2017 final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the PRC’s Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company'’s register
of members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
documents from its governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay
enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 31 May
2018.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
Company’s register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees.
The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders
strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The
Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or
inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 274 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year are
set out in Note 13 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in
Note 28 to the financial statements.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of the
Shareholder passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
Directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.
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Report of the Directors

An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer. No Shares was available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2017.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date when
the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be subject to
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting taken on a poll.

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Number of share options
Exercise
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Date of grant Exercise period price
Name or category of At during during during during At of share of share Options of share
participants 01.01.2017  theyear  theyear theyear  theyear 31.122017 options (Note) options
Current Directors
Mr. Zhang Xin 100,000 - - - (100,000 - 12102011 12.10.2017- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Mr. Zhang Ye 50,000 - - - (50,000 - 12102011 12.10.2017- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Former Director
Mr. Wang Jinchang* 120,000 - - - (120,000) - 12102011 12.10.2017- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Mr. Hu Yonglei * 60,000 - - - (60,000 - 12102011 12.10.2017- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Other employees
In aggregate 1,230,000 - - - (1,230,000 - 1210.2011  12.10.2017- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
1,560,000 - - - (1,560,000) -

Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director on 23 March 2015.
# Mr. Hu Yonglei resigned as an non-executive Director on 22 December 2016.

Note: Please refer to Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements for the exercise period of each tranche of share
options.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2017.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately
RMB84,408,000 (2016: approximately RMB136,192,000), of which approximately RMB71,648,000 (2016:
approximately RMB117,456,000) has been proposed as a final dividend for the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 10.3% and 32.0%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 19.1% and 46.3%, respectively,
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ye (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. YU Youzhi (appointed on 15 August 2017)
Mr. LI Jian (resigned on 15 August 2017)

Mr. CHEN Qianzheng

Mr. ZHOU Yuan

Mr. SHEN Tao

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. PUN Tit Shan

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles, Messrs. Zhou Yuan, Shen Tao and Pun Tit Shan will retire and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2018 AGM.

Each of the Directors has a specific term of appointment for three years.
No Director proposed for re-election at the 2018 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is

not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Report of the Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Lv Qing

Feng Ping
Cheng Bincai
Zhao Wei

Gu Xiao Lei
Huang Jin
Yang Xiaoyan
Wang Jiliang
Goh Hock Huat
Robert Henry Bourque Jr
Ji Lifang

Peng Wei

Guo Wenfu*

Ye Zhijuan*
Hong Yuanxiang
Gai Jun

Gong Xielong
Ma Binyun

*

He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 54 to 57 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market conditions,
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/Nature Number of underlying interests
Name of Directors of Interests shares held in long position (Note 1)
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 25,000,000 (Note 2) 2.13%
Mr. Zhang Ye Beneficial owner 17,000,000 (Note 3) 1.45%

Notes:

(1) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2017, ie.,
1,174,560,000 Shares.

(2) Zhang Xin was interested in 25,000,000 Shares which were subscribed by him from the Company pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement dated 22 May 2016, which were held by Majestic Merge Limited on behalf of him.

(3) Zhang Ye was interested in 17,000,000 Shares which were subscribed by him from the Company pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement dated 22 May 2016, which were held by Majestic Merge Limited on behalf of him.
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Report of the Directors

R SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
DICLSSON SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

AND ANALYSIS
As at 31 December 2017, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage
CORPORATE °! aggregate
GOVERNANCE REPORT _ interests in
issued share
capital of the
Substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of Number of Company
and other persons Notes Interests Shares held (Note 6)
China Foods (Holdings) Limited (1) Registered owner 330,658,800 28.15%
(“China Foods (Holdings)”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (M &(2) Interests of controlled 330,658,800 28.15%
000000 (“COFCO (HK)") corporations
ENVIRONMENTAL, (1) & (3) Interests of any parties 269,341,200 22.93%
SOCIAL AND to an agreement to
S%STNANCE acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO
COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ”) (1) & (4) Interests of controlled 330,658,800 28.15%
DIRECTORS AND '
SENIOR corporations
MANAGEMENT (1), (3) & (4) Interests of any parties 269,341,200 22.93%
PROFILE to an agreement to

acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO
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Substantial shareholders
and other persons

Notes

Capacity/Nature of
Interests

Number of
Shares held

Approximate
percentage
of aggregate
interests in
issued share
capital of the
Company
(Note 6)

ORG Packaging Co. Ltd.
("ORG Packaging”)

Shanghai Yuanlong Investment
Limited (_L/8REREARAR)
(“Shanghai Yuanlong”)

Mr. Zhou Yunijie

Wing Lung Bank (Trustee) Limited

Antopex Limited

Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited

Majestic Merge Limited

(1) &(3)

(1) &(3)

(1) &(3)

(1) &(3)

(1) &(3)

(1) &(3)

Interests of controlled
corporations

Interests of any parties

to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

Interests of controlled
corporations

Interests of any parties

to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

Interests of controlled
corporations

Interests of any parties

to an agreement to
acquire interests in
a particular listed
corporation required
to be disclosed
under s.317(1)(a)
and s.318 of the
SFO

Trustee of a trust

Nominee for another
person

Interest of controlled
corporations

Registered owner

269,341,200

330,658,800

269,341,200

330,658,800

269,341,200

330,658,800

143,000,000

143,000,000

143,000,000

143,000,000

22.93%

28.15%

22.93%

28.15%

22.93%

28.15%

12.17%

12.17%

12.17%

12.17%
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Notes:

(6)

Long positions in the Shares.

China Foods (Holdings) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 330,658,800 Shares held by China Foods (Holdings).

On 8 November 2015, COFCO (HK) and ORG Packaging entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale
& Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO (HK) has conditionally agreed to sell and ORG Packaging has
conditionally agreed to purchase in the maximum of 269,341,200 Shares. On 27 January 2016, the completion of the
Sale & Purchase Agreement took place, following which COFCO (HK) sold and ORG Packaging purchased 269,341,200
Shares. The Sale & Purchase Agreement is an agreement to which s.317(1)(a) applies as it contains a lock-up obligation
on the part of ORG Packaging. Such shares were transferred to ORG Development Limited, which is wholly-owned
by ORG Packaging International Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by ORG Packaging. ORG Packaging
is owned as to approximately 48.33% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately 0.74% by dtR —+—2BEHEGR
‘A=lwhich in turn are owned as to approximately 78.00% and 80.00% respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunjie. Therefore, Mr.
Zhou Yunjie, Shanghai Yuanlong and ORG Packaging are deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ORG
Development Limited under the SFO.

COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by COFCO (HK) and China Foods (Holdings).

The entire share capital of Majestic Merge Limited is held by Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited, and the entire share
capital of Chuang Neng Enterprises Limited is held by Antopex Limited, a nominee which is wholly-owned by Wing Lung
Bank (Trustee) Limited.

The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at the 31 December 2017, i.e.,
1,174,560,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount public float as required under the Listing
Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED i
TRANSACTIONS LS

The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be
disclosed herein in compliance with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
connected transaction and continuing connected transactions are as follows:

I. Connected Transaction

CORPORATE

1. Acquisition of 51% equity interest in Epoch Packaging COVERNANCE REPORT

On 15 March 2017, CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. (“*CPMC Investment”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with Harvest Epoch International
Limited (“Harvest Epoch”) and Harvest Epoch Packaging (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.* (“Epoch Packaging”),
pursuant to which CPMC Investment has conditionally agreed to purchase 51% equity interest in
Epoch Packaging from Harvest Epoch for a total cash consideration of RMB138,108,000. After the
completion of the acquisition, the Group held 51% equity interests in Epoch Packaging, which is
engaged in the business of manufacture of metal packaging.

ENVIRONMENTAL,
It has come to the knowledge of the Company that on 15 March 2017, Harvest Epoch also entered G(SJSEF'&LAQ'%[E)
into an equity transfer agreement with ORG Packaging, a substantial shareholder of the Company, REPORT
for the sale of 19% equity interest in the Epoch Packaging by the Harvest Epoch to ORG Packaging.
Accordingly, Harvest Epoch is considered as a “deemed connected person” of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.20(1) of the Listing Rules, and the equity transfer agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Details of the above connected transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 March 2017.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Il. Continuing Connected Transactions PROFILE
1. 2014 Framework Agreement with COFCO

On 14 November 2014, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2014 Framework
Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of a framework agreement entered into between
the Company and COFCO on 8 November 2011. Pursuant to the 2014 Framework Agreement, the
Group will supply a provision of various types and sizes of packaging materials, products and related

services (the “Products and Related Services”) to COFCO and its subsidiaries and associates other REPORT
. oo " . o OF THE
than the Group (“COFCO Group”) with reference to the prevailing market prices of same or similar DIRECTORS

products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2015.
The 2014 Framework Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to
obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details
of the 2014 Framework Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
14 November 2014 and the circular of the Company dated 3 December 2014. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 19 December
2014.

*

For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services supplied to
DISCUSSION COFCO Group in 2017 shall not exceed RMB510,000,000.

AND ANALYSIS
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services
to be supplied to COFCO Group under the 2014 Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB303,466,000.

2. 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement with COFCO

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2014 IT Services
S Framework Agreement”) with COFCO, pursuant to which COFCO together with its subsidiaries and
GOVERNANCE REPORT associates other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities
for the Group, supply IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the
respective annual caps for a period commencing on 1 January 2015 and ending on 31 December
2017 (the “Supply of Products and Services”). The 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement may
be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and
approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2014 IT Services Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2014.

Pursuant to the 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the Supply of
Products and Services by COFCO Group to the Group for 2017 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT

ENVIRONMENTAL, A B , ) i
SOCIAL AND software and IT facilities is RMB800,000; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services
gggg:;\‘ANCE is RMB3,000,000; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT

software and IT facilities; (ii) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing

under 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement were Nil, Nil and RMB3,479,000, respectively.

3. 2016 Sales and Purchases Framework Agreement with ORG Packaging

DIRECTORS AND On 21 March 2016, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the 2016 Sales and
SENIOR Purchases Framework Agreement”) with ORG Packaging. Pursuant to the 2016 Sales and Purchases
'F\)ﬂ;\gléLGEEMENT Framework Agreement, (i) the Group has agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed

to purchase from the Group printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production
services of such packaging materials, and (ii) ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the
Group has agreed to purchase from ORG Group tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related
can production services of such packaging materials, from 21 March 2016 to 31 December 2017.
Details of the 2016 Sales and Purchases Framework Agreement were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 21 March 2016 and circular of the Company dated 19 May 2016. The approval
of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 3 June

2016.
REPORT
OF THE
DIRECTORS Pursuant to the 2016 Sales and Purchases Framework Agreement, the approved annual caps in

respect of (i) the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production
services of such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group for 2017 are RMB900,000,000;
(i) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production services of such
packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group for 2017 are RMB600,000,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the sale of printed
tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such packaging
materials by the Group to ORG Group; and (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium
and related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group were
RMB199,816,000 and RMB179,311,000 respectively.

2016 Financial Services Agreement with COFCO Finance

On 15 September 2016, the Company and COFCO Finance entered into a financial services
agreement (the “2016 Financial Services Agreement”) in respect of the renewal of a financial services
agreement entered into between the Company and COFCO Finance on 18 September 2013 (the “2013
Financial Services Agreement”). Details of the 2016 Financial Services Agreement and 2013 Financial
Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 September 2016
and 18 September 2013, respectively, and the circular of the Company dated 5 October 2016 and
11 October 2013, respectively. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 24 October 2016.

Pursuant to the 2016 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the
Group the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 24 October 2016,
the date on which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary
general meeting:

(a) Deposit services

The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the
above annual cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant
to which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other
services fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services,
including settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency
services to be provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2016 Financial Services
Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million.
The above entrustment loan services and the other financial services were only subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued
interests) amounted to RMB774,814,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance under the
2016 Financial Services Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT 5. 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2017 COFCO
Packaging Materials Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2014 Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement, the Group will supply
Products and Related Services to COFCO Group with reference to the prevailing market prices of
same or similar products and services of the same period for a term of three years commencing on
1 January 2018. The 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement may be renewed by agreement
between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary)
required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2017 COFCO Packaging Materials Agreement were
S disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 October 2017 and the circular of the
GOVERNANCE REPORT Company dated 30 November 2017. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2017.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group in 2018, 2019 and 2020 are expected not to exceed RMB480,000,000,
RMB570,000,000 and RMB670,000,000 respectively.

6. 2017 COFCO IT Agreement

On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a supply framework agreement (the “2017 COFCO

Eg%'&f’l“,ﬂﬁmm' IT Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of the 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement.

SEXSQ‘ANCE Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement, COFCO together with its subsidiaries and associates
other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the Group,
supply IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective
annual caps for a period commencing on 1 January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020 (the “IT
Products and Services”). The 2017 COFCO IT Agreement may be renewed by agreement between
the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the
Listing Rules. Details of the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 24 October 2017.

DIRECTORS AND )

SENIOR Pursuant to the 2017 COFCO IT Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the supply of IT Products

'F\)ﬂ;\gléLGEEMENT and Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2018 to 2020 in relation to (i) the purchase of IT

software and IT facilities is RMB800,000, RMB800,000 and RMB800,000 respectively; (i) the supply
of IT services and market consulting services is RMB3,000,000, RMB3,000,000 and RMB3,000,000
respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB4,000,000, RMB3,500,000 and RMB4,000,000 respectively.

REPORT
OF THE
DIRECTORS
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7. 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement

On 24 October 2017, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2017 ORG Packaging
Materials Agreement”) with ORG Packaging in respect of the renewal of the 2016 Sales and
Purchases Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement,
(i) the Group has agreed to sell to ORG Group and ORG Group has agreed to purchase from the
Group printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of such
packaging materials, and (ii) ORG Group has agreed to sell to the Group and the Group has agreed
to purchase from ORG Group tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production
services of such packaging materials, from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. Details of the 2017
ORG Packaging Materials Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
24 October 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 30 November 2017. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December
2017.

Pursuant to the 2017 ORG Packaging Materials Agreement, the approved annual caps in respect
of (i) the sale of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services
of such packaging materials by the Group to ORG Group from 2018 to 2020 are RMB450,000,000,
RMB520,000,000 and RMB550,000,000; (ii) the sale of tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and
related can production services of such packaging materials by ORG Group to the Group from 2018
to 2020 are RMB400,000,000, RMB450,000,000 and RMB500,000,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 and 7 for the year ended 31 December 2017 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 38 to the audited financial statements of this annual
report also constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed
in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report include connected transactions
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions disclosed above, the Directors consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in Note
38 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG Packaging (Note)  Manufacture of packaging products As a vice chairman November 2010
As a director October 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG Packaging (Note) ~ Manufacture of packaging products As a general manager ~ February 2014
As a director October 2010
Note:

ORG Packaging is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial Shareholder,
holding approximately 22.93% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG Packaging is principally engaged in the
comprehensive packaging services including packaging design, packaging production, filling and brand design and
promotion. For further details of ORG Packaging in respect of its business and financial position, please refer to its annual
report dated 28 April 2017, which is available at http://www.orgpackaging.com/cn/upload/investor/1549594960.PDF.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG Packaging, and Mr. Shen Tao is the general manager and
a director of ORG Packaging, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their duty to avoid conflict of interest. In
cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao will refrain from taking part in the decision
making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolution in board meeting. On this basis and given that ORG
Packaging has its own management personnel other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao, the Directors believe that the
Company is capable of carrying out its business independently of, and at arm’s length from ORG Packaging.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the corresponding
costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them. Pursuant to Article
171 of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) sustained or
incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Company strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC in its business operation, including but
not limited to the laws and regulations in relation to product safety, printing business, foreign investment,
labour and insurance, taxation, foreign exchange and environmental protection, specifically, Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation of the People’s Republic of China on the Administration of
Production License for Industrial Products, Measures for the Administration of Operating Licenses for Hazardous
Chemicals, Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on Foreign-Capital Enterprises, Interim Measures for the
Recordation Administration of the Formation and Modification of Foreign-Funded Enterprises, Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, Enterprise Income Tax Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on the Management of Foreign
Exchanges, Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not breach any law and regulation that has a
significant impact on the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective
measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognize that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the

customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings
to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2017.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2018 AGM will be held on Monday, 28 May 2018.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2018 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 21 May 2018

Closure of Register of members 23 May to 28 May 2018
(both dates inclusive)

Record date 28 May 2018

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2018

Closure of Register of members 1 June to 5 June 2018
(both dates inclusive)

Record date 5 June 2018

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2018 AGM, Shareholders should contact the
Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the 2018 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ﬁﬂ?%zﬁfﬁiﬁi

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S
REPORT Ernst & Young ke ST Tel E3E: +852 2846 9888
BUBHARE 22/F, CITIC Tower EBTIRFEEIR Fax {&K: +852 2868 4432
f i 1 Tim Mei Avenue PiERE2218 ey.com
¥ ] Central, Hong Kong

To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

BHRERERARARNZERR
(REBBHMH AR 7])

Opinion =

SO0 ATED We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ABBENE F X T AR RERE R A

STATEMENT

OF PROFIT OR CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (TBExal) REKBAR (RBIES

ZLPEZ,E (the “Group”) set out on pages 160 to 273, which comprise B 1) SN FE160 A EF273HMAR A R

B the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 BWE  EPRENR2017F12A3188
December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or RAERARMBERRRARBEZA L
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, FENGFABRER  HRAZERAR
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the RERSEBHREREAETRER A
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, R BmEAME  BREEGHRRL
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a B o
summary of significant accounting policies.

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF N

COMPREHENSIVE In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give AZHBENRRZELRE M HRED LR

Lﬂiol"EqME a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of MAEBEMAE ((FEGHAMAE])

S the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated BN BBV REER ([BEMBR
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the XA AERPHEBER E2/RARN
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 201712 A31H 2 iR A M BRI KB E
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong REEZMBREMRESAE  YER
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have REB LRGP MZ BRR -
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

CONSOLIDATED

OF FRANCIAL Basis for opinion EREE

POSITION

e We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong A B B R IRF S & 5t A0 A& A M A
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our BREZER ([BEERER]) £1T
responsibilities under those standards are further described in FER - AZBEINZEERIETHRE
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated RAZBERE PO ZBARAEZERE
financial statements section of our report. We are independent MBI AAFENE T D FA - BRI
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for BEGMASNEESHRBR TR
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our (I=rR11) - Zl»"@%(ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ/\ e

g%ﬁfﬂgmﬁ) other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We Y ERETRIETHEMEREE - $V

CHANGES IN believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient BUEDAR{E - AR BEIPIRES R E IR E

EPE%L;@% and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. ziﬂ HEWMARZHBAMNE RREE

‘| 54 CPMC Holdings Limited #ig &3 AR A




Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
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financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEREREH EREMREZRNARRERERER
Goodwill impairment
BB

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard
36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to
annually test the amount of goodwill for impairment.
This annual impairment test was significant to our
audit because the net carrying amount of goodwill
of approximately RMB234 million as of 31 December
2017 was material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, management’s assessment
process was complex and highly judgmental and was
based on assumptions, specifically budgeted gross
margins and growth rates, which were affected by
expected future market or economic conditions.

REEBSFERFEICHEERE X BEXEEATSTE
ERERESE - ZEFERERFHE A% SR 2 iz
MENBEEZ - BRI ER2017F12A310 AH
PNARB2MEE L2 REFELGATBHREME 1
BEKX- I BEREFHEFRAEMESRREH
B WASTHRRAREE  LHEXFTEHAKRTRK
EOEMRRFEZTEEEF R RIEER -

Relevant disclosures are included in Note 3 and Note
15 to the financial statements.

HEREHR BR B A TS R R Y RE3 2 15 »

Our audit procedures included, among others,
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
by the Group. We reviewed assumptions relating to
the budgeted gross margins and growth rates for the
tinplate packaging cash-generating unit, the plastic
packaging cash-generating unit and aluminium
packaging cash-generating unit. We also focused on
the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about those
assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment
test was most sensitive, that was, those that had the
most significant effect on the determination of the
recoverable amount of goodwiill.

AzBRMONEZREFERE (AP fHMh E5EMf
ERNBRRETE - ARBMBERFOHEKRSE
HEy - PRERASELBEUNERERREELSE
Iz BEENERERETNEBEE - NEBE I
E EXBECHMRENHERMERABZRZEBR
FHRESRE - BRBRRDAHETEHE A KL< Bk
BERREATESE -
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Key audit matters (continued)

HEELEE (H)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREXSEE AZEREZFUNMBRARERER
Provision for trade receivables

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of trade
receivables of RMB1,517 million, which was included
in the amount of trade and bills receivables RMB1,631
million. Trade receivables constituted a significant
portion of total assets as at 31 December 2017 and
the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. When
determining whether a trade receivable is collectable,
significant management’s judgement is involved, taking
into account various factors; including the aging of
the balance, existence of disputes, recent historical
payment patterns and other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of the customer.

R2017%F12A318 » EZ UG ESHBARE1 5178
B UTEBERE SR REREEARKE1 6318
BN BIERFE017F12ANBHEEEZ®
Rebm -t EXEEREEEERR - ERENETE
ZSRBREE A TIREIRAEENERAE  TEES
BARAXR  BE&HIZER  RAGEEAMD  REBRAH
FEARERSEEMEE LM AER -

Relevant disclosures are included in Note 3 and Note
20 to the financial statements.

TERE I R B M TS AR M 53 8220

Our audit procedures included, among others,
assessing management’s processes and controls
relating to the monitoring of trade receivables
to identify collection risks. We also understood
management’s assessment on the recoverability and
tested the aging analysis of trade receivables. In
addition, we tested the receipts of cash after the year
end and checked, on a sample basis, the underlying
documents supporting the recoverability of the
outstanding balances.

AEZBENEZRF SR (AP eiR) M EEaRE
EHESRUGRBRIZFF R EE - ARRIEGRER - &
TZEREM T T AR IR B 0 B 5 R MGR AT R B 1 2 R
WA E 5 UK Z BREe DA © BESI - A BRER R
AR S UGR - IR E R 1 R B A aR T )
1 2 FERERE ARSI -

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR
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Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB MRS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
— =2 Year ended 31 December 2017
%é*ﬁﬁ% HE2017F12A318 FFE

INDEPENDENT 2017 2016
PR Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BUv RS Bfat AR®T T AREFTT
REVENUE WA 5 5,978,238 5,220,999
Cost of sales HER A 6 (5,017,347) (4,266,546)
Gross profit ESA 960,891 954,453
Other income and gains — net EMUA RS — F5E 5 49,633 65,248
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EIHER (286,891) (261,531)
AT Administrative expenses THER (269,548) (303,567)
N ETE Finance costs 7% E A 7 (43,839) (56,144)
EESPSRDF'T 113 Share of loss of an associate DME—REEE N TSR 18 (16) B
FARHEE PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX R P {884 A0 RS 6 410,230 398,459
Income tax expense FriSHiR > 10 (98,358) (100,488)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERH 311,872 297,971
Attributable to: FEAS -
Equity holders of the Company PIN/NGI =Y =N 310,511 294,071
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 1,361 3,900
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF 311,872 297,971
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME EARNINGS PER SHARE NATREBERBEAR
FRTERAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEAELERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 12
Basic (RMB) BEAR (AR¥T) 0.26 0.28
Diluted (RMB) g (ARBT) 0.26 0.28
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FEMBRAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
RARREHER
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Year ended 31 December 2017 p— 45 é A
HE2017F12A3181LFE i [T
2017 2016 INDEPENDENT
RMB’000 RMB'000 i
ARBTR ARETT BUsEms
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERE 311,872 297,971
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hitt2EBA (BE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be REZBRENHER
reclassified to profit or loss BacHMEE
in subsequent periods: WA/ (B3E) -
Exchange differences on translation of BREBIEBRZELER
foreign operations 155,027 (158,988) CONSOLIDATED
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR FEE{t2EMA / (F#H) o HRON o8
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B HBrHIE) 155,027 (158,988) L0SS
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEXEBALE pREE
THE YEAR 466,899 138,983
Attributable to: FEIG
Equity holders of the Company RAREAFEEA 465,538 135,083
Non-controlling interests FEIERR 1,361 3,900
466,899 138,983
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2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR%T T ARBTIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 13 4,696,016 4,016,613
Prepaid land lease payments JEM A E R 14 308,335 277,838
Deposits for purchase of items of BEVE WELRER
property, plant and equipment BHWES 61,712 65,598
Prepayments SEANEN 21 26,469 12,701
Goodwill i 15 233,973 207,951
Other intangible assets Hihm g s 16 31,360 32,718
Investment in a joint venture WER—REEDRE 17 799,065 -
Investment in an associate WER—FREEE QA 18 24,984 -
Deferred tax assets TR ITBE B 27 21,731 21,089
Total non-current assets BIERBNEE 6,203,645 4,634,508
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories PR 19 1,148,890 828,086
Trade and bills receivables B EWMT L EWNEZE 20 1,630,793 1,666,163
Prepayments, deposits and other TR e REM
receivables TEU 21 483,596 305,222
Pledged deposits [REEEEEEN 22 72,411 74,421
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBSEEY 22 711,179 098,083
Total current assets BREEE 4,046,869 3,871,975
CURRENT LIABILITIES RERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITIER 26 961,297 1,318,030
Trade and bills payables 2B RN FRENEE 23 1,249,039 895,766
Other payables and accruals HE bR BRI B 24 403,342 310,189
Tax payable RS TR 18 26,353 18,655
Total current liabilities wrRE ek 2,640,031 2,542,640
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETHE 1,406,838 1,329,335
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERADEME
LIABILITIES 7,610,483 5,963,843

CPMC Holdings Limited #igf 21 A R A F)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017 5 AH b Q)
R2017612A318 mE BN R
2017 2016 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 i
izt ARET T AREFT BIGHMRE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 7,610,483 5,963,843
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRITER 26 2,286,970 1,109,920
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIAEE 27 17,778 13,596
Government grants BRI # B 13,643 9,111
Total non-current liabilities BIERENBE 2,318,391 1,132,627 CONSOLIDATED
Net assets FaE 5,202,002 4,831,216 OF PROFTY OR
EQUITY s I
Equity attributable to equity AABREFFA
holders of the Company (LR
Share capital A& 7N 28 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves i 31 2,245,107 1,980,419
4,975,540 4,710,852
Non-controlling interests FEiER R 316,552 120,364
Total equity B 5,292,092 4,831,216 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
RAEZEARAR
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
DireCtOr Director SABERRER
EF EF

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BARNEHE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
é N 2
p— ——— o Year ended 31 December 2017
IV NNy == ﬁ BE2017F12A31ALFE
INDEPENDENT Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AUDITOR'S ARARAHENEL
gﬁgj;& R Share-based Exchange No-
WYL & Share payment Capital Stafutory ~ fluctuation Retained controling Total
capital reserve 1eserves feserve feserve profits Total interests equity
WA 3 73 ‘ .
bR BXAEE  ARE OAERE GE  BEAE A FHERER s
Notes RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000
W AREFn ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETT ARETL ARMTR
Asat 1 January 2016 H016F1718 2,336,168 1,922 245,663 311,641 (143074) 1,459,959 4,212,279 111,664 4323943
Proft for the year A - - - - - 0T 204071 3900 297971
Other comprehensive loss ERAMRERS:
CONSOLIDATED e
Exchange differences on HEBNEHR
STATEMENT ranslation of foreign ERZEE
ESSPSROF'T OR operaions - . . o (158989) o [158988) o (158989)
Eagr Total comprefensive income ERRENAEE
for the year - - - - (158988) 204,071 135,083 3,900 138,983
Termination of a subsicliary I IEN - - 9,493 (9,733) - - (240) - (240)
Capital contribution from non- ~~ JEEERRIERAEREA
controlling interests - - - - - - - 4800 4800
2015 final dividend declared ~ BER0IBERERE - - - - - (19%1) (1991 - (199%1)
Issue of shares at discount DiE{ R 0 394,265 18,780 - - - - 4304 - 413045
Transfer of share-based payment BRI R EREE
reserve upon the forfeiture or — ELARIAA
CONSOLIDATED expiry of share options RS AERE - (1,110) - - - 1,110 - - -
STATEMENT OF 2016 interim dividend N16FHEES 11 - - - - - (29364) (29,364 - (29.364)
COMPREHENSIVE Appropriation to the statutory  AREETEE
INCOME reserve 31 - - - 43318 - (43318) - - -
FEERAR As at 31 December 2016 R016F12A31H 2,730,433 19,592 255,156 345206 (302,062) 1662507 4710852 120,364 4831216
Attributable o equity holders of the Company
BRTRKRE AL
Share-based Exchange Non-
Share  payment Capital  Statutory fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
——————— N AR ERRE B B
CONSOLIDATED RE  BXGRE  EARE iRk i BEAR At FERER s
STATEMENT Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
OF FINANCIAL M ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
fﬂofg'ON . Asal T January 2017 H07E1A18 2730433 19592 255156 345206 (302,062 1662507 4710852 120360 4,831,216
QL VS Proft or the year EEHE - - - - - 305N 305M 1361 3MEn
Other comprehensive income — FEEHAENA :
for the year:
Exchange diflerences on BESNREL
translation of foreign EXES
operations - - - - 155,027 - 185,027 - 155,027
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2ERALE
for the year - - - - 155,027 310,511 465,538 1,361 466,899
CONSOLIDATED Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHELR 3 - - - - - - - 129605 129,605
STATEMENT OF Capital contribution from FEREEREREA
CHANGES IN non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - 65,222 65,222
EQUITY 016 nal diidend declared  BERNIGERERE 11 - - - - - (H7486)  (117456) - (117456)
SaRESHR Transfer of share-based payment BRI RUE E R
reserve upon the forfefture or — EELNRHA
expiry of share options ERRAGRE - (812) - - - 812 - - -
2017 interim dividend NI7EDHRE 1 - - - - - (83304 (833%) - (83300)
Appropriation to the statutory ~ ARZEEFEE
reserve 31 - - - 36,129 - (36,129) - - -
Asal3TDecember 2017 K017 12R31F 27043 TR0 25156 %B1F  (1470%5) 1796851 49750 31652 520209
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * BERGRABREE BN ERAR
RMB2,245,107,000 (2016: RMB1,980,419,000) in the consolidated LA BEEA R 245,107,0005T (2016
statement of financial position. ZF A SCHET,980,419,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE2017F12A318IEFE

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AREETTT AREFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHEECZRESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax BRET1S T AT AE 410,230 398,459
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs S ER 7 43,839 56,144
Share of loss ME—REE R REE
of an associate 18 16 -
Interest income FBUA 5 (13,243) (11,214)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items HEME - BEX
of property, plant and equipment ZiEIER
(W), B8 5 (11,939) 3,983
Depreciation e 6 263,570 268,772
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TES £ 0 A0 & T 5N
payments 6 7,660 6,728
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAih L 6 4,353 4,974
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of SRR - TR
trade receivables, RE MRS CRE
prepayments and other receivables Bm),RiE 6 (105) 4,424
Reversal of provision against inventories REETEE B 6 (2,402) (1,602)
Amortisation of government grants R T 478 B 2 8 (10,854) (10,082)
Foreign exchange differences, net PE H 182 558 5 11,339 1,480
Share-based payment expenses AR AERZ AT 6 - 18,780
702,464 740,846
Increase in inventories FEEMN (318,402) (135,928)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills E SR K
receivables W EER L
/(38 0) 35,384 (303,336)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, AN - He RHM
deposits and other receivables MR (3g0n), A (58,142) 18,421
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits = #FFR
(), E (30,784) 11,475
Increase in trade and bills payables B oEMNZ R
EANESES = 351,880 298,475
(Decrease)/increase in other payables E A SRR ERT IR
and accruals Crid), /10 (21,827) 29,929
Cash generated from operations REEEZ7IHS 660,573 659,882
Interest paid EATHLE (43,839) (56,144)
Mainland China tax paid BT R B AR IR (92,721) (102,367)
Net cash flows from operating activities EESEBIELE Y
e mEFE 524,013 501,371

Annual Report 2017 2017 [ #H4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
RERSRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TEHBRER

165



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
RERERER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
S mRM

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE

166

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017

T ASES KRS
,%?.:. ﬁ, lllbié‘zz HZE2017F12A318 1EFE

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Biat ARETT AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEEZ
ACTIVITIES ReRE
Interest received EHFE 5 13,243 11,214
Increase in prepayments, deposits and ERR B Rk
other receivables E Atb EUGRIZ N (51,284) -
Purchases of items of property, BEEWE BEX
plant and equipment JEIRE (747,275) (486,691)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits BEYE  BEX
for purchase of items of property, REEENES
plant and equipment () 77,308 (26,068)
Proceeds from disposal of items HEWE - BEX
of property, plant and equipment RAEIA B FTS50E 22,062 1,868
Addition to prepaid land lease payments ~ REBIEF THIE R 14 (2,840) (26,847)
Additions to other intangible assets HAb R A EE N 16 (2,995) (174)
Receipt of government grants BB R 11,930 11,930
Acquisition of subsidiaries BAMB AR 33 (72,449) (4,000)
Investment in an associate WE—FEtE N 18 (25,000) -
Investment in a joint venture RE—REEDHE 17 (799,065) -
Prepayment for acquisition of U B eI i e 2 2 TR 3R
non-controlling interest 21 (10,739) -
Entrusted loan to an associate M—REE QT2
ZiEER 21 (54,000) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities & FEFTHAZ
WEREE5E (1,641,104) (518,768)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares AR 1D BEATF1S5RIE - 395,602
Share issue expenses BN EETR - (1,337)
New bank loans FrERITE N 2,274,756 -
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (1,279,764) (346,850)
Dividends paid BERE (200,850) (49,315)
Capital contribution from IR IERHERIZA
non-controlling interests 65,222 4,800
Net cash flows from financing activities METEELY
REemEFHE 859,364 2,900
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HeRRESEEY
EQUIVALENTS WD RE (257,727) (14,497)
Cash and cash equivalents FReRBEEED
at beginning of year 998,083 995,928
Effect of foreign exchange rate RS & T
changes, net (29,177) 16,652
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRASRBREEEY
END OF YEAR 711,179 998,083
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BERBESEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RS AT
Cash and bank balances Re NIRTTLES 22 440,818 223,269
Deposits in COFCO Finance PP BEER AR
Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”), ([R5 1)
a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (RPEEEARLA
B AR 2173 22 270,361 774,814
Cash and cash equivalents as stated REMBRRER
in the consolidated statement of RERERERMYZ
financial position and the consolidated REeERIRSEEW
statement of cash flows 711,179 998,083
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Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2017 E ——
20174 12A31H  Jy N |:|:E

Corporate and Group Information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacture of
packaging products including beverage cans, food cans,
aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates,
steel barrels, round and square shaped cans and plastic
packaging in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or
“Mainland China”).

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017,
(i) COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (Hong

RAREEER

FREREERERERAR ([RAAF])
EREBSFMRLHEREL
RN A AN A1) 720094 11
B16HEBBH AR ZMBR A A
([B22Fr]) ERET - AARZ5E
At BB B RFEES TITE
2625RH1E K[E33%E o

AR —FKEEERRTA - AR
ARENBAR (BBIAEE]D
TREPEARKNE ([HEH] %
[FEA]) CEREBRKER
BREAKE RniE RF#E
BE - H2E - W HERERE

Ba% -

M2016F 12 A31H K2017F12 A
318 (WP EEE(F8) BERA

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBERME

FIVE-YEAR
Kong)”) beneficially held approximately 28.15% of the A(hEES] EaFaARd FINANCIAL
issued shares of the Company, being the single largest #28.15% 2 B 817 + BARF] ﬁ%’;{"ﬁ’;{'&g
il z=

shareholder of the Company; and (i) Bx&BERMNAE
R 2 A] (ORG Packaging Co. Ltd.*) (“ORG Packaging”)
beneficially held approximately 22.93% of the issued
shares of the Company, being the second largest
shareholder of the Company. COFCO (Hong Kong) is a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and ultimately held by
COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”), a state-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC. ORG Packaging is a company
established in the PRC and listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

* For identification purposes only

ZERRE—ER R(iNRheBE
EpERAR (REeEK] B
W B ARAIK22.93% 2 EEITR
> BRARBZE KRR - hig
FERRERBAMKLZAR - I
mPREEAERAR ([F]) &K
KE -PEARTEEMzZEAL
¥ BRine X /EPBEEMKL
ERFNEHZ M LT 2R -
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 4= 31 December 2017

R s = Y 20174128318
CONSOLIDATED 1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. REAREBEER (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

MELTER
ARRMEIEMBARMFBN

Information about subsidiaries

FEREMER . o i Aiari
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: AN
Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
NOTES TO Place of AR
FINANCIAL registration Registered REBAL Principal
;T)_Iggg;:gs Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ AR EEH BN E# i TEER
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging PRC/Mainland China US$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* HE/RENH 30,050,000 ¢ packaging
MNP RESREBRAF TERREE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP PRC/Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Industries Ltd.* HE/ REN 30,290,000% 7T metal and plastic
FIVE-YEAR ENEBEHREBRAR packaging
FINANCIAL TRNZRAREE
SUMMARY
TERBHE ) . .
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd. **  PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of metal
aHEBRREARAR e/ HER 25,000,000% 7 packaging
CEAREE
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$64,500,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
mMEEEERAR HE/RERH 64,500,000% 7 packaging
CEAREE
Tianjin CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
ReRagERAR) E/E R 50,000,000% 7T packaging
TEAREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$40,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
HiERE (KH) ERA HE/ RENH 40,000,000% 7 packaging
TERREE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
REATREERRDR™ HE /BN ARH17,000,0007C packaging
EOREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
FiEek (RUE) BRARN B/ hE R 30,000,000 7T packaging
CEAREE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* HE/RENH 39,750,000 7 packaging
MM RREERAR CRERAE
1 08 CPMC Holdings Limited #1148 & 312 5 1R A )
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Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. RARIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARFMNEEMRBARMFBEN
follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
Place of KATFG
registration Registered REBAL Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ SRR EEH e E# BE TIEER
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.** FE/RE R 3,800,000£7 packaging
LEnEEBIEER A PRRFLE
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
FERE (BIL) ERARN T8/ RER 24,200,000 7T packaging
CREREE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
mEEE (BET) BRAR HE /R ER 17,750,000 7T packaging
TEOEEE
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* RE/ hEN 60,000,000% 7T packaging
BN RREERA R CEBRREE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.* e/ HER 10,000,00057% packaging
Roak (K2) BRAR PRaREE
Sino-Asia Plastic Package PRC/Mainland China US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd.** HE /R ER 7,200,000% 7% packaging
PURGEROERRAA BROEEE
Victoria Package (Suzhou) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.*** RE/ hEN AE#100,000,0007T packaging
FNEBREERAT ™ BBRREE
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.* e/ HER 10,000,00057C packaging
gEaR (K2) BRAR PRaREE
CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RETRERBBRAR HE /R ER 20,000,000F 7T packaging
EOKEE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.** B/ rER 30,000,000% 7T packaging
HETBRBERAT CEEEEE
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt F5 S R M

31 December 2017
20179 12A31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. ARIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (F)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARFMEENBRAAINFERBWN
follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
Place of NG R
registration Registered REBAL Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£ AR EEH gafRA E# M TEER
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd.” PRC/Mainland China US$404,090,000 - 100 Investment holding
(“CPMC Investment”) HE/HER 404,090,000%7C REER
HEAERERRAR
(MhERERE])
CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Package Co., Ltd.* HE/ RER 10,000,000% T packaging
g (BN ZRERERAR ERaREE
FC Packaging (Harbin) Limited ** PRC/Mainland China RMB80,800,000 - 91.3  Manufacture of metal
KERE (BRAE) BRAF e/ RER AK#80,800,0007C packaging
CEAREE
Fujian FC Packaging Limited * PRC/Mainland China US$3,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
REXEASERAF HE /BN 3,000,000 7T packaging
CERREE
CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel PRC/Mainland China US$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* B/ E R 8,000,000%7 packaging
BN RERERR R TEAREE
Weigang Packaging (Sugian) PRC/Mainland China US$6,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of plastic
Co., Ltd.* e/ HER 6,000,000 70 packaging
BEEERRARAA BRERAE
Suzhou CPMC Co,, Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
fEaE (BN ERAR RE/HER 5,000,000% 7T packaging
TEBREE
Xiamen CPMC Co., Ltd.™ PRC/Mainland China RMB 12,000,000 - 60  Manufacture of metal
fiERE (EM) RAA FE/ RER AR12,000,0007C packaging
CEAREE
Fujian CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd.* e/ HER 20,000,000% 7 packaging
RRPERERRAF) TERREE

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT
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Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. RARIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARFMNEEMRBARMFBEN
follows: (continued) T ()
Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
Place of KAFFG
registration Registered REBAL Principal
Name and business share capital Direct  Indirect activities
£8 SRR EEH ESafRE E# B TEER
Harvest Epoch Packaging Co.,Ltd.**  PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 - 51 Manufacture of metal
I EERERAR HE /R ER 60,000,000 packaging
cEAREE
Chengdu CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd** B/ E R AE#50,000,0007 packaging
KT EREERAR TEAREE
CPMC (Jiaxing) Barrel Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RATRERERAR FE/ hER 10,000,000%7 packaging
TEAREE

* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures
***  Domestic-funded enterprises

# Formerly known as “Chengdu Gaosen Packaging Container
Co., Ltd.” until its name was changed on 10 July 2017.

The English names of all the above companies are direct

transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries
are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another

member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

* YEBEE

= A B E

o REPE

* BB EFERERSERA
Al BEZR2017F7H10H Z &
E .

R A T B S AT Ty X
M EENEETE -

B A R AR TE B IS AR R
MEBLKEREIFEHAT - LK
S EHAERBEAN S —E
KB ARIEZ -

ERBINETRB/TIEXELAFE
KENBRAKEEAR D FEEN
ARRMBEAR - EFRR - 7Y
Hitfi B R RMFReERELE
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂﬁ%iﬁ% M{I'EI 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2017. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Clarification of the
Scope of HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements
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2017412 H31H
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁi 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (continued)

The nature and the impact of the amendments are
described below:

a. Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities is
provided in note 34(a) to the financial statements.

b. Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available
against which it can utilise a deductible temporary
difference, needs to consider whether tax law restricts
the sources of taxable profits against which it may
make deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance on how an entity should determine
future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of
some assets for more than their carrying amount. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group
has no deductible temporary differences or assets that
are in the scope of the amendments.

c. Amendments to HKFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12, other than those disclosure
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of HKFRS
12, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate, or a portion of its interest in a
joint venture or an associate that is classified as held
for sale or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale. The amendments have had no impact
on the Group’s financial statements as the Group has
no subsidiary, joint venture or associate classified as a
disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2017.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensatior?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Long-term Interests in Associated
and joint Ventures

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments®

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS
28!

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS
11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 232

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

Notes to Financial Statements
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CONSOLDATED 2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EMEMEERER ZE B
STATEMENT OF Financial Reporting Standards (continued) BmEER (&)

CASH FLOWS
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below. Of those
standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable
for the Group’s financial year ending 31 December 2018
and are expected to have impact upon adoption. Whilst
management has performed a detailed assessment of the
estimated impacts of these standards, that assessment is
based on the information currently available to the Group.
The actual impacts upon adoption could be different to
those below, depending on additional reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the Group
at the time of applying the standards.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August
2016 that address three main areas: the effects of
vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction; the classification of
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i N2
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meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with
the share-based payment; and accounting where a
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based
payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based
payment transaction with net share settlement features
for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when
certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an
equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification.
On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments
without restating prior periods, but retrospective application
is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three amendments
and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate
comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1
January 2018. During 2017, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification
and measurement, impairment and other adjustments are
summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect a significant impact on its
balance sheet or equity on applying the classification
and measurement requirements of HKFRS 9. It
expects to continue measuring at fair value all
financial assets currently held at fair value.

Loans as well as trade receivables are held to collect
contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise
to cash flows representing solely payments of principal
and interest. The Group analysed the contractual
cash flow characteristics of those instruments and
concluded that they meet the criteria for amortised
cost measurement under HKFRS 9. Therefore,
reclassification for these instruments is not required.
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Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected
credit losses on all of its loans and trade receivables,
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group will
apply the simplified approach and record lifetime
expected losses on all trade receivables. The Group
has expected that the provision for impairment will
increase upon the initial adoption of the standard.

(c) Other adjustments
In addition to the adjustments described above, on
adoption of HKFRS 9, other items of the primary
financial statements such as deferred taxes,
investments in the associate and joint venture, will be
adjusted as necessary. The exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations will also be adjusted.
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an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’'s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide
a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application
of the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued
amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation
issues on identifying performance obligations, application
guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are
also intended to help ensure a more consistent application
when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost
and complexity of applying the standard. The Group
plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at
1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the
new requirements only to contracts that are not completed
before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the
transitional adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon
initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material. During
2017, the Group has performed a preliminary assessment
on the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15.
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Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The Group’s principal activities consist of the manufacture
and sale of packaging products for consumer goods. The
Group does not expect the adoption of HKFRS 15 will have
a significant impact on the Group’s financial performance
and financial position. However, the presentation and
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are more detailed
than those under the current HKAS 18. The presentation
requirements represent a significant change from current
practice and will significantly increase the volume of
disclosures required in the Group’s financial statements.
Many of the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are
new and the Group has assessed that the impact of some
of these disclosure requirements will be significant. In
particular, the Group expects that the notes to the financial
statements will be expanded because of the disclosure
of significant judgements made on how the transaction
prices have been allocated to the performance obligations,
and the assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone
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revenue recognised from contracts with customers into
categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by
economic factors. It will also disclose information about
the relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated
revenue and revenue information disclosed for each
reportable segment.
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class
of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such
as change in the lease term and change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate
used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue
to classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases
and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and
lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from
1 January 2019 and is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it
will choose to take advantage of the practical expedients
available and which transition approach and reliefs will
be adopted. As disclosed in note 36 to the financial
statements, at 31 December 2017, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in aggregate of approximately RMB4,809,000. Upon
adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein
may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed
to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and
lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited
to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and
short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs
chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of
adoption.
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Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 issued in January 2018 clarify
that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests
in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is applied and does not include long-term interests that in
substance form part of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture, to which the equity method has not been
applied. Therefore, an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than
HKAS 28, including the impairment requirements under
HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term interests. HKAS
28 is then applied to the net investment, which includes
the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of
the net investment in the associate or joint venture. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments on 1 January
2019 and will assess its business model for such long-term
interests based on the facts and circumstances that exist
on 1 January 2019 using the transitional requirements in
the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the relief
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance
on how to determine the date of the transaction when
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives
or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use
on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment)
or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising
from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of
recognising the related item, the entity must determine
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation
on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective basis,
either from the beginning of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning
of the prior reporting period presented as comparative
information in the financial statements of the reporting
period in which the entity first applies the interpretation.
The Group expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively
from 1 January 2018. The interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred)
when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does
it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how
an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either
fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle,
issued in March 2017, sets out amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28. Except for the amendments to
HKFRS 12 which have been adopted by the Group for the
current year’s financial statements, the Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018. None of the
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
NOTES TO impact on the Group. Details of the amendments to HKFRS
FINANCIAL 1 and HKAS 28 are as follows:
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HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards: Deletes the short-term
exemptions for first-time adopters because the reliefs
provided in the exemptions are no longer applicable.
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venture capital organisation, or other qualifying
entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an
investment-by-investment basis, to measure its
investments in associates and joint ventures at fair
value through profit or loss. If an entity that is not itself
an investment entity has an interest in an associate or
joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may
elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by
that investment entity associate or joint venture to the
investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests
in subsidiaries when applying the equity method.
This election is made separately for each investment
entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the
date on which (i) the investment entity associate or
joint venture is initially recognised; (ii) the associate or
joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (iii)
the investment entity associate or joint venture first
becomes a parent. These amendments should be
applied retrospectively.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

BREEBRIEERENEBNE M
B ERMNERAI A8
RERERASHRE SRR
EERERBERRRAZED
EREBEEBBRRRATER
E-WASYIRETENE
EBRMEFRREERNBZE AR
REELEBEARET  AIRE
RARDARERREZRE
ERNBERRRAEREY
SZEEEBNBERRRAE
EERHE AR SRR AN
DNFERE - EER()VIF
ERANEEBNBMERRHA
SEZH (INEERRHE
BRERBIRETRE - K(iii)
REBBHNBERRRAZD
FERRBTRAR (ABRE
ERE) HEREERMEZ
NEAHAEEEBIIEL - %
FEANEENER -



2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, issued
in February 2018, sets out amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2019. None of the
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
impact on the Group. Details of the amendments are as
follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that,
when an entity obtains control of a business that
is a joint operation, it must apply the requirements
for a business combination achieved in stages
and remeasure its entire previously held interest
in the joint operation at fair value.

e HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Clarifies that
when an entity that participates in, but does not
have joint control of a joint operation, obtains joint
control over that joint operation that is a business,
it does not remeasure the interest it previously
held in that joint operation.

e HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Clarifies that an entity
recognises all income tax consequences of
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive
income or equity, depending on where the entity
recognised the originating transaction or event
that generated the distributable profits giving rise
to the dividend.

e HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs: Clarifies that an
entity treats as part of general borrowings any
specific borrowing originally made to develop
a qualifying asset, and that is still outstanding,
when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare that asset for its intended use or sales
are complete.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in an associate and a joint venture
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial

RBEARARAELENRE
BERR/AKERE-—RTIR
20% AR RETHA REDD
B AAHEZRESAZEN -
BERFENENRZEREHREY
MBEMELERROES - BETRE
B K EIE B ELORE S -

BELEE-HEARRYE  HLH
BEARENRZITOTBELEES
BOREEFERFEN - HFEE
B RRERANNEH R BARHM
KB ZES - KRZESIEERRE
PERHFAZHEGEZETTED
—BREBZRERFIE -

AEERBERRRAGELENK
BENRASERBEERGIHERMNG

FIVE-YEAR ;e e 2

FINANCIAL position at the Group’s share of net assets under the BEFEREMBEEERESH

%UEME’?%F;E}H equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. BRRRIIER - EEABARK AT
i =

186

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
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other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

ATEE ()
BB T AT B S BB A T EAOR
BAERAME HREHATEE
SERTEEEANRERTIBA
BHRE TR AT ESRAESE

NOTES T0 Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F1 — EHERAHRBEEBEBER
FINANCIAL in active markets for identical assets or TEBRTISHERE CRE
;;;;fg%‘gs liabilities HE)

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which g2 — ERHAFEREmMS

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,

BEAWMABE (B&
sk ) RIERR @A

either directly or indirectly FUEMHER A
Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which F3H — ERHEAFEREMmMS
the lowest level input that is significant BERNNAE KK
to the fair value measurement is BRa ABHEHEET
— unobservable P
FINANCIAL
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TFEHHE

190

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 FESHBERBE (F) CONSOLIDATED
(continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) FEemEERE (K) SRARREE
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting RNERERRDTEREEDRA
period as to whether there is an indication that previously TRTEERNHEEBEETBEFRE
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may KBFE LD - AR LR - Al
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable ETANE &5 - BE (BRI
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment BEEERNBESEERNEEE
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there L%—Mﬁl@ SREFTANMG B PR
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the CEeREITERARKRBEFE
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount EEE?JE ZIEE EWRBEEEE F’:ﬁ:ﬁg&?
higher than the carrying amount that would have been BEREREE (BMNBRITE #H) - STATEMENTS
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no BEBERERNEEPRHG ABRR BE =t r
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. o

A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties BEAL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: TH & ATHRREAREE A
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that (@) BR—BATHZEBEATHR FIVE-YEAR
person’s family and that person o M AL FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
. . . s - RERHHE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) =B HERIESAREE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) *"EEREERTES
%,
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (iii) 7%$’$I_JZ$EI HESs
of the Group or of a parent of the Group; REINEEEEENKS
or (9
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) A—EERE A T I &M E
conditions applies: JEERE
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEBRAEERFE—%
same group; El:0)p 4= NS
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) " HEBRS HEREY
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow e ol/NE A = =1
subsidiary of the other entity): S—HEENERF W
BARISRAZNMBAR)
(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (iii) u/< a‘&%&$‘§ E &R
same third party; ZHRMEERE
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (ivy " HEBAE—HE=FE
the other entity is an associate of the third entity; BreaErsE M5 —F'EEJ
B AZE=-FEREN
/NS
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for (v) ZERBANEENEKRSE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or HBEBANEENESRET
an entity related to the Group; RIREAETE
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Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
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FINANGIAL Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in W BB REEH (ERIERIN)
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and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:
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Buildings 20 to 30 years BF 205 2305
Leasehold improvements 310 5 years HEMERE 3FELF
Machinery and equipment 12 to 20 years H2s R s 12F E204F
Vehicles 5 years BT A 5%
Electronic equipment, office BB - PORME

equipment and fixtures 5 years MEE 5%
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machinery and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Ezl.i%ﬁiwtj.%}

2017412 H31H

2.4 TESTHEHE (F)

- MENRRBRTE (&)

fW—TRBWE  BFELRESIEDHE
BETRMAERFY  MZED
X BERREORABEAER
BREED ZETADE - MEH
oA ERITE - FIEREE - AIES
FHRFENEHIREMREE
FREBET R R EERE
HEREE

ME - BEERESBETALNS
BANIERINHEXTAH AR
B Bk th & 1 & B T fr] 487 F) 25 B
RIFHER - REULBREEEFH
BRERERANLEXRAABEER
MEEMHEMSHRIBFRERE
BZZE® -

ERTIRELERZRNET M|
- #BEREER  NIEEETH
RKE  REARBAEMRESEAR
MmAEFE - RABREETHRE
TRREEKARFEHREEEENE
FAEEERA - R TRREKA
RREEHRDBEME - BFE LK
BEEE SRR -

BILEE (BERMD)

121 1) o s B0 B T2 B B IR W) 2 W R B
BRAGE - KBAH 2P WEE
EEMRAT ZEERYEBH
MRFE BEEENAERFH
e RBRLER - AIERFHA
ROELEEBRNAIEREESF
RAEE  THERETETRETR
BVEERELBRRE- JERF
HBERNEBIEENEHFHLE
HITAE PR E @Y BFE AR
HEITER -

BEEMNNZBECELEM YL
RERRERZELEELETRE
A WEBZEETTHE - A
TCREFRARERZENEEZAE
REHRSBFRN  NEEFER
BRZFHRGHEBEER S -
28 - 7€ SR 2 A £ /A F 5
BRBRREIERENE

Annual Report 2017 201 7EE E H 4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TERBHE

193



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FARSRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE

194

Notes to Financial Statements
Eji‘%#ﬁ%lzﬁ%:{ 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line

basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or

loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which

does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8

years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with

customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but

are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
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presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in administrative
expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement
of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals and interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:
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Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity futures contracts and foreign currency
contracts, to hedge its market price risk. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by HKAS
39 is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination
is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be
recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig kB R AR

FE
TFERKAEE]ZERFEMEDN
REEINE - ERAERER MK
i ANERINEFEFE B8
REEDBAAR BEERBSBHRAR
Bl E R AR EE & o A 2 IRF
EBENREGBFEEIRTRRHE
iRy TR HAEE AE VAN S AT ANRT & -

RERREEEY
BERARERERME > RE KR
SEBYVERREFRSE  AHER
NABERER S NMBEES B
EEFRREMNE -—REBAK=
BEARIPNESESRBMERE
MEBREREENRITES KR
REBMBEERHMERED -

I HRREME > RELREF
BYEEREITEXRIINEFRS
BERRTRES (BEEHEFR) -

BE
WERBEEMHEBERBEY O
EHHEE) FARAEFTEFER
M AEEER - RIEREE B
WRBER SEfAET ARAES &8 -

HEFTRNFZEEKL  RIERNE
BEREARRFEREEEEHNR
KX ERBEHRNIFE - FAFH
A EENITRBELRE - JIF
MBERFT ABSE

REBEHTERNKARBENS
BRERQNFETE - H@UORE L
METREHEN —RESIERNE
B R(i) s R 2 R (i iE
) RIBR AT R 15 5 R A REt
B _ETHNBRRELE -



2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
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in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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Employee benefits EEER
Share-based payments KRG BERZ T

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Note 29 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
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and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Pension scheme and retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
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salaries of its employees to the retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions. Contributions made to the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB”). The functional currency of the Company is the
Hong Kong dollar. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Renminbi at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in retained
profits. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
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translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated loss
arising from the inability of its customers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, customers’
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If
the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate
so that the actual impairment loss might be higher than
expected, the Group would be required to revise the
basis of making the allowance and its future results would
be affected. Further details are given in Note 20 to the
financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2017 was RMB233,973,000 (2016:
RMB207,951,000). Further details are given in Note 15 to
the financial statements.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Recognition of share-based payment expenses for shares
issued at discount

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company
entered into subscription agreements with the Company’s
directors and other employees of the Group to issue shares
at discount to the then market price of the Company’s
shares for the purpose to provide them with incentives
and rewards for their services rendered to the Group. The
difference between the total fair values of the shares issued
at discount and the total consideration received by the
Group is accounted for as share-based payment expenses.

The fair values of these shares issued at discount were
valued by an external valuer, taking into account of the
terms and conditions of these shares as stipulated in the
subscription agreements upon which the shares were
issued. These valuations require the Company to make
estimates about certain key inputs, in particular the liquidity
discounts resulting from the lock-up periods of these
shares, and hence they are subject to uncertainty.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB21,731,000 (2016: RMB21,089,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences will be
utilised, deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary
differences arising from impairment provisions for property,
plant and equipment, inventories and receivables,
decelerated tax depreciation and amortisation, certain
accrual items and unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2017
was RMB9,399,000 (2016: RMB5,130,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2017 was
RMB24,995,000 (2016: RMB62,617,000). Further details
are contained in Note 27 to the financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset's remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

4. Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by
three business units based on their products and services
as follows:

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products,
which include three-piece beverage cans, food cans
(including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal
caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels,
round and square shaped cans and other metal
packaging;

(b) Aluminium packaging — the Group uses aluminium
as the main raw material for its aluminium packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece cans and
one-piece cans; and

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily
use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles
and related plastic-made products.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Business unit performance is evaluated based on revenue,
as explained in the table below:

4,

RETRER

REEME  AREA—ELED
- BREM  AJREEM&RS
N=ZEXRBELFTIT

(a)

FR#EeR - AKEFERSFO
HERESOHEBRERNT
ZRME - HPBE=ZRREH
- RmE(REHNE) -
RGE BE  H2HE - W
B HEEREMSEREK

850 0 3 — 7 % B 8 7 58 fF
ARBRBRERNEERH
K EB@EAL RN R RE
FE R

PEER-AKENZEER
KERIEZRRE - KEK
W EFEMNZRBMMA A
BAa% - BEDR - ESHHRH
MEARAEBRM -

EREEBERAREXBELN
E USERD B MR HIE
HORGE - BRI TIIZEA
HEITRHE - R R

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTF T ARBFIT

Tinplate packaging BAEgaE 3,268,923 2,737,677
Aluminium packaging e 2,184,129 2,038,065
Plastic packaging BB 525,186 445,257
5,978,238 5,220,999

Geographical information

As the Group’s major operations and customers are located
in Mainland China, no further geographical segment
information is provided.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB1,911,026,000 (2016:
RMB1,830,985,000) was derived from the five largest
customers.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT
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Revenue, Other Income and Gains — Net 5.

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discounts during the
year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and net gains is as
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WA ~ Efbg AR W zs — R

WARFAMEEmHNERFE -
RIBERERE ST -

AT A - E A R e @

follows: DT
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue A
Sale of goods HEEm 5,978,238 5,220,999
Other income HApl A
Bank interest income IRITFEHA 8,280 3,854
Interest income from COFCO KB e RS FI B U
Finance (Note 38(a)) (M1:£38(a)) 4,183 7,360
Interest income from an associate RE—KEE R AN
(Note 38(a)) FBWA (H1z238(a)) 780 -
Government grants* B L 27,564 52,006
40,807 63,220
Gains — net Wzt — 558
Gain/(loss) on disposal of items of HEME  BEK&
property, plant and equipment HEEE W (E1E) 11,939 (3,983)
Foreign exchange differences, net HINEE 2= RE R (11,339) (1,480)
Other gains H bl 8,226 7,491
8,826 2,028
49,633 65,248

*

The government grants are granted by the PRC'’s local
authority to support local companies. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

Y BTFRERE TS B E BT IR T
X IFE U A] o sm L B A i R
R R F IR o
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 6. Profit before Income Tax 6. BREFEFHIFE
STATEMENT OF
%AAS':E;LQ‘:VYES% The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after RNEBBRFTS B ATRDE D& MR
. charging/(crediting): (3t A\) AT IEB 18323 -
2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iitz3 ARET T ARBTT
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERA 5,018,252 4,270,281
Realised and unrealised fair value TTESmIADEN
NOTES T0 losses/(gains) on derivative RAREBRAT(E
FINANCIAL _ e ‘o ey e
STATEMENTS financial instruments, net FEE S (Wax) 25 1,497 (2,133)
BB ERRE Reversal of provision against BHTFERE
inventories (2,402) (1,602)
Cost of sales SHEMA 5,017,347 4,266,546
Depreciation e 13 263,570 268,772
Amortisation of land lease payments £ 30 & Fi i 14 7,660 6,728
Amortisation of other intangible Efh S A
assets 16 4,353 4,974
FVEVEAR Research and development costs: B A -
FINANCIAL Current year expenditure AEERZ 16,818 12,764
Sﬁ“g;}f%?ﬁ;g Minimum lease payments under KEHE THEMAS
. operating leases 14,480 24,839
Auditor’s remuneration: ZHMB 2 -
Audit service ZEPRTE 1,750 1,750
Non-audit services FEZHIRTE 1,050 1,042
2,800 2,792
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment ‘& 5 FEWEL - T84 3%
of trade receivables, R Eo A R
prepayments and other CRERE), RE*
receivables” (105) 4,424
Employee benefit expense EERNER (824
(including directors’ and BEEREFSITHAE
chief executive’s remuneration): i) -
Wages and salaries TERF® 488,698 475,536
Pension scheme contributions** RN FH B 50,270 47,998
Other benefits E AR F 33,017 33,509
Share-based payment expenses LARG D A EERE S 1+
i< 30 - 18,780
571,985 575,823
*  The impairment of trade receivables, prepayments and other B GREN  FETRE M ER K
receivables is included in administrative expenses in the JEEFALF S B kA2 TTIHE
consolidated statement of profit or loss. e
*  As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no forfeited = R20174F12A31H » 7% B i #
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the EURUYG K Al AR E R K EJEZ
pension schemes in future years (2016: Nil). RIKFEIHF (2016F - #E) °

21 o CPMC Holdings Limited #1148 & 312 5 1R A )




7. Finance Costs 7.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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2017412 H31H

MBEER

TINRHBEERDMN

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETIT

Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 73,004 72,530
Less: Interest capitalised B BERLE (29,165) (16,386)
43,839 56,144

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERFETHAEZME

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

BEEBBERIMBRATES
EWARB (T EMmHRA]D) - FEELQA
& 1 $383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) R (f)fE
ARAR (BEEEFZER) 86
FoEf  FRNEZEREBITRABZ
e HBELT -

Group

AEH
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Fees we 1,083 872

Other emoluments: EMET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREYRER 1,656 1,781
Performance related bonuses* FIR B IEAT 2,287 1,498
Share-based payment expenses AR D AER S HRAX - 4,456
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B 193 179
4,136 7,914
5,219 8,786

*

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to
bonus payments which are determined as a percentage of
the profit after tax of the Group.

Y RRAETHTEFAREZFREL
HEFEEREMET Z AL °
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

CONSOLIDATED 8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERFEMTBAEZHME
STATEMENT OF (Continued) (&)
CASH FLOWS
FEREMER . i - _
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANTEIIFNITESTNSE
during the year were as follows: ca NN
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
L‘&TAENSJEL Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo B RN S A 303 257
STATEMENTS Mr. Fu Tingmei BEERfE 303 257
BBERNTE Mr. Andrew Y. Yan' B A - 143
Mr. Pun Tit Shan' T A 303 71
909 728
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAWEIEN TEILIFRNITE
independent non-executive directors during the year FERHMEB (20165 : &) -
(2016: Nil).
FIVE-YEAR _ _
FINANCIAL (b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITESE kHTEERETE
SUMMARY the chief executive THAEBR
TERBHE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses ~ contributions  remuneration
§6 28R RB Ui A Bhe

fie  ENEN  RERA BERMEX HERR 4
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARMTI  ARMTR ARMTr  ARMAR

2017 0178
Executive directors: #EE:
M. Zhang Xin iy - 993 1,235 - 115 2,343
M. Zhang Ye RELE - 663 1,052 - 7 1,793
- 1,656 2,281 - 193 4,136
Non-executive directors: FTEE:
Mr. Zhou Yuan BEEE 87 - - - - 87
Mr. Shen Tao bl 87 - - - - 87
Mr. Li Jian? B - - - - - -
Ms. Yu Youzhi? ELL e - - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng BaipEs - - - - - -
1 1,69 2,087 - 193 4310

21 8 CPMC Holdings Limited dr#g 6 $1%f5 AR A &)
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8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERFETBAEZHME CONSOLIDATED
(continued) (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
_ _ SEBERER
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) BITES FYITESRETE
the chief executive (continued) THAE (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind honuses expenses  contributions  remuneration
5 2R Ee WRAA it/ %2 R
ik BN REEL ARSARY HEiSS e FINANCIAL
RMB000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 STATEMENTS
ARRTT  AREFR  ARETR  AREBTT  ARETRT  ARETR CEE L
2016 2016%
Executive directors: HEE:
Mr. Zhang Xin® TR - 1,113 1,012 2,652 121 4898
Mr. Zhang Ye® REA - 668 486 1,804 58 3016
- 1,781 1,498 4,456 179 7914
Non-executive directors: FnEE: FIVE-YEAR
Mr. Zhou Yuan* AELE 72 - - - - 72 FINANCIAL
; SUMMARY
Vi Shen Tao* iy 72 - - - - 12 RERBHE
Mr. Ning Gaoning* EREEL - - - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng? BHELE - - - - - -
Mr. Wan Zaotian® ERmED - - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei® ERE - - - - - -
Mr. Li Jian® Bgpiss - - - - - -
Mr. Chen Qianzheng® BRAT o Ao - - - - - -
144 1,781 1,498 4,456 179 8,058
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CONSOLIDATED 8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERFETHAEBZHME
STATEMENT OF (continued) (&)
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) MITESE  FPTESRETE

the chief executive (continued)

! On 1 September 2016, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan resigned as
the Company’s independent non-executive director,
and Mr. Pun Tit Shan was appointed as the Company's
independent non-executive director.

2 On 15 August 2017, Mr. Li Jian resigned as the
Company's non-executive director, and Ms. Yu Youzhi

THAE (&)

! R2016%F9H1H » B # 7
LB ARRG BT ITE
F B EEZ(TE
KRB L IHBTEE »

2 R2017#8H15H » F# 5%
EHAIRRAFPTES

L‘&TAENSCTEL was appointed as the Company’s non-executive MEREL +EF BRG]
STATEMENTS director. FERTTESE -

BHRRME

3 On 19 July 2016, Mr. Zhang Ye was appointed as the
general manager, and Mr. Zhang Xin ceased to serve
as the general manager but remain as the chairman

3 Ro016F7H19H - K #E %
LT (T BAGEEE - [k AT
LT FHIEFABAEEE - (]

of the board of directors. On 22 December 2016, Mr. FEFEFEFE - K20169F12
Zhang Ye was appointed as the Company’s executive H22H - KREEFLAEEEZ TR
director. KRB ZHITESE °

N On 25 February 2016, Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Zhou
Zheng resigned as the Company’s non-executive

1 R2016FE2H25H - E 5 E
TR BB L BEFAR LR E]

E:\I(I/E\I\TCEOAFE directors, and Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao were HPITEE  BARFEERT
SUMMARY appointed as the Company’s non-execultive directors. Bk EEZE T RA R A

RESHAE TEF -
5 On 22 December 2016, Mr. Wan Zaotian and Mr. Hu ° Ro016F12H22H - HFH
Yonglei resigned as the Company’s non-executive e R KBS EFERL
directors, and Mr. Li Jian and Mr. Chen Qianzheng were AIHEBTEE  WmEESLE
appointed as the Company’s non-execultive directors. R B B 56 A IS B AR

FIFEBITESE -

220

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

Notes:

During the year ended 31 December 2016, ordinary shares
of the Company were issued at discount to Mr. Zhang Xin
and Mr. Zhang Ye under the Subscription Agreement (as
defined in Note 30), further details of which are set out in
Note 30 to the financial statements. During the year ended
31 December 2016, the share-based payment expenses
relating to the shares issued at discount to Mr. Zhang Xin
and Mr. Zhang Ye were approximately RMB2,652,000 and
RMB1,804,000, respectively.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

FALESEFRBEA LR
BERREREME -

B F2016FE 124310 1F F/&F IR
BREGE (T&EZNH30) - &
R A EBR I ITEE 7T T RAT o
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Five Highest Paid Employees IEFMESHES CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

The five highest paid employees during the year included FANRLEFHEENEERREME iﬁ%’gigg

two directors (2016: two directors), details of whose EE (2016F MEES) £FH < .

remuneration are set out in Note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining three (2016: three) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

B EN EXHEES - F RRHB=
£ (2016% : =%) BB HHHEA
AMEFREBTRA B R R
SHEWT -

2017 2016 NOTES TO

) , FINANCIAL

RMB 00_0 RM,B OO_O STATEMENTS

AR®F T AREFIT BEEEH
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &% -« EBI R EWETN 1,546 1,567
Performance related bonuses FIRAEENTEAL 1,905 1,197
Share-based payment expenses LARGD BERE S A - 3,183
Pension scheme contributions IRIRESET &I 235 176
3,686 6,123

The number of non-director and non-chief executive

MEEATHERNZMEIFESITIEF

el FIVE-YEAR

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BEENTEZ2RaTEEZEHEN FINANCIAL
following bands is as follows: T SUMMARY
RERHHE

Number of employees
==
2017 2016

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,000,001/ 7L % 1,500,000/ 7T 2 -
1,500,001/8 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T 1
2,000,001/ 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T -
2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T -

W =N

During the year ended 31 December 2016, ordinary
shares of the Company were issued at discount to three
non-director, highest paid employees in respect of their
services under the Employee Subscription Agreement (as
defined in Note 30), further details of which are set out in
Note 30 to the financial statements. During the year ended
31 December 2016, the share-based payment expenses
relating to the shares issued to non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees at discount were
approximately RMB3,183,000 in aggregate.

HZE2016F 128318 ILFE - 1BIF
BEREWHZ (E&RLMFE30) - &
AR =RIEEE R FHES
izt 2 R AT R B R F 81T
LBk - B BER SRR
5F30° R & E2016F128318 1
FE BEUANEEBRTTERTR
IEEITBABZZRHFNEE 2
AR AR AR (D AE R X
AH4 A ANRE3,183,0007T °
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2017412 H431H

10. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2016: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group

10. FRi5%

FRAERNAKRERNEBLBELT
A ERBAE - AL BB ENE
BIE LB (20165 « M%) o HAlith
TRRERRBRNBRAREERBEME
AERERMRITHEGE -

operates.
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Current — Mainland China ANER — R E A

Charge for the year FATH 103,021 106,937

Overprovision in BT FEEERE
prior years (2,614) (4,409)
Deferred (Note 27) BIE (ffit27) (2,049) (2,040)
Total tax charge for the year FATIALT H 98,358 100,488

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before income tax at the statutory rates for
the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rates, is as follows:

VAZS 2 ) e BR BB 47 B 8 2 B s M
RIAREE BATE M RIZBR TS DA
FE/ (B FENBRBERX
(%) ERBERRRFEZHE
Pz HBRINT -

2017 20175

Hong Kong  Mainland China Total
BB ER &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEHAIAE /(B58) (2,940) 413,170 410,230
Tax at the statutory tax rates RETREHE 2R (485) 103,293 102,808
Profit not subject to tax due to concessions” RFVAB R IR HFE - (4,310) (4,310)
Loss attributable to an associate [ NGl = - 4 4
Expenses not deductible for tax RAMHZREY - 10,094 10,094
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods A ERFEDERR B - (2,614) (2,614)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods HRBTEENHESE - (10,302) (10,302)
Tax losses not recognised KR HEBE 485 6,462 6,947

Tax losses of previous periods recognised TEERRNBISEE
in the current year HEFE - (4,269) (4,269)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ARERERHEGE 2 BERX - 98,358 98,358

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR



10. Income Tax (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2017412 H31H

10. FrEH (&)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2016 2016 BARARER
Hong Kong ~ Mainland China Total
&k e R at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFTT ANREFTT ARETTT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREERAIAE /(BR) (3,028) 401,487 398,459
Tax at the statutory tax rates BrER R E 2R (500) 100,372 99,872 NOTES TO
Profit not subject to tax due to concessions” AFAER IR HOFE - (4,912) (4,912) FINANCIAL
Expenses not deductible for tax TR A=E - 5336 5,336 STATEMEN'I:S
Adjustments in respect of current tax A B REERE AR RS
of previous periods - (4,409) (4,409)
Tax losses utiised from previous periods PEBTEROTREEE - (1,833) (1,833)
Tax losses not recognised FEAZHIBER 500 5,934 6,434
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate REERERTEAE L HIERY - 100,488 100,488

*k

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration
of Taxation of the PRC during the year ended 31 December

* IR EE SRS AR B R B 22013
FI2A31HIFFREELEHE B

2013, the Company and most of its subsidiaries registered 2013F1A1A 8 » AR A RAR ;WENYCEQFE
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands are regarded as BEREBHEBR HEi M ag A # SUMMARY
Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and 7K1 8 2 E] iR AEE 75 B R RS RERKHE

the relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. Two of the
Group’s subsidiaries are operating in a specific development
zone in Mainland China, and the relevant tax authorities have
granted these two subsidiaries a preferential CIT rate of 15%.

11. Dividends

(B [FRERLE])  MAEF
Yo 3 kel T )
FERI B

R BB ER% - R FEEIK25%
BB E AL R EH ([T
FFH ) o A5 EE bRy 5 b e 2 A
TIR P B A 15 E R AEE - 1
BB E R T MENTE 2 Flz
ERLEEHHFR15% °

1. BE

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Interim — RMB0.071 PH — BRRE B
(2016: RMBO0.025) AR¥0.0717T
per ordinary share (20164 : AR®0.0257T) 83,394 29,364
Proposed final - RMB0.061 BEAH - gREER
(2016: RMBO0.100) AR¥0.0617T
per ordinary share (20164 : AER¥0.1007T) 71,648 117,456
155,042 146,820
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the RNEERZRPREBHFRIERR
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming RBEFRE LERQFRELE -

annual general meeting.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

12. Earnings per Share Attributable to Ordinary

Equity Holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB310,511,000 (2016:
RMB294,071,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,174,560,000 (2016: 1,052,357,000) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

12.

RRARAEBRRAEEE AR
HERER

EREABANOSBIIREATE
MARRIERIBEBRAIFTE AEN
A A A R #310,511,0007T (2016
F A R #294,071,0000T) &
FREBETEBERMMETFY
#01,174,560,0000% (20164 :
1,052,357,000/%) st EBH -

BREESANSEDNREARAE
BT B ARG ZFEN B
HEH - REFER &Rz E@EMN
RIS ESRELRER
ZFADHTEBREE - ARF
BETEEHMEEHTEBRAE
BARREEETZEBBRNEF
g -

BREANBEERFGETIER

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary equity et EBIRER AT
holders of the Company, used in the i N/NCI RS G
basic earnings per share calculation BHAE AEEFE 310,511 294,071

Number of shares

BREE
2017 2016
’000 ‘000
TR FhR
Shares 4l
Weighted average number of ordinary Rt EgREARZEF|
shares in issue during the year used ZEFEABBITEBRR
in the basic earnings per share IS5
calculation 1,174,560 1,052,357
Effect of dilution — weighted average HE B — LR
number of ordinary shares: InREFEaE
Share options BB AR - 247
1,174,560 1,052,604

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR



13. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2017

2017412 H31H

13. ¥ - MERRE

PR SRR MY

Electronic
equipment,
Leasehold  Machinery office
improve- and equipment Construction
Buildings ments  equipment  Vehicles and fixtures in progress Total
EFRfA
BE WAZ
BT  NERE BERRE BRI RBREE  REIR fif
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
31 December 2017 2017%12531R
At 31 December 2016 and R2016F12A318 )
1 January 2017: 01751818
Cost A 1,048,727 16,923 3,620,197 50,480 156,087 624,704 5517118
Accumulated depreciation ZiERE
and impairment (155125 (14,180) (1,190,734)  (38527) (101,039 - (1,500,505)
Net carrying amount REFE 893,602 2,743 2,429,463 11,953 54,148 624,704 4,016,613
At 1 January 2017, net of Ro017$1R18 -
accumulated depreciation MBE5HE
and impairment KAE 893,602 2,743 2,429,463 11,953 54,148 624,704 4,016,613
Additions NE 13 - 25310 79 2,263 689,246 7
Disposals e 2.291) (199)  (7256) (334) 3) - (10123
Consolidation of subsidiaries &G HEAH
(Note 33) (H33) 51,220 - 425 409 20 184,011 236,085
Depreciation provided REFRTERE
during the year (38,006) (889)  (201607) (5167  (17906) - (263570)
Transfers upon completion THREEA 385,882 - 22972 6,764 19721 (642,099) -
At 31 December 2017, netof ~ R20175128318
accumulated depreciation MBEGHTE
and impairment KRE 1,290,520 1,660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016
At 31 December 2017: RO017E12A318 -
Cost R 1,496,014 13,093 3,842,093 54,239 172,626 855,868 6,433,933
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELHE
and impairment (05494)  (11,433) (1,366032)  (40535)  (114,429) - (1,737917)
Net carrying amount RR3E 1,290,520 1,660 2,476,061 13,704 58,203 855,868 4,696,016

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BB ERME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt F5 S R M

31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

13. W% - BERRKRHE (&)

Electronic
equipment,
Leasehold ~ Machinery office
improve- and equipment  Construction
Buildings ments  equipment Vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
HE VNS
BF WERE HERRE  EHIE REREKE TEIE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR AREBTR ARETR
31 December 2016 20165127318
At 31 December 2015 and R2015E12A318 R
1 January 2016: 01651A18
Cost A 1,002,848 18981 3,522,029 47981 144,108 369,159 5,105,106
Accumulated depreciation ZHIERAE
and impaiment (120341)  (14121) (1005917)  (34022)  (84682) o (1,259,083)
Net carrying amount REFE 882,507 480 2516112 13,959 59,426 369,159 3,846,023
At 1 January 2016, net of #201651A18 -
accumulated depreciation MREsHE
and impairment KAE 882,507 4860 2,516,112 13,959 59,426 369,159 3,846,023
Additions NE 1,953 651 2,995 4,097 4708 431,209 445213
Disposals e - (2,709) (1,861) (142) (1139) - (5851)
Depreciation provided REFENERR
during the year (34,785) (59)  (204,643) (7,431) (21,854) - (268,772)
Transfers upon completion THEEA 44,327 - 116,860 1,470 13007 (175,664) -
At 31 December 2016, netof 20165128318
accumulated depreciation MGEsHTE
and impairment KAE 893,602 2,743 2,429,463 11,953 54,148 624,704 4,016,613
At 31 December 2016: 120165124318 :
Cost B 1,048,727 16,923 3,620,197 50,480 156,087 624,704 5517,118
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELHE
and impairment (155,125) (14,180)  (1,190,734) (38,527)  (101,939) - (1500505)
Net carrying amount RR3E 893,602 2,743 2,429,463 11,953 54,148 624,704 4,016,613

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2017412 H31H

14. Prepaid Land Lease Payments 14. B L HHAERK CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2017 2016 BARSRER
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January M A1REREE 284,656 264,537
Additions INE 2,840 26,847
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WEEMTB A=) (A13£33) 36,251 -
Recognised during the year RERNER (7,660) (6,728)
Carrying amount at 31 December MW12A31HEREE 316,087 284,656 T
Current portion included FFATERR - ek FINANCIAL
in prepayments, deposits and Ho{th & W R EY STATEMENTS
other receivables (Note 21) BNERS B (HtiF21) (7,752) (6,818) BRI
Non-current portion FERNERER 10 308,335 277,838
15. Goodwill 15. B8
RMB’000
AR%T T
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and 7201641518 » 2016124318 & L
1 January 2017: 2017F1A18 : SUMMARY
Cost R 214,951 LERBHE
Accumulated impairment 2FHRE (7,000)
Net carrying amount AREVHE 207,951
Cost, net of accumulated impairment A - HIBR 25HRE
at 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 #20167F181H ~ 20165F12831H
and 1 January 2017 &201751A1R 207,951
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) Ui B B~ /) (H77233) 27,832
Exchange realignment [E 3 3% (1,810)
Cost and net carrying amount at R2017F12A31H Z KA
31 December 2017 N ERHEHE 233,973
At 31 December 2017: 20174124318 :
Cost DN 240,973
Accumulated impairment ZETRIAE (7,000)
Net carrying amount BRMEFE 233,973
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

CONSOLIDATED 15. Goodwill (continued) 15. B2 (&)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations in
the amounts of RMB57,305,000, RMB155,836,000 and
RMB27,832,000 is allocated to the tinplate packaging
cash-generating unit, plastic packaging cash-generating
unit and aluminium packaging cash-generating unit,
respectively.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

e Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

e  Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

e Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

BmEREAR
EREBRAHRESTEAARE
57,305,0007T + AR#155,836,000
7T M A R #27,832,0007T #) B &
SRS REFEOHOKRSELAS
- -BBREEREELBMNRLIRE
RIS EABN -

BREBSWBNREE SRR
AT IR & E 4 B A ETRER
= e

SREBRREELEM

BRERASELEM

EBRREELEN

HEO#HERATELEN

FIVE-YEAR .

FINANCIAL The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging SO#BEReESEAKE

%UEME’?%F;E}H cash-generating unit was determined based on a value SHEDOBRBERAEBEENEETE &
~ =

228

in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 14.8% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 16.6% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

FTRERSREEEIEN R FH
PHBEENRSREEA - BAR
REMEFRBAELIE X B14.8% -
MR AFHBENRE R RETES
2% R EMET - THEBEITERN
RHFERE -5 -

PRORKHE e ELE N
BReERFESEFLEUNITKE S
BORBEABEAEEE - HE
BERSREIEE LR T B8
BEENRESRETEA - BARIE
S mETEAAALIE X R16.6%
RAFHHEENRESRENFER2%
R R R - DEAETENR
R ER—5 -



15. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Aluminium packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the aluminium packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 17.0% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the tinplate packaging and plastic packaging
cash-generating units as at 31 December 2017. The
following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined
budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its
expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
cash-generating units.

Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the
forecast price indices during the budget year for Mainland
China from where the raw materials are sourced.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to
the reduction in the expected growth rates of certain
subsidiaries of Victoria Industrial Group which are
principally engaged in plastic packaging, the directors
of the Company considered that an impairment loss of
RMB7,000,000 was recognised for the related goodwill with
a carrying amount of RMB97,892,000.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬁ%iﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂ“ﬁ

2017412 H31H

15. & (&)

BERERR (F)

IR R T EL B

P RReELESUMAT KB ERE
DIRBEREBEHEETE - EEA
EREREEEM AN TR
EEMReRETEN - @ANRKRS
METERAEIREAE17.0% R
hFHEENRESRE ER2%H
BREREE  DEBRITENREH
PR RE L o

HEENEAORLBBEERSE
HBERIA2017F 12 A31HHIERE
ERFRARR U TNHEIEEER
HEITEERENARAEANSE
FEReRETABERRL -

REEF* - ERERBBERR
REmSERNEHEEREER

BB E — FTERBRLIR R BB AT K
REREEERSELBEUABNE
E R

B HEER — BIFEERM#
EBRABEKRENEESTEAM (R
MEERIE ) M TRE F R a TR RIE
BRI -

H E2015F12A31B It F & &
REBTEEER (FBHEBEH
) ZETHBAR ZEPEER
WL ARBREERAFREEAA
R#97,892,000 2 EEEmEL ##
IR AR7,000,0007T 2 B E E

B
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

16. Other Intangible Assets

16. HAthBLEE

Customer Patents Computer
relationship and licences  software Total
EFEBE%E BARST EREHG &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR%Tx

31 December 2017 20175128318
Cost at 1 January 2017, netof 20171 A 18 ZBAN -

accumulated amortisation N Rty 1,540 22,724 8,454 32,718
Additions NG - - 3,040 3,040
Amortisation provided FAE RS

during the year - (2,715) (1,638) (4,353)
Disposal RE - - (45) (45)
At 31 December 2017 2017812 A31H 1,540 20,009 9,811 31,360
At 31 December 2017: 2017128318

Cost %N 1,540 36,562 23,504 61,606

Accumulated amortisation R i - (16,553) (13,693) (30,246)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 20,009 9,811 31,360
31 December 2016 20165128318
At 1 January 2016: 20161 A18 ¢

Cost BAR 1,540 36,562 20,345 58,447

Accumulated amortisation B i - (10,378) (10,551) (20,929)

Net carrying amount RHEHEE 1,540 26,184 9,794 37,518
Cost at 1 January 2016, netof ~ #201651 A1H 2 AN -

accumulated amortisation MR Rt A 1,540 26,184 9,794 37,518
Additions NE - - 174 174
Amortisation provided FREEEE

during the year - (3,460) (1,514) (4,974)
At 31 December 2016 R2016612A31H 1,540 22,724 8,454 32,718
At 31 December 2016 and 72016124318 &

at 1 January 2017: 20171 /18 :

Cost BRAR 1,540 36,562 20,519 58,621

Accumulated amortisation 2 - (13,838) (12,065) (25,903)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 22,724 8,454 32,718

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2017412 H31H

17. R—REELENRE

17. Investment in a Joint Venture

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2017 BARSRER
RMB’000
ARBT T
Share of net assets DIEFEE 797,898
Goodwill on acquisition KRR EE 1,167
799,065
Particulars of the Group’s material joint venture are as AEEFESEDENFBENOT : R
follows: FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BBBRHE
Percentage of
THIRERMER DL
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit
Name and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
Bl
£ 3 et RERE  EERE  IEEHR
Qingyuan JDB Herbal PRC/Mainland China 30.58 30.58 (note)  Research, development, production,
Plant Technology Co., Ltd. * (H77#)  processing and sale of non-alcoholic FIVE-YEAR
(“Qingyuan JDB Herbal") beverages Emméb
BEMSEEAENRE HE/ HER PR RE - 4E  NIREEFERHRE BENBHE

ERRE! ((FENSEEL))

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

Note:

On 30 October 2017, CPMC Investment, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital increase
agreement with Wisdom Kingdom Limited, Wong Lo Kat Limited
("Wong Lo Kat”) and Qingyuan JDB Herbal, pursuant to which,
among others, CPMC Investment agreed to make a capital
contribution of RMBZ2,000,000,000 to in exchange for 30.58%
equity interest therein, whilst Wong Lo Kat will inject the JDB
Trademarks to Qingyuan JDB Herbal in exchange for 45.87%
equity interest therein.

According to the capital increase agreement, CPMC Investment
was ensured with a dividend not less than 10% of the actual
amount of capital increase injected in Qingyuan JDB Herbal in the
first year, and the distributed divided shall increase year by year
with a maximum amount of 20% of the actual amount of the then
capital increase contributed by CPMC Investment (“Committed
Dividend”). The rate of the Committed Dividend cannot be reduced
after increased. The rate of increase of the Committed Dividend
will be generally contributable to the business and profitability
of Qingyuan JDB Herbal in the upcoming years and determined
annually.

On 20 December 2017, the Group obtained 30.58%
equity interest in Qingyuan JDB Herbal and capital of total
RMB799,065,000 was injected up to 31 December 2017.
The operating performance information for the year ended
31 December 2017 of Qingyuan JDB Herbal disclosed
below is full year operating results.

* o WARHBER KB FESEL
Ik BB E TS T 2 B AT 89 5 — [
KB LR EFE

BEt

R2017F10H30H + AL a]fEi#2 EH
BRAFIECORKELEEFRL A
FEZBERIA([FEZFRA)) RE
RNZEERTUEE S Ut (B
FE1E) PR EGEEANRK
2,000,000,0007T * # i #F 530.58 % £
Ri7  TEZNEIEEBERNZEE
?Aﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁ% T B 45.87 % 777
]/]‘ °

RIFEE 3% BRFECORRKEER
HIRETIERE —FERENZEELE
BRI &2 BHA10% @ P2 AR B A EF
B RERESFREEKREENE
BT EBRIEE5ER20% ([R#HKE])
At R DI TE KSR T REFE (R o Aoty
BB B IE PG R — AR B K BB AR
VIES S NIE RNy
& WEHFETE -

R2017F12H208 © K &£ & B &
BERMNZE B AR30.58%E @ =
2017F 12 A31B T E WALz AR
#799,065,0007C ° LA N EE A E
BN EEAREHE2017F12A31H

i -
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2017412 H431H

CONSOLIDATED 17. Investment in a Joint Venture (continued) 17. A—REELENRE (F)
STATEMENT OF
Efﬁ;;ﬂvvgsi The Group’s shareholding in Qingyuan JDB Herbal is held REERBEMZEERNRET)
MRS ILE sy
i ‘ through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. FBBRERA R éfﬁﬁ% NCIESYSIE
Qingyuan JDB Herbal, which is considered a material joint BEMZEER (R AFEEZ
venture of the Group, is accounted for using the equity FTESERE) NERARREANRK -
method.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINFREEBEEMEERER 2
e information in respect of Qingyuan JDB Herbal adjusted for HBEMBME (KREMEETHEE
FINANCIAL any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to EELFE) REFFKRKRKREE
%T)_Ig;;g;:gs the carrying amount in the financial statements: ZHER
2017
RMB’000
ARBTF T
Cash He 9,217
Other current assets HibmeEE 2,109,114
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill FERBEE (TEERE) 659,711
FIVE-YEAR Goodwill on acquisition of the joint venture W& & ERNEE 1,167
v Current liabilities RBEE (394,517)
nEHKHE Non-current liabilities ERSHERE (50,181)
Net assets FEE 2,334,511
Net assets, excluding goodwill FEE (TEERE) 2,333,344
Reconciliation to the Group’s investment in AEEBREEEMNRELHRE -
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group's ownership AREEH P B R L 30.58%
Group's share of net assets of the joint venture, AEERGEELENFEE
excluding goodwill (TBEEE) 797,898
Goodwill on acquisition W BRI P2 1,167
Carrying amount of the investment KEREREE 799,065
Revenue WA 480,138
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year — FEFE N2 AERE 44,001
18. Investment in an Associate 18. R—XBtE R RINRE
2017
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Share of net assets EIEFEE 24,984
The entrusted loan to the associate is disclosed in BT —HKBME R ZEZXERNH
note 38(b) to the financial statements. EREKRMITEI8(b) W E -
232 CPMC Holdings Limited dr#g 6 $1%f5 AR A &)




Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2017412 H31H

18. Investment in an Associate (continued) 18. R—RBE QA ANRE (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Particulars of the Group's associate that is not individually NEEEIEE RIS B AR E QA CASHFLOWS

. N GABERER
material: B

Percentage of

Place of ownership
incorporation/ interest
registration attributable to
Name and business the Group Principal activity
FEEEN NOTES TO
R s FINANCIAL
, Eﬂﬂﬁzi/ P EE%ﬁ B STATEMENTS
=g BRREEME Bl EEXK B REME
Liaoning Zhong'an PRC/Mainland China 25 Manufacture of metal packaging
Can-making Co., Ltd
BERZEEGRADA] HE B HETEEE
The Group’s shareholding in the associate is held through a REBENEE RRNRED BB
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. REMEEWBARFEE -
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTEEEEPLHBERA Fﬁ'&’gﬁcﬁﬁ
information in respect of Liaoning Zhong'an Can-making AU BERBE (KREmEs SUMMARY
Co., Ltd adjusted for any differences in accounting policies BOREZEELAR) REMKRE REMBRE
and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial BRME{E CHER -
statements:
2017
RMB’000
AR%T T
Cash and cash equivalents WENIRESEEBY 52
Other current assets Hibme&EE 94,676
Current assets MBNEE 94,728
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill IERBEE (T"REEE) 53,456
Current liabilities BB E (73,249)
Net assets FEE 74,935
Reconciliation to the Group’s investment REBREE R BIRNTRELR
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership RNEES AR 25%
Carrying amount of the investment KEMREE 25,000
Revenue L'UN -
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FEEBEREEBIEEE (65)
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- A
CONSOLDATED 19. Inventories 19. 7 &
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER 2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Raw materials R # 561,570 384,257
Work in progress paat U 191,579 122,849
Finished goods X 332,378 265,294
Consumables FEM 63,363 55,686
1,148,890 828,086
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
SIAENENTS 20. Trade and Bills Receivables 20. EZBERARRERRE
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Trade and bills receivables from KEE=FEFH
third-party customers E 5 UG W % 1,520,496 1,548,534
Trade and bills receivables from R B REEE T R B 5 IE MR
E:\A/IE\J(EC\RL related parties (Note 38(b)) REWERE (#1i138(b)) 111,618 119,308
SUMMARY 1,632,114 1,667,842
BFMHHE Impairment RIE (1,321) (1,679)
1,630,793 1,666,163

234

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally 30 to 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

TEBGHRTEFEER  EHEP
ANEZBETEEAHR - EEE—M B30
180K - BEREFPHBEHE=EE
o AEESREBEFEKREE
EWBRRR - RN EEEHEEE
BEREEERE - 2o REEABED
TR EAIE - AEBIT K
MEE 5 EW KA T A A
MEEMEERE - E 5 RN
TEFE ©

REBEBEALTZEZRERTIZ
ARAEEEZEFREHNEBUEE
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20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 20. EZRUMARERRE (&) CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF
B3R 45 HR R 40 R 5 M M CASH FLOWS

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables pAESEEE
juN=} P JLE

as at the end of the reporting period, based on the BERBEZRH - WHKREENRE
invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows: DT
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3EAA 1,364,878 1,164,795
3 to 12 months 3Z12f8A 263,837 500,792 NOTES T0
FINANCIAL
110 2 years 1226 1,949 257 STATEMENTS
Over 2 years 2F LA E 129 319 M HEME
1,630,793 1,666,163

B2 MG RREREES T

The movements in provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 FIVE-YEAR

AR®T R AREFIT FINANCIAL

SUMMARY

At 1 January ®1A1H 1,679 1,575 REHKHE

Impairment losses BEwR,(BE) ZRE

recognised/(reversed) (Note 6) &8 (hit6) (14) 1,280
Amount written off as uncollectible sy rT Y Bl 2 & %8 (344) (1,176)
At 31 December W12H31H 1,321 1,679

LB SERFREREF B
FE¥ ARH1,321,0007T (20164F ¢
AR¥1,679,0007T) AR ERMEEZ
SR 2 BE HEBEFIERDE
A AREE1,321,0007T (20164 = A
E#1,679,0007T) °

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB1,321,000 (2016: RMB1,679,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB1,321,000 (2016:
RMB1,679,000).

fE Bl 2 BB E 5 I WOk B2 A B 75 R
HeRXFPAR  MoAREERYKE
HABEd ) o

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and the
outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered.
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20. EZBEURERERRE (&)

CONSOLIDATED 20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables
that are not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

AEEB X ARRBRENE 5 E
Wk e R R B A BRI D AT A0 T

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBTT

Neither past due nor impaired K R ARE 1,616,344 1,648,507

L‘&ﬁf&ﬂ Less than 1 month past due BER 11 A 9,162 4,403
STATEMENTS 1to 3 months past due BHE3ME A 1,929 5,204
MR More than 3 months past due HHAFRIE3(E A 3,358 8,049
1,630,793 1,666,163

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
the customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good

R 380 H I AR B B FE Wk B3 B 3P
BRACLHENEFP AR -

B BB R VB IR B 2 FE Wk T B K
SEERMRGTH IAEBIE

FIVE-YEAR o

FINANGIAL track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the FPEB BEBRATKER ARGE

%UEME’?%F;E}H directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision ERE BREHEBEmME ARG
~ =

236

for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

At 31 December 2017, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB1,190,203,000 (2016:
RMB586,361,000). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity
from one to six months at the end of the reporting period. In
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the
PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of
recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors,
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement
in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to
their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the
fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills (2016: Nil). No gains or losses were
recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during
the year or cumulatively.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

EEZUABLEEREY  AZF
BRDARSTEND - B AR
AR AR DR E R

M20175E12A310 » KEFERAAE
THENESFHZRIBITERDN
ATRERRERE ([BUEERER])
LUBERNBREERERTAEBEA
E #1,190,203,0007T (20164 :
AR #586,361,0007T) K E 5 Rt
e NMEHK BUBERZED
EIHAHEBR N —ZERAA - IREFEF
BRI WZEPRBTELD
BEMREBREAEASANEBEER
BRE((BEFR])  -EERE
AEBEBIEEREENE KX
HoRMR B RER - Al - HB
BUHERIUHEREE RABE S
RO E2HERE - AEERF
BYRBCHEREERABOZE
BHREREENRBRRSREM
EXNESBERRESRERT
B-EFRE AEEHESRER
HEREZENAFELTTEK -

HE2017F12A31BILFE » K%
B EAERFEERRE 2 B#E
R ZE (20164 : #) - AEE
WERSESRERFANNRFTR
& o
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21. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 21. AR - REREMEWRR

CONSOLIDATED
Receivables STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
SEBERER
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTFT
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers R FE=ZFHER
2B 139,391 107,756
Deposits e 14,677 8,820
Input VAT recoverable AT IE] 2 TR IR (E R 201,911 113,831 Frmﬁm
Prepaid expenses B EA 13,281 16,086 STATEMENTS
Other receivables H i pE U R 44,693 45,566 BHERRMEE
Amounts due from related parties FEURBEE A 5RIR
(Note 38(b)) (H7:£38(b)) 11,796 10,339
Entrusted loan to an associate B —REZ QR
(Note 38(b)) ZREER (B15238(b)) 54,000 -
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 14)  Faft+sniB &z (#f714) 7,752 6,818
487,501 309,216
Impairment BIE (3,905) (3,994) FIVE-YEAR
483,596 305,222 FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Non-current assets FRBEE nEEHE
Prepaid expenses TEFX 15,730 12,701
Prepayment for acquisition of WiE—KMIE A A8
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary SRR RS 2 TR 3R 10,739 -
26,469 12,701

R2017412 831 H AL E IR EFE
AR #10,739,0007T * Jh A8
A HE R RN KA
(WBEE) (HASLEHEAF.3% M

The Group’s non-current prepayment of RMB10,739,000
as at 31 December 2017 is a prepayment in relation to
the proposed acquisition of 8.7% equity interest in FC
Packaging (Harbin), a 91.3% owned subsidiary, from its

non-controlling shareholder.

CPMC Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Harbin Industrial Investment Group Co., Ltd,
the non-controlling interest shareholder of FC Packaging
(Harbin), entered into a transfer and subscription of shares
agreement in respect of the aforesaid 8.7% equity interest
in FC Packaging (Harbin) subsequently on 22 January
2018.

BRAE) 8.7%MiE AR o

AARIZEMBRARPRERBEILE
HXEREE (MEBE) ZIEmpER
BEEREIXREEBAEREMT
N Al BE 1% A20184F1 A22H it Lt
KEBR (BHEE) 8.7%RER
R LR RO B
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CONSOLIDATED 21. Prepayments, Deposits and Other 21. A - e HMWEKT

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

Receivables (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of
prepayments and other receivables are as follows:

(&)

T SR R A R M SR B R B R B
mF -

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

At 1 January M1A1H 3,994 850

LIII:ITAENSJEL Impairment losses reversed (Note 6) BEEIREREE (Kit6) (91) 3,144
STATEMENTS Amount written off as uncollectible Wi TR 2 & 58 2 -
ABRRME At 31 December M12A31H 3,905 3,994

Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2017 was an interest-
bearing entrusted loan to an associate of RMB54,000,000.
The entrusted loan is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of
4.35% per annum and is payable within one year.

AEFBEMNRBIER2017F12 531
HEZe REMEWER - 6T —
ML QRN BEEAEERARE
54,000,0007T ° ZEE A &K T
BREF KL% E - WAR—F
XA e

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL

5ﬁ“¥¥%§;ﬁ Included in the above provision for impairment of LA = 78 1=F 3 B L 8 s 5k o Ok (B 1%
i =
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prepayments and other receivables is a provision for
individually impaired prepayments and other receivables
of RMB3,905,000 (2016: RMB3,994,000) with a carrying
amount before provision of RMB3,905,000 (2016:
RMB3,994,000).

The individually impaired prepayments and other receivables
relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and the
outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered.

Except for the above impaired other receivables, the
remaining prepayments, deposits and other receivables
that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers
for whom there was no recent history of default.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

& B & A R #3,905,0007T (2016
F: AR#3,994,0007T) WERE
BB TE AT 5K N E A YGR B B
B RTIREE A AR 3,905,0007T
(20164 : AR%3,994,0007T) °

118 31 2 8k 18 T8 58 350 % L A 8 Wik 2
BAMBRENEFEBLRKRER
FE YK IBEA A AT A o

B DA BLRE H RS - BR T
W ARBIFORENTEN K - RE R
H fth 8 U R BT B R 4 R R ER ) B
FHE -
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22, Cash and Cash Equivalents and Pledged 2. ReRRELEBEYRCER
Deposits LEE
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTHERR 440,818 223,269
Deposits in COFCO Finance NGEE LY R E SN
(Note 38(b)) (H17#38(b)) 270,361 774,814
Time deposits TE BT 72,411 74,421
783,590 1,072,504
Less: N
Pledged time deposits for letters of credit  {EAER DKM T HFER (21,252) (54,046)
Pledged time deposits for ANESE L olmE i
bills payable (Note 23) EHER (K15223) (51,159) (20,375)
(72,411) (74,421)
Cash and cash equivalents RWENRESEEY 711,179 998,083

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB529,516,000 (2016:
RMB1,011,398,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

All the above deposits in COFCO Finance have a short
maturity of less than three months and a determinable
return when acquired. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, these deposits in COFCO Finance are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

RFEPR  AEEBUAARKE
MREBESEEYWRBEBT
;A A R #529,516,0007T (2016
4 AR¥1,011,398,0007T) ° A
REAATERLRARHEMERE - A
m - AR % A B P9t B9 S DE B 2R {551
M#EE - EERMETEERT - &
SETERERBNLEINEESY
RITHARE R ABHEME -

RITMSIRE BRITHF A R HRER
FEHNE c REBEAREHREF K
Z=tE - EEE SE TR A
—BHE=ERTF DRILRAEMZ
75 HATE B 17 M) R BRER B, - dRTT
BB ER TR TR EER
RAER BEBR I ZIRTT ©

VAL FTE A H I8 B 15 10 37 SR B HA IR
B (PR=EA) ARBAKE
AREMER - AABEERE
ZERTRIM B FR ARSI
fERMBENRES AEEZD AR
TR e
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23. ESENRRENRE

CONSOLIDATED 23. Trade and Bills Payables

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

RBEHR REZBHFENE
SN R RENZEHNERE DTN
T

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETIT

Within 3 months 3MEAR 786,661 660,360

NOTES T0 3 to 12 months 3E12{E A 453,309 228,869
FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS 11to 2 years 1526 3,582 3,228

PG R R Over 2 years 2F LA 5,487 3,309

1,249,039 895,766

Included in the trade and bills payables are trade payables
of RMB466,000(2016: RMB141,000) due to COFCO
(Hong Kong) and its subsidiaries, and of RMB44,515,000
due to ORG Packaging and its subsidiaries (2016:
RMB66,006,000), which are repayable within 90 days,

BZEMNRREMNERIEREMST
RBEBSRENBARMNE ZENMNK
A R #466,0007T (2016F : A R
¥141,00070) MER Big € B
FEMBATNEZENRARE

FIVE-YEAR , ) o —

FINANCIAL which represents credit terms similar to those offered by 44,515,0007C (20165 : A R ¥

Sﬁuyyﬁl\%iﬁ;a that fellow subsidiary to its major customers (Note 38(b)). 66,006,0007T) * 7% & 3 TH A 190
i =

240

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s bills payable
were secured by the Group’s bank deposits amounting to
RMB51,159,000 (2016: RMB20,375,000)(Note 22).

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days.

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

HAEE SBZRRMEBARST
HFrBZRPZEEGRFMAMU (M
38(b)) °

R20178F12A31H » KEBHET
N EEUAEBNIRITFERA L
A R #51,159,0007T (20164 = A
R #20,375,0007T) E# # (K 7%
22)

BORNAMENREL TGS
EHRERAET H30E0A -
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24. Other Payables and Accruals 24, Hib R R BT IR E CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
2017 2016 BARSRER
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Advances from customers BE#R 56,241 60,920
Salary and welfare payables ENTERER 86,332 85,551
Accrued expenses EETE A 53,805 44,951
Guarantee deposits from suppliers HEHRES 16,708 13,184
Payables for purchases of equipment PREE R I~ 7kl 79,978 37,568
Amounts due to related parties FEREE A TFIB Frl'r?;ﬁgll\?
(Note 38(b)) (K7:£38(b)) 611 593 STATEMENTS
Tax payables other than current income & HpT S A E I BHERRMEE
tax liabilities FEfTEIR 41,473 53,102
Considerations payable WEHB ARz
for acquisition of subsidiaries ERE 56,741 3,091
Others HAith 11,453 11,229
403,342 310,189
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and E AR ESTIE B M AE R
o FIVE-YEAR
have an average term of three months. FHFHR=MEA - FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
25. Derivative Financial Instruments 25. fTESMIA EEHREE
The Group has entered into various commodity futures AEEBEEYZHEEHAEMEH
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from ARERBEEEBBREPREES
the fixed unit price of aluminium to certain of the Group’s T &P SH T A M B A A 2
customers conducted in the normal course of business. WmSEERR ZFEAF®
These commodity futures contracts are measured at fair BHERFEGARBE FATAE
value through profit or loss. Net fair value loss on derivative CRITEMFAFEEEARE
financial instruments of RMB1,497,000 (2016: Net fair value 1,497,0007T (20164 : FAFEUW
gain of RMB2,133,000) was recognised in cost of sales in @ ARK2133,00070) EER AR
the statement of profit or loss during the year (Note 6). mERMEERAT (KisEe) o

Annual Report 2017 20174 4F & 241




CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE

242

Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%iﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%f 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

26. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings 26. ST EMRITER
2017 2016
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRFE(%) HE  ARBTRT EBENE(%) HE ARBTL
Current L
Bank loans - unsecured RITEH - EEF  1.60-2.25 2018 961,297  2.02-2.12 2017 1,318,030
Non-current JEPH
Bank loans - unsecured RTER - EEF 207222 20192020 2,286,970  2.02-2.14 2019 1,109,920
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Analysed into: AT
Bank loans repayable: FER T B EE R TER -
Within one year F—FNR 961,297 1,318,030
In the second year E_F 1,372,182 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEFERF
PREEEMS 914,788 1,109,920
3,248,267 2,427,950

All bank borrowings are denominated in United States dollars and
Hong Kong dollars.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR

BT B RTT I8 2 A ST R8Tt E
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27. Deferred Tax 27. IEHERLH CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRAEEHEEERBENESH N Z&f;giogg
juN=} 3Z /)1,
the year are as follows: N
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE
2017
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax NOTES TO
eati ati FINANCIAL
amortisation  of property, amlortlsatllon i
of land plantand  of intangible BEHENE
use rights equipment assets Total

1HERE X BE
IR ke  BREEZ
BEE  MERERE  MERARH L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARET:R

At 1 January 2017 R201751A18 2,117 5,791 5,688 13,596
Acquisition of subsidiaries e NG| 2,598 2,991 - 5,589 FIVE-YEAR
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated RAFEGABERNA Emm%
statement of profit or loss during the year ERERA (i 10) RENHHE
(Note 10) (75) (653) (679) (1,407)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 2017412 A318E)
31 December 2017 BELHABE 4,640 8,129 5,009 17,778
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
Losses
available for
Provision for Provision for  off sefting
Provision for impairment of impairment against
impairment prepayments Provision for ~of property, future
oftrade  andother write-down  plant and taxable
receivables receivables of inventories  equipment profits Others Total
% TREE
RARR BER  PREH

ESENE HtENER  FERE Hfie ARE
HERE  AERRE BE  RERGE  RENE A @t
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETn ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARETR AR%T:n
At January 2017 Ro017E1818 25 %0 08 159 5130 12007 21,089
Deferred tax credited/{charged) to the PMEERARERA
consolidated statement of profitor loss A /(1)

during the year (Note 10) EsE (Witn) (68) 23) (261) - 4,269 (3,275) 642
Gross deferred tax asses at R017F12R31E4)
31 December 2017 BELTRAE 157 057 47 1539 9,399 9,632 21,731
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27. Deferred Tax (continued)

27. EERIH (&)

Deferred tax liabilities ELERESE
2016
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax
amortisation of property, amortisation
of land plantand  of intangible
use rights equipment assets Total
THERE  0E FR
35 ke BVEEZ
BEE  MERERE  MERERH st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AEETT AEETT ARBTR
At 1 January 2016 1201661 F1H 2,152 6,322 6,953 15,027
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated WREELZABERAGTA
statement of profit or loss during the year ERHIE (H5E10)
(Note 10) (35) (631) (865) (1,431)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 201651243184
31 December 2016 BELREAE 217 5791 5,688 13,59
Deferred tax assets BELEREEE
Provision for Provision for Losses
Provision for  impairment of Provision ~ impairment  avallable for
impairment of  prepayments forwrite- ~ of property, off setting
trade and other down of plantand  against future
receivables  receivables inventories equipment taxable profits Others Total
R GERT iR
LRI EBEER RERE REz  BREBRR
HERR HERRE B AERE  ERRIE At 5t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETn ABBTr  ARETn ARETR ARETRT ARETR
At 1 January 2016 R01651A 1A 123 167 m 1539 - 17,872 20,480
Deferred tax credited)(charged) REEREABREER
0 the consolidated statement HA/(R)
of profitor loss during the year EREVE (iit10)
(Note 10) 102 813 (4m) - 5130 (4,965) 609
Gross deferred tax assets at R2016E1283184)
31 December 2016 BELHELE 225 90 308 1539 5130 12,907 21,089

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig & & B R AR



27.

28.

Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB24,995,000 (2016: RMB62,617,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 December 2017, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2016: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has no liability to
additional tax should such amounts be remitted due to the
availability of double taxation relief.

27.
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ELERBEEE (&)
AEEBEFEREEREEEA
R 24 995,0007T (20164 : AR
¥62,617,0007T) * BR—ERFRN
[Ew - AR SE R R AR T FH o
HREEEBEREE R —BRFHEE
BEENHEAR - BTRAEEH
BEHG FERRBLFE A A K S P B A 9
RIBEE - AR REEIEE
HEE °

M2017E12 8318 » shAEE KB
NAElZ RELBFEE 2 EANBIIE
me AR ITEHESEEHRER
AhZERAELE  AEETE
BMINZFIBRE WA EE LR
RELEFHEBE (20164 : &) o

Share Capital 28. A
Shares gy
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFIT
Issued and fully paid: EEITRARE
1,174,560,000 (2016: 1,174,560,000) 1,174,560,000/% & A%
ordinary shares (20164 :
1,174,560,000/% ) 2,730,433 2,730,433
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28. Share Capital (Continued)

28. R (48)

Shares (Continued) KRG (&)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RRAGIRAZ EBHENT -
is as follows:
Number of
shares inissue  Share capital
ERTROHE [N
RMB’000
AR%F T
At 1 January 2016, 20161 A1H 997,560,000 2,336,168
New share subscription and FTIRRES BT T
issuance (Note a) (Kiata) 177,000,000 394,265
At 31 December 2016, M2016512H4318 -
1 January 2017 2017F1 A1 R
and 31 December 2017 2017512 A31H 1,174,560,000 2,730,433
Note: Hist -

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company
issued 177,000,000 shares to certain directors of
the Company, certain directors or supervisors of the
Company’s subsidiaries and other employees of the
Group at a subscription price of HK$2.6 per share, for
a total consideration of HK$460,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB395,602,000) before issue expenses.
Further details of the transactions are set out in Note 30 to
the financial statements.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in
Note 29 to the financial statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT

(a) B ZFE2016F12H318 1F F & - K
RAFRETEE ARGHBL
AlCETFTEFRERERLERHA
1t 1€ B #77177,000,0000% B% 17
R EBER2 68T - HE 7T
B35 1.2 48 1€ B /5460,200,000,%
T (102 R4 A B #395,602,000
L) ° X528 —HFIEHRYHE
HFHEME30 °

B
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29. Share Option Scheme

On 23 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purposes of attracting,
retaining and motivating directors and eligible participants,
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and encouraging them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible
participants include, but are not limited to, any directors
(excluding independent non-executive directors), officers
and employees of the Group, or any other person the
board of directors may propose. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16
November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of two to six years and ends on a date which
is not later than seven years from the date of offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.
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29. R AESTE

2009510 A23H » AR FIREHR
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R E A AL o %5721 8 20094F
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A ETRD Z&EEH B EERAE
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BRI ZERE - PRHZBE
PR S SRR R AR L
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BRI IERNITE EHE o I
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31 December 2017
20179 12A31H

29. Share Option Scheme (continued) 29. R fESTE (&)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BREZITEREBHESRE BT
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the BERHARLHEREZBERAF
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on & 0 FE Bk 32 P 2 W (B ¢ (i) B %
the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock L HBAAER S B ARRQFRNE
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the B2 P PWTRE ¢ R(ii) & in 2
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; HE (UEaERLE) -
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRETYEE THE ARREER
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. BRRRRASIRE 2R o
On 12 October 2011, a total of 8,300,000 share options MR20119F10A 128 » 4 48,300,000
were granted to certain directors of the Company and other MEERE (2011 ERE]) ER
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the FTARAAETESERAEB MR
Group in the forthcoming years (the “2011 Options”). B UERFREABRASERE
#EERD -
The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the LATZEt 8N 220115 B IR i A R
Scheme during the year: FREREARITE
2017 2016
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
hnEFG BRE TS R
TEE ¢ 1B A
HK$ HK$
per share 000  pershare ‘000
BR Bk
BT 4 BT T
At 1 January M1A1H 3.04 1,560 3.04 3,120
Forfeited during the year AN E 452 I 3.04 (1,560) 3.04 (1,560)
At 31 December 128318 3.04 - 3.04 1,560

For the year ended 31 December 2017, no share option
was exercised (2016: Nil).

CPMC Holdings Limited fig kB R AR

HZ2017F12A31BILFE - W
R EETTE (20164F « ) o



29. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of the 2011 Options was HK$8,126,514, of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB812,000 during the year ended 31 December 2017
(2016: RMB1,110,000).

The vesting period, exercise price and exercise period of
the 2011 Options outstanding as at 31 December 2017 are
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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29. BT E (&)

01ME B R #E 2 A FEB
8,126,514 7L - EFAKEEREZE
2017912 A31 A I F [ rEREE A 4
F X A R #812,0007T (20164 :
AR¥1,110,0007T) °

MR2017F12H318 i & 17 {£2011
FHEBRE2GBE  1TEENRITE
B -
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Number of options granted
RitlzBREHA
Former Exercise price

Directors  Director Employees Total Vesting period
£ AES & i BES

per share Exercise period
BRITEE 7EH

000 000 ‘000 000 (dd-mm-yyyy) HKS  (dd-mm-yyyy)
T T T T (B-A-%) Brn (A-A-%)
150 180 1230 1560 121001110 1102017 304 12-10-2017 to 11-10-2018 FIVE-YEAR
2011107 126 22017104 1A 201710/ 126 22018F 10/ 1A hoives
EETE

The fair value of the 2011 Options was estimated as at the
date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

2011 FHEREZ AFEDRETRR
HFA B R G TEEE
BHBIRE 2 RN G - TR
TNETE A 2 MR A g A B

2011 Options

2011 B
Dividend yield (%) AR B (%) 235
Expected volatility (%) TE AR 08 (%) 38.48
Historical volatility (%) SRR (%) 38.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 45 R B F 2R (%) 1.12
Expected life of options (year) TEERRE AR A A R (5F) 3.00-7.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) e RE (FRET) 3.04

The expected life of the options is determined with
reference to the vesting term and original contractual term
of the Scheme and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
share options outstanding under the Scheme.

B 2 BRBERM 2 EZETE
ZEBIEFRRA KGR MERE
AY T —ERRATAES A 21T R
2 o TEHDIM 08 [ R FE S2OR IR R R OR
KBEZBE > MET—ERER

+
# °

Rt EAFERBENADRER
B EMETR -

REEMF - AQRAEREITEL
78 4 R AT B AR o
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30. RBRBITRGD

CONSOLIDATED 30. Subscription and Issuance of Shares
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On 22 May 2016, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with the
subscribers pursuant to which the subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of
92,000,000 ordinary shares (“Subscription Shares”) at the
subscription price of HK$2.6 per share for an aggregate
cash consideration of HK$239,200,000. The subscribers
include directors of the Company, and directors or
supervisors of the Company’s subsidiaries. On 24 May
2016, the Company entered into the Employee Subscription
Agreements with 192 employees of the Group (the
“Employee Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Employee
Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe, and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
an aggregate of 85,000,000 shares of the Company
(“Employee Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price
of HK$2.6 per share for an aggregate cash consideration
of HK$221,000,000. For all the Subscription Shares and

20165228 » A QAR
AT RERZE ([ REBZED - &
I REBEABGKGEERE  mA
AREBEEREZRER268 T2
R B AL K #4174 $£92,000,000
EEik((RERMD]  BHeR
{8 42 %8 /5239,200,0005 7T - R
ABREARBDEERARQAN B
RNAIZEFHNESE - R20165F5H
248 » A A B KK E1924 &
B([RERBADIILEERE
W Bt BEERBABGKER
ERE MARRBRGERERS
ffoeB s REERLBERETES
85,000,000 A& 2 &) B 7 ([18
ERBERM]) ReNREBEBESR
221,000,000/ 7T ° AT A R B
NEkEERBROMSE © &%%50%
2B BT BB 1218 A K

FIVE-YEAR N N .,
FINANCIAL Employee Subscription Shares, up to 50% of the shares oE - mMEMBROHBREITAHRE
%Ughﬂa’\f%%ﬁ will be released from the lock-up period of 12 months after 1816 H bR 285 o

i N2
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the issuance date, and up to 100% of the shares will be
released from the lock-up period of 18 months after the
issuance date.

On 9 September 2016, the Company completed the
Subscription and Employee Subscription Agreements,
pursuant to which an aggregate of 92,000,000 Subscription
Shares and an aggregate of 85,000,000 Employee
Subscription Shares were issued at the subscription
price of HK$2.6 per share, for a total consideration
of HK$460,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB395,602,000).

Given the Subscription Shares and the Employees
Subscription Shares were issued at a discount to the then
market price of the Company’s shares for the purpose
to provide incentives and rewards to the Company’s
directors and other employees of the Group, the
difference between the total fair value of these shares
and the total consideration received by the Group
price of HK$21,682,500 (equivalent to approximately
RMB18,780,000) is accounted for as share-based
payment expenses by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2016 (Note 6).

The fair values of these shares were valued by an external
valuer, taking into account the liquidity of these shares
as a result of the aforesaid lock-up periods, and liquidity
discounts were applied to measure their fair value.

CPMC Holdings Limited figm &k B IR AT

MR20164F9A9H » AR Al B MK
RELREERERSE Bl 46
92,000,000 R & & 10 & &
85,000,000/ & E R D = T
COBTHMRBERT BREA
460,200,000/ 7T (FHERH AR
395,602,0007T) °

ENRERO REERBRMDEAR
AREIROERMEZITEERT
NRAARREERAEEEMES
RSB RER  MExERDHZE
AP EERNEBWEZ BREER
2 R Z 621,682,500/ 7T (A&
R# AR #18,780,0007T) RE =
2016F 12 A1 A L FEEFTALRE
ELAR G BERI R (H:E6) -
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31. Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of financial
statements.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent: 1) the difference between
the total consideration of the shares issued and the
issued share capital; 2) additional contribution made by
the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries; 3) in the
case of an acquisition of an additional equity interest in
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired and; 4) in case of a settlement of a shareholder’s
loans, the difference between the carrying amount of loans
and the consideration.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are
required to make appropriations to a certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations from
prior years and before profit distribution to equity holders.
The percentage to be appropriated to such statutory
reserve funds is determined according to the relevant
regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.
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BEXREE

BARRBHERER  NEBTRHAR
BREBRITHRAZEZR  2)ARH
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EXWmE  EXEREREEZE
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32. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material

Non-Controlling Interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests are set out below:

32. AREAFERER 2B

BEEHELQE

BB BT S 2 AN 5 BB

REHFHINAT -

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Percentage of equity interest held by FE1E AR i R FT R AR
L‘I(:ITAENSJEL non-controlling interests: Bk
STATEMENTS Company A AAEIA 38.52% 38.52%
p S e Company B* ~AB* 49.00% -
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Profit for the year allocated to DELE IR
non-controlling interests: FEAHE :
FIVE-YEAR Company A NAEA 1,728 3,049
FINANCIAL Company B* A R]B* (1,274) -
SUMMARY
HEGSHE Accumulated balances of non-controlling  JE#ERRHEZS R B HREY
interests at the reporting dates: S
Company A ~NAA 107,395 105,667
Company B* ~alB* 193,553 -

* REIBIIHIAEE D LN E L A
1E B 2 18 B R2017H3 A 37 4T
fE o

* Company B was newly acquired by CPMC Investment, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, in March 2017.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬁ%%ﬁ%fﬁﬁi

2017412 H31H

32. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material 32. EEERFERERZIH D
Non-Controlling Interests (continued) BEWEB AR (&)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TR A8 LA b B A | HY B R & R
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts WME - B ERRETMARFIRE
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: HIHR S5

Company A Company B

AFA AFB
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARMT T
2017 2017

Revenue WA 429,925 -
Total expenses sz 4858 (425,439) (2,600)
Profit /(loss) for the year FEME (EE) 4,486 (2,600)

Total comprehensive income FE2ERKA (EE)

[(loss)for the year ek 4,486 (2,600)
Current assets MENEE 222,222 93,358
Non-current assets EMENEE 209,563 314,277
Current liabilities mEBE (109,997) (9,787)
Non-current liabilities BB E - (2,839)
Net cash flows (used in)/from RESEE) (ER),/EE

operating activities 2B REFA (576) 55,328
Net cash flows from/(used in) WEESEL (EH)

investing activities ZBRemEFHE 7,400 (152,677)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEEHEALAZRERE

ERE - 132,718
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2% RIR& S EYILINEEE 6,824 35,369
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Company A

AAA

RMB’000

AREFT

2016 2016

Revenue A 400,043
Total expenses Fs 42 %8 (8392,127)
Profit for the year FEFE 7,916
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EWAERE 7,916
Current assets MENEE 190,676
Non-current assets IEMBEE 239,798
Current liabilities MENEE (113,171)
Non-current liabilities EMBEME (89,974)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEHEEZRenEFE 15,501
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEEFER RS REFHE (12,228)
Net cash flows from financing activities REESEE RS REFE -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents e MRS EEYEINFE 3,273
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33. Business Combinations

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2017

On 15 March 2017, CPMC Investment, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
equity transfer agreement with Harvest Epoch International
Limited (“Harvest Epoch”) and Harvest Epoch Packaging
(Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.* (“Epoch Packaging”), pursuant
to which CPMC Investment has conditionally agreed
to purchase 51% equity interests in Epoch Packaging
from Harvest Epoch at a total cash consideration of
RMB138,108,000. After the completion of the acquisition,
the Group held 51% equity interests in Epoch Packaging,
which is engaged in the business of the manufacture of
metal packaging.

On 27 March 2017, CPMC Investment entered into an
equity transfer agreement with two citizens of the PRC, both
being independent third parties (the “Vendors”), pursuant
to which CPMC Investment has agreed to purchase 100%
equity interests in Chengdu CPMC Can-making Co., Ltd.
(“Chengdu Can-making”) from the Vendors at a total cash
consideration of RMB74,966,000. After the completion of
the acquisition, the Group held 100% equity interests in
Chengdu Can-making, which is engaged in the business of
manufacture of metal packaging.

The Group had elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Epoch Packaging at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of Epoch Packaging’s identifiable net
assets.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

33. ¥%E6t

HE2017F12A31B L EE 2 #7§
&0t

MR201743A15H - RleBERE
(RRRAMEEE2EWNBAR) B
BEBEARAR ([4£858]) MTa
BREFRAR ([LEeE]) 512
PEEEE R B PREeER
BEBKRUERBENGESREBARE
138,108,000t B &2 B W IE L B B
HAS1 %A AN RS - RIEA 2RI
Big NEEBBLBBEES1%E
W AN ERES B ER -

MR201743727H - AleBERE
HWAEFEAR ((BEH] YAEB
NEZRH)FIREEERS &
I FREEREERENARSR
B AR 74,966,000t B & H I
BRESEREBR A A (A
BIEE]) M100%M AN % - R EK
ERUEER  AREFE KR E
100% B At - BB ESBR
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33. Business Combinations (continued)
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33. ¥ &6t (#)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December BE2017F12A31B L FE 2 £
2017 (continued) a6t (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of wEBEZABNEEREGBERI
Epoch Packaging as at the date of acquisition were as BEEBEAMZATEAT
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
FA U B B
BRAZATLE
RMB’000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment E N YN L] 132,241
Prepaid land lease payments TER AR E 23,752
Deposits for purchase of items of property, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment RBIEA MRS 26,886
Prepayments, deposits, and other receivables TARR -~ e RE MR 13,414
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEBY 71,513
Trade and bills payables B I RENFRENEE (222)
Other payables and accruals Hib RN R ERIER (190)
Tax payable JEETIE (12)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEBE (2,882)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAHEFAE 2 AR
FEREMETE 264,500
Non-controlling interests JEPRAR RS (129,605)
Goodwill on acquisition g g2 3,213
Satisfied by cash* B &H AR 138,108
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33. ¥ 46t (#)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December BIE2017F12A31B L FE 2 £
2017 (continued) a6t (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of BREPEITE 2 PRI B E R B BRI

CONSOLIDATED 33. Business Combinations (continued)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

Chengdu Can-making as at the date of acquisition were as BEEAMZAFEAT
follows:
Fair value
recognised
NOTES TO on acquisition
s s
IR A BR2ZAFE
RMB’000
AR%F T
Property, plant and equipment L E N 103,844
Prepaid land lease payments TER TR E 12,499
Deposits for purchase of items of property, BEME  BER

plant and equipment RBIEE MRS 46,536
Prepayments, deposits, and other receivables TR - 1=e READ UG 3,538
FIVE-YEAR Cash and cash equivalents Re RESHFED 15,462
gmmg& Trade and bills payables E ZRENFRENEE (1,171)
REBKBHE Other payables and accruals Eo A TR fEET IR B (127,654)
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE (2,707)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATHETE 2 AT ER
FEERRR 50,347
Goodwill on acquisition W R 2 24,619
Satisfied by cash* R & R AR 74,966

256

* A cash consideration of RMB159,424,000 out of the total
cash consideration of RMB213,074,000 for the above
acquisitions (the “Acquisitions”) was paid by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2017, and the remaining
consideration of RMB53,650,000 was included in the Group’s
other payables and accruals as at 31 December 2017.

None of the goodwill recognised from the Acquisitions is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair value of the prepayments, deposits and other
receivables as at each of the date of the Acquisitions
amounted to RMB16,952,000. The gross contractual
amounts of prepayments, deposits and other receivables
were RMB16,952,000, of which none of the prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are expected to be
uncollectible.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB520,000
for the Acquisitions. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT

LU EFEE ([KEFE]) A
B H1BEAKEK213,074,0007T #
ZHE 2B ARE159,424,0007C
EREFE20175F 128318 1 F &
BAEEZL T T THEALR
#53,650,0007T B 5 A &K & B R
20171231 H 89 H b J& 17 5 &
JEZFIER °

BHEKRBERER 2 HEHTA
FEEINFTSH -

AR R hEMRBREIRE
WEZBAHPZAFEEARE
16,952,000C > B K- & &
HEWF 2 BENEBEAEBARE
16,952,0007C © EHFEMN K - &S
R H A FE UK TEER R A R ] o

AEEBRARBEEEERIRAEA
R ¥520,0007C ° ZEXSHAE
FEEIHALBBRERANZITR
X e



33. Business Combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬁ

2017412 H31H

33. ¥ &6t (#)

BZE2017F12A31 AL FE ¥

2017 (continued) a6t (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisitions FHRKRBEENRSRES TN
is as follows: ™
RMB’000
AR®T R
Cash consideration RERE 159,424
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EBARSMREEED 86,975
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents PREREEHEEZRESREN
included in cash flows from investing activities B hBSEERLFE 72,449
Transaction costs of the Acquisitions PRELEEHEECRSREN
included in cash flows from operating activities WEEER S (520)
71,929

Since the Acquisitions, Epoch Packaging and Chengdu
Can-making have contributed RMB16,394,000 to the
Group’s revenue but incurred a loss of RMB2,445,000 for

the year ended 31 December 2017.

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning of the
period, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017 would have been no material

BB EBEIR  £B8% K&K
#H RS R E 22017128318
FTFERAAEETRKRAARE
16,394,000 B E A E B AR K
2,445,0007T °

iWa PFREIFET - BIREEHE
2017F12A31H IEFE 2 WA KT
BT EEAER -

difference.
34. Note to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 3. ZERESREXRHT
Flows
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) RETBELEZEEEH
activities

Bank borrowings

RATIERK

RMB’000

AR%T T

At 1 January 2017 201761 H1H 2,427,950
Changes from financing cash flows MmERERECE 994,992
Foreign exchange movement HNPE 5B (174,675)
Interest expense FEFZ (43,839)
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows AR LR LR MNFE 43,839
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12H31H 3,248,267
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%} 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

35. Pledge of Assets 35.

Details of the Group’s letters of credit and bills payable,
which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included
in Notes 22 and 23, respectively, to the financial statements.

36. Operating Lease Arrangements 36.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, factories
and warehouses under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for office properties, factories and warehouses are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

BEHREE

AEBEZEZRABELREMNER (UK
EEEEERR) 2B AIER
B R R M 22 1% 23 -

RERERH

ERFEBAA
AEEREEEHERHEARET
WMAEMER BMERER - BZEM
REYE BEREEHEMN T —
ZRhEF o

AREBEMN2017FE12A31BIRE T
MBS TAIREGEEEERAY
Nz AREEBRE@EWT :

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETIT
Within one year —F R 4,624 9,051

In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FFERF
(PEEEMTF) 185 7,430
4,809 16,481

37. Commitments 37. &E
Capital commitments BARE®

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in Note 36 above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

% b SOH EE365E it 2 48 TR E AR
5N IR HIR A R B A AR
mF -

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Contracted, but not provided for: BRADFTOEREHER

property, plant and equipment Y~ BB KRB 361,417 384,562

capital contribution payable to B —REEPHES
a joint venture BARHE 1,200,935 -
1,562,352 384,562

At the end of the reporting period, save as detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group did not
have any significant commitments (2016: Nil).

CPMC Holdings Limited g3 HIR AR

RMEPER  BRZSHBRERP
SRt ESN - AEEIT AR ERTAE
KA (20164 #) -



Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2017 Eﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ
20174128310
38. Related Party Transactions 38. BEFRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) FREZFW IS E M 75 Fr e
these financial statements, the Group had the following 2RI REBRE RN
material transactions with related parties during the year: BEATHETEARSUOT ¢
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
20174 20164
12A31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iota ARET T ARETF T
Transactions with COFCO: BEFRERA S ¢
Rental expense HeFx (i) 1,442 1,501
Purchase of IT software BB BB
and IT facilities K& MEHR R (v) - 375
Transactions with related BERERNRINR S
companies™:
Sale of products HEEM (i) 31,818 13,294
Transactions with COFCO EREIEHNRS
Finance:
Interest income (Note 5) FBUWA (B1:E5) (i) 4,183 7,360
Transactions with COFCO BANAEBRE
(Hong Kong), a substantial g (58 &
shareholder of the Company, EM B AR (58
and its subsidiaries [Fig (%)
(collectively the “COFCO £EH]) RS :
Hong Kong Group”):
Sale of products HEEM (i) 271,648 132,253
Rental expense AEMX (i) 2,037 2,116
Transactions with ORG EARRNAREERRE
Packaging, a substantial BIremER
shareholder of the Company, EME AR (57
and its subsidiaries [RIneBEEE])
(collectively the “ORG MRS
Packaging Group”):
Sale of products HEEM (i) 199,816 130,994
Purchase of products BEEM (iv) 179,311 107,624
Transactions with =l N
the associate M5 :
of the Group:
Interest income (Note 5) BN (B15£5) (vi) 780 -

*

influence of COFCO.

Related companies are companies under significant

© WEARSEEEEAYE
HAF

]

°
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R BT RE

31 December 2017
20179 12A31H

38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(@

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The sales were made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The rental expenses were determined with reference to
the prevailing market rental.

The interest income arising from the deposits to
COFCO Finance was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China with same terms and conditions.

The considerations were determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices
charged to third parties.

The transactions were carried out in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.

The interest income arising from the entrusted loan
to an associate was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB interest rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China with same terms and conditions.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig kB R AR

38. BELXRZ (&)
(@) FRAFHBMRE AT PE

2RI NEERERNERE

BEATETERRZOT

(&)

Hiat

(i) BEHETREETIZER
RIERTAERTEEF,A
R PFTAETT

(i) BzHXI2ZHTHERE

(ifi) L B KB A8
WA T3 5 BN B4R 77T
BB 7T A BB 7 30 F) &
RIGIRNRA R AR T -

(v) RIEGZEBEHETTIE"BEE
R[5 5 =TT R B TR EETE

(v) BEXZTRESRETT
TR E IR RANFITETT -

(vi) BFBERAZLERESE

ZFEMA TR A BN K
RTTHRM AT TN BT
BIFE R LN ETE °



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eji%*&%lzﬁﬂ

2017124318
38. Related Party Transactions (continued) 3. MEFRF (&)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EEEE AT ZREMKRFERE !

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

20175 20164
128318 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARETTT

Trade and bills receivables
(Note 20):
Related companies™
The COFCO Hong Kong Group
The ORG Packaging Group

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (Note 21):
The COFCO Hong Kong Group

Trade payables (Note 23):
The COFCO Hong Kong Group
The ORG Packaging Group

Other payables and accruals
(Note 24):
The COFCO Hong Kong Group
The ORG Packaging Group

Deposits placed (Note 22):

B RYGKR (Bfa220) -

BN B 18,378 7,567
g (B78) £F 32,967 21,354
BiteeEEE 60,273 90,387

AN B REM
FEUGR (B1at21)
g (B7%8) £F 11,796 10,339

B oM (B1it23)
g (B7%8) £F 466 141
BireeEEE 44,515 66,006

HABREf R fEAH IR B

(Hizt24) :
g (B7%8) £F 547 593
BireeEEE 64 _

TFREmn (Hizz2) :

COFCO Finance R 270,361 774,814
Entrusted loan (Note 21): EAER (Witet1)

Associate i lNE] 54,000 -

*  Related companies are companies under significant Y BERARAEEATE
influence of COFCO. B A] e

Except for the deposits placed to COFCO Finance BR A7 IR 2 B TS 1Y 17 RO BT
which are interest-bearing and repayable on demand, BEIW/ARERER NG THE
and an entrusted loan to an associate which is REZZTER BT BN AR
interested-bearing and repayable within one year, the —FAEEIN  HAEHRTE
other balances are unsecured, interest-free and have B T ERBTEBETER
no fixed terms of repayment. By o
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬂi‘%iﬁi’%ﬁﬁf 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(c)

(d)

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively, “State-owned Enterprises”).
During the year, the Group enters into extensive
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates
with State-owned Enterprises, other than the COFCO
Group, on terms comparable to those with other
non-state-owned entities.

The directors consider that transactions with other
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of its business, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

38. BELXRZ (&)
(c) REARAERCHNXER

BREE
AEEELNKERRETFHE
ERZ/TEBMBEERS
R MEREEGEASE
BEIEEEEREFNEE
(mEEARE] -FR - XK
SHEREEENIINBEE DR
FETRERS T2 MK
BHOSE  GREEMIFEE
EEZHERZOEFEE -

E=RA BEBBEALERZ
RHR 5 REREEBKBIER
HEITHRE - AAKERAP L
A A B A A AR SR Y
BAEMENEZWLE X B E
ERTEFE AKEEDTE
EmMRE N EERR - M&
FHRAFIORREFRE R
BAELE KAFEELEHW
BRAER  ARREFERR
ZERGBTERAZIT TN
BENBETRS °

(d) *EEFTEEBASNHE

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

20175 2016%F

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AREFT

Short term employee benefits 5 HE B &R 7,395 6,043

Post-employment benefits BEBL 12 BT 429 355

Share-based payment expenses LARR 1 B R - 7,639
Total compensation paid to key TNFEBERAEN

management personnel s 7,824 14,037

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2017412 H31H

39. Financial Instruments by Category 39. RERESHNEMIA CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial Zem T AENNREHRMER Z;ff;gigg
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BT A
follows:
SREE

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

EXRRERRE
2017 2016 NOTES TO
ARET T ARBTFT RN
Trade and bills receivables B S REBGR R ER RS 1,630,793 1,666,163
Financial assets included in FFATERR - EE R
prepayments, deposits and H UK & B & &=
other receivables 124,401 63,955
Pledged deposits e LS 72,411 74,421
Cash and cash equivalents Re NIBESEEY 711,179 998,083
2,538,784 2,802,622
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
) S - SUMMARY
Financial liabilities £ =R TEHRRE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERATEZSREE
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Trade and bills payables B Z AR RENERE 1,249,039 895,766
Financial liabilities included FFAE MR
in other payables and accruals JEFTIHEMSRIAE 219,294 163,718
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER 3,248,267 2,427,950
4,716,600 3,487,434

Annual Report 2017 20174 F[E & 203




CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

GARERER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
nERBHE

264

Notes to Financial Statements
Eﬁ%iﬁ?& Bﬁ.%I 31 December 2017

2017412 H431H

40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

40. TR TANAFERAFE
E&

AEEEREEZREMEREAF
B (RBRHENAFENKEER
SN 2T

Carrying amounts Fair values
BRMEE DNEE
2016 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR¥TRT ARETT
Financial liabilities TRAaR
Interest-bearing bank sHERITER
borrowings 3,248,267 2,427,950 3,248,267 2,427,950

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of interest-bearing bank borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2017 was assessed to
be insignificant.

CPMC Holdings Limited g a8 BR AT

TREENAFENZERRST
HEBERNRS GFREsERHhE)
TRGZTANESEAR - AT
A RBRRBIEMGEFTAFE

STERITEROAFEETEBRT A
BRIEARGN  EERREHT
AERE N T B8R R EE IR FE HA
KRB REFTEBL - R2017F
12A318 ' AEBEXF K BIRTT
BRELHRRETHEATERK -



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi

2017412 H31H

40. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 40. ERM T AN AFERAFE CONSOLIDATED
Financial Instruments (continued) E& (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FERERER
Fair value hierarchy AFEER i -
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAFEESHRITANATE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: FTEER
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EHENFENEE -
As at 31 December 2017 R2017F12A831H

NOTES TO
Fair value measurement using ST;IT’:E:\VINEL;\:#IS-
ERAUTRBETAVENE B REME
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERTE  EXTEE EATIEER
HRE WARE WAHE

(%) (F=8) (B=#) ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 FIVE-YEAR
ARETR AR®TR AR¥TR AR%Tx gm’m&
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HERITIER - - 3,248,267 3,248,267 HEGGHE
As at 31 December 2016 MA20165F12H31H

Fair value measurement using
ERNTREETATENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERTS — EATHRE EATIEE
HHE BARE BARRE
(F—H) (B=H) (B=4) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHERITER - - 2,427,950 2,427,950
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2017412 H431H

41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price
risk, and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of most of the Company’s
subsidiaries is RMB since the majority of the
revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
26), certain of which are denominated in US$ and
HKS$.

As at 31 December 2017, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against US$
with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year for each of the years would have
changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings denominated
in US$ and HK$. Details of the changes are as

M. IEEREEEERBER

35 R B R 3=

AEENESENE E R TR
MRk misER (B¥ENEE
% BRREREFXER)  FER
RERBEZRAR - AERENERE
RgERtERTRERTHHT
A FEAIE - 3 1 SRR AR E PR K
HAKEHHRANBETNEE -

(a) AR

(i) HNEREBR
ARABNZHME R TN
MEEBABEARE BB
ZEWB AR ZKZHK
NIR B B A i 5 275 o
SN RRR B B IR E H)3R
INREBARBERS RE
BRNEEXEE - I
BeMhBELSED (T
22) RiRITER (MIsE26)
(B & ETRBT
FHE) °

201751283318 - fid
FrEEMEERTTE
mARBHEEETIHE
f2E5% BERFERF
BFESEEMSE - T
TEHRRBEURTRE
TAENRe MRS EE
W) K SR AT 5 FR A9 BE IR

follows: wm/ e BB
™
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Profit for the year FEFHE
increase/(decrease) 20 GRid)
- Strengthened by 5% — FHE5% 111,594 88,520
— Weakened by 5% — B2{E5% (111,594) (88,520)

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf &2 ii AR AT
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and M. HEEREEEERBK () CONSOLIDATED
Policies (continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

MBEREE (&)
(a) THER (&)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Price risk (i) EERER
Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw FOEMnEAEENE

(iif)

materials of the Group. The prices for tinplate and
aluminium may be affected by market demand
and supply, domestic government policy and
other economic conditions. In order to maintain

ZRMF - FOHMEAE
RABEX B WIS HE
PR IR 3R A R L A 4 7%
MRATE - REERFEE

a continued production cycle, the Group has a AN EBE  AEBEHE F’I‘I?:IE?:II\?.
policy of maintaining a certain level of tinplate R AR —EKFHE sggggﬁg
and aluminium inventories. The level of the P& E - REED
Group’s tinplate and aluminium inventories will B O#E M HEEDUARF
depend on orders on hand, the prices of tinplate SHETE - iG55 OB A
and aluminium in the market and the perceived BRERUARAERRKZE

future trend of the tinplate and aluminium
prices. To partially minimise the Group’s market
price risk exposure, the Group enters into
commodity futures contracts of aluminium. In

O MR ERE o RBIEAR
SEEHNEHHER
% AEREE iR
BmaK - NMERHER

FIVE-YEAR
selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes B AEE-REESO FINANCIAL
into consideration the price and quality of the HARERREE - ES ﬁ%’%"ﬁ’;f‘%ﬂ

il z=

tinplate and aluminium. The directors believe it
is not necessary for the Group to enter into any
long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group
has not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Interest rate risk

Except for bank deposits with stable
interest rates, the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings. Bank borrowings obtained at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Bank borrowings obtained at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group has not hedged its cash flow
and fair value interest rate risks. The interest rates
and terms of repayments of bank borrowings are
disclosed in Note 26.

(iiif)

B1E - BRE DR K
BRBZARAEBESIK
SEEFNEMBERER
IR EN ERE - B A
SEITHERERESO
AR ER CREMmRER
R RE R 22 AT R A

AR -

HEAR

B ABREF EMR(TTT
F5 7 o B3 A 1
KetpEE- A%LE
TN VEES 33"
FETETBREEBY

g,
=

AREE e M RE R E E K
BERITER - FERITHE
REAREAZBERE
FEER o ESRITER
EAEBAZ A FER X
R - AEEIEHBEE
ERERDFEMNERRER
EITER A o RITER
2= RS SR A Y eE 26 3%

Ego
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CONSOLIDATED 41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and M. BEEREERERBUR ()
STATEMENT OF Policies (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BERERER . L ., "
Financial risk factors (continued) BEBEE (F)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) WHEER (&)
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) F=ERE (8)
Management does not anticipate any significant B R ER 1T 17 3R A1 % 58 A
impact on interest-bearing assets resulting T XREEsE - BEERE
from the changes in interest rates, because the HMARHEHTEHTE
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected BEEEENEARE -
NOTES TO to change significantly.
FINANCIAL
;;gg%’gs As at 31 December 2017, if interest rates on bank MR2017F12H31H i
borrowings had been 25 basis points higher/ FERMEBERIETER
lower with all other variable held constant, the RITERFIE LT
profit for the year for each of the years would 5B AR - RRNEEEME
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower FOH) R BB 48R
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings. L BEFESENEE
Details of the changes are as follows: GRLEEE BEFIEN
T
FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL Group
i, van
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in basis in profit  (decrease)
points after tax in equity*

EHEEM  BRBERE FEZE 3L
S ORA) i, (2 S CRA)
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®Tx

Year ended 31 December AHZ=2017%12831H

2017 HEFE 25 (8,317) -
Year ended 31 December & ZE2016F12H31H
2016 IEFE 25 (3,892) -
Year ended 31 December  EZE2017F12H31H
2017 IEFE (25) 8,317 -
Year ended 31 December & E20165F12H31H
2016 FFE (25) 3,892 -
*  Excluding retained profits T EERFEFE
(b) Credit risk (b) 1EEEE
Except for the sales to the five largest customers of the M Bt 7% 4R 35 B ST 4P it 1Y 1A) 25
Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial statements, EEEAAMNTERERINE
the Group has no significant concentrations of credit Gy REEWESEERE
risk. The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits, BERE - 8 BHRERMAYE
cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables IR ITFER - BehBEE2S
and other receivables included in the consolidated By BHEWZREKEE
financial statements represent the Group’s maximum DA R B b e W sh w BRE E (B A A
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets. EEMEEEAESHEESD

HBRAE SRR o
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and M. HEEREEEERBK () CONSOLIDATED
Policies (continued) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

MBEREE (&)
(b) EEERE (&)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2017, all pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited
with licensed financial institutions without
significant credit risk. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance of these
counterparties.

Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of
customers by taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit

(i)

(if)

RITIFN
M20174F12A8318 © F1
BEEBRITE R
THEBHT AR S g
B REEXNEERR -
EEEWTEHRERZSE
RGEFHNTBLOMER
] E1E -

B 5 fE WK

ERECREEEREMS
AR A EE R ETP
MEERR  AEECH
TE BUR A RE AR BE am [F) L3
EEEELHNEFETTH
& AAKEETEHHHE

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBERME

NN FIVE-YEAR

evaluations of its customers. HPETEEE - FINANCIAL
SUMMARY

hERBHE

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 180 days. The granting
or extension of any credit period must be
approved by senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of products,
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

MARBAREENEE
BEPME  AEBERL
BRTHE THZ B180K
NEEH BTRERT
BN AR AEEDN
BREEELE -

AEBESLHEE R mE
AN AT S EE R
B MFTAIREESE
E2RBERBNELRE
BRESE (WEHEET
BEEREMBHMRANE S
&L 3R B B 1O 20 AT ) T 2

Eo

The carrying amount of trade and other STAMBRAERANE 5
receivables included in the statement of financial JrE W3R K2 A WOk B BR
position represents the Group’s maximum HEAASEEHAER

exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the financial
statements.

MEENRAEERR
EER58 CEMB®mE
RIBLA A UL 2] 2 55 WK
No B At 8 SR A H R S
o
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CONSOLIDATED 41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and M. BEEREERERBUR ()
STATEMENT OF Policies (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BAEEHE
S Financial risk factors (continued) BEBEE (F)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) mHBEDERE

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BHRRME

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings, all the Group’s other financial liabilities will
be settled within one year or on demand based on the
remaining contractual maturity date at the end of the
reporting period and their contractual undiscounted
payment amounts are disclosed in Note 39 to the
financial statements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings as at the end of the reporting period,

EENORDECRREREBRE
MBERANBRSRASFE
Y BRTBERRHNEARKE
ERmERENGFIBAES
NAERETIZERT 28 -

BrIEm BT BERITIE RON - AR
BREHROBTHEEOH
REtHE  AEBHMABMS
BEBR —FRAXIIEERE
B mMBEBAYHRNBNRE
KBS RERMI 390 E -

RIFEHARBBNRE - A%
B ¥R S HIRA SRR B IRTTIE

E:\Kjirjgm based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is HERHE R AT -
SUMMARY as follows:
TFHBHE
6 to less
Less than than 1to5
6 months 12 months years Total
6EAZE
LPHR6EA P28 15E5F ast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARBTRT ARBTRE AR®TR

2017 20175
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 24,646 24,646 2,341,261 2,390,553
2016 20165
Interest-bearing bank FTERITEN
borrowings 10,093 10,093 1,170,688 1,190,874
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41. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, in which the
net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a healthy gearing ratio.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017 Eji%*ﬁi%lzﬁﬁ

2017412 H31H

M. BEEREEEEREE (&)

BEXrER
AEBEAEENTZANARE
AEBEBEASELLE TGS
BENEARLLE  EMXHEER
R RICBREIE »

AEBAELERRES NABE
EZRREE  BEEARBUIE
LR BHERFIGARERLERE
AEEAAZERRELFRENS
B MBREREEAXBITHR
o REEWRZIERMIIIRER
HERS - HE2017F128318 1t
FE - BEEEANBE  BRHEE
Frift e -

HEANEMAR &K ARERE
BEARBELREZREER - ZL X
TR E SRR AR R BRAFA
AEEEEDTE R EFFE
RIEFEBRER S HREFEY -

AEBEZRESBEERBL RS
FRREKF - RBERRZEE
BELERMT

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTFT
Total interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITIE B
(Note 26) (Hfitze) 3,248,267 2,427,950
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERREEEY
(Note 22) (Hit22) (711,179) (998,083)
Net borrowings fER 2,537,088 1,429,867
Equity attributable to equity holders ViN/NEI 7SV N
of the Company FE(E R 4,975,540 4,710,852
Gearing ratio BEEBELE 51% 30%
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2017412 H431H

42, Statement of Financial Position of the

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

42. AR R BAARR T

BRAARBR®RE RPN K

ZEREIAT -

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - = MR E 169 214
Investments in subsidiaries NG EYNEIEE S =) 4,298,186 3,674,900
Prepayments SCARE 3,774 7,721
Total non-current assets BIETBEE 4,302,129 3,682,835
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries PSR B A B TE 1,617,441 1,808,003
Prepayments, deposits and B ek
other receivables HAtb UK 5,893 8,595
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 208,832 11,385
Total current assets BRENEE 1,832,166 1,827,983
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITIER 961,297 1,318,015
Other payables and accruals H bR BT IR E 95,172 86,851
Total current liabilities BREBE 1,056,469 1,404,866
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFH 775,697 423,117
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBAEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,077,826 4,105,952
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTERITER 2,286,970 1,109,935
Total non-current liabilities BIERBEE 2,286,970 1,109,935
Net assets FEE 2,790,856 2,996,017
EQUITY Ex
Share capital A% A 2,730,433 2,730,433
Reserves (Note) s (Ba) 60,423 265,584
Total equity HarEns 2,790,856 2,996,017
Director Director
= EFE
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42. KRB MBRRE (E)

42, Statement of Financial Position of the CONSOLIDATED

Company (continued)

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

Note: Hia -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR EL FEBRLIT -
Share-based Exchange
payment  fluctuation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
REHH NOTES TO
Bxft  ERKD FINANCIAL
e e BEHE w@st STATEMENTS
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 BRI
VirEa ARETRT AR®TR AR%Tn AR¥Tx
As at 1 January 2016 R2016F1A1H 1,922 (26,668) 98,729 73,983
Total comprehensive income for the year S E 2 EUA %8 - 136,468 85,668 222,136
Issue of shares at discount TEBRITRE 30 18,780 - - 18,780
Transfer of share-based payment reserve  EBRRIE R Uik JE i s i 4
upon the forfeiture or expiry of DARRD R S RS
share options (1,110 - 1,110 - FIVE-YEAR
2015 final dividend declared BER015FREBE - - (19,951) (19,951) FINANCIAL
2016 Interim dividend 20165 HIR S 11 - - 29,364 29,364 SUMMARY
FhER ( ) ( ) TS
At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 12016512 331H
%2017%1818 19,592 109,800 136,192 265,584
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FE2ARA/(BE) 85
for the year - (152,565) 148,254 (4,311)
Transfer of share-based payment reserve BRI R sk fE m s 8 A
upon the forfeiture or expiry of Mk BER S G
share options (812) - 812 -
2016 final dividend declared DEE016EREMRE 11 - S (117456)  (117.456)
2017 Interim dividend 2017ERERE 11 - - (83,394) (83,394)
As at 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31H 18,780 (42,765) 84,408 60,423

43. #tEMBRER

£ E@N2018F3H26H #t & K%
RETBE AR G R -

43. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2018.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEHBHME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial ES
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated

TREJAEERNBERBAMBFREZ
BE BENEERERME
HEEMHEAE HHEEZERAE

financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is BHEs WEEHN EHOE (B
as below: A) -
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARBTT
Revenue WA 5,978,238 5,220,999 5,103,718 5,295,417 5,257,482
Cost of sales EERA (5,017,347) (4,266,546) (4,197,823) (4,350,276) (4,314,924)
Gross profit ER 960,891 954,453 905,895 945,141 942,558
Other income and gain RN €
- net — 58 49,633 65,248 70,995 75,980 96,558
Selling and marketing expenses  $4% & 4 44 £ (286,891)  (261,531) (255,852) (238,196) (231,061)
Administrative expenses TRER (269,548)  (303,567) (276,095)  (286,113)  (264,334)
Other expenses Hith37 - - (7,000) - -
Finance costs B 758 A (43,839)  (56,144)  (53,215)  (40,482)  (43,454)
Share of losses of an associate  FE{GHE2 2 A E51E (16) - - -
Profit before income tax BR P18 B A0 78 410,230 398,459 384,728 456,330 500,267
Income tax expense PSR 5 X (98,358)  (100,488)  (99,795)  (109,480)  (108,355)
Profit for the year FEFNHE 311,872 297,971 284,933 346,850 391,912
Attributable to: 1S -
Equity holders of the Company AR RIRAEEA A 310,511 294,071 282,898 345855 386,121
Non-controlling interests FEiE It 1,361 3,900 2,035 995 5,791
311,872 297,971 284,933 346,850 391,912
Assets, liabilities and BEE BEH
non-controlling interests FERER
Total assets BEE 10,250,514 8,506,483 7,843,718 7,618,083 7,133,595
Total liabilities BARE (4,958,422) (3,675,267) (3,519,775) (3,380,442) (3,163,777)
Non-controlling interests EEtl g £ (316,552)  (120,364) (111,664) (100,451)  (99,456)
4,975,540 4,710,852 4,212,279 4,137,140 3,870,362
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